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Amid an environment of constant change, one thing stays the same.  Today, we remain committed 
to the same ideals and objectives that have driven Venture over the last quarter of a century.  
Values ingrained into Venture’s corporate culture include - relentless pursuit of excellence 
and zero compromise on quality; rendering the highest level of total customer satisfaction; 
encouraging every employee to realise their full potential; creativity and innovation, as well as 
cohesion and teamwork.
 
These core values have enabled Venture to keep its sense of purpose and stay true to its 
colours, igniting and flaming the Group’s Passion to Pursue Knowledge, Tenacity to Drive 
Innovation and Courage to Make a Difference.
 
The Group is cognizant that transformation into a knowledge-based enterprise is not merely 
the production of knowledge-intensive goods and services; rather, knowledge must be 
internalised, disseminated and used to translate into benefits throughout the company.  This is 
an ongoing process and has led to a proliferation of knowledge in many key areas which are 
yielding benefits on many fronts.  The pursuit of knowledge never ceases.
 
Just as knowledge is a cornerstone, innovation is a key driver to push boundaries and 
revolutionise how the Group supports the creation, adaptation and adoption of technologies.  
To help innovation to flourish within, the Group spurs the entrepreneurial spirit needed for 
innovative thinking and embraces with openness innovative ideas from all sources.  It has also 
invested in its domain technologies and more selectively in several emerging technologies.  
Innovation will continue to permeate every area of Venture’s business.
 
The Group is cognizant that to be a world-class global provider of technology services, products 
and solutions demands more than just the right infrastructure, knowledge, technological 
prowess and innovation.  At the centre of it all is the courage to step out and go beyond to 
make a real difference.  This will continue to enable Venture to build distinct differentiation and 
sustain its position as a preferred partner of choice.  

KNOWLEDGE INNOVATION DIFFERENTIATION – Our True Colours

KNOWLEDGE INNOVATION DIFFERENTIATION
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OUR TRUE COLOURS



2  Venture Corporation Limited

PASSION 
TO PURSUE

KNOWLEDGE
KNOWLEDGE SPARKS INNOVATION

It was said “A university reproduces the Olympics but in the realm 
of the mind; excellence across the entire span of intellectual 
inquiry just as the Olympics spans all sport. Nobody asks a runner 
or swimmer why they want to be the fastest; it is what they have 
to attempt.”  Similarly, is it needful to ask, “Why the need for 
knowledge?”  Rather, why not?
 
In Venture, the pursuit of knowledge is a cornerstone.  It resonates 
throughout the entire organisation.  It’s a never ending journey. 
Today, knowledge sharing and creation are no longer bound by 
physical limits or time constraints.  In fact, knowledge is often 
produced and shared as a natural by-product of daily activities and 
interactions within the company, with customers, alliance partners, 
vendors/suppliers and even competitors.  In Venture, its people seek 
knowledge wherever it exists and pursue meaningful collaboration to 
create and apply the knowledge.
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Innovation is often described as a deliberate application of information, 
imagination and initiative in deriving greater or different values from 
resources and includes all processes by which new ideas are generated 
and converted into useful products.  Many concede that innovation 
cannot be forced.  However it can be developed.  
 
To create and nurture an environment of innovation, Venture encourages 
every personnel to embrace an innovative spirit - to dare to think out of 
the box and break away from traditional ways of thinking; to explore, 
conceive and tinker; and most importantly to act, to do something, 
to take it from a vision, an idea to a reality.  Innovation, especially 
disruptive innovation, in every aspect of business, is the key to future 
success and sustainability.

TENACITY
TO DRIVE

INNOVATION
INNOVATION AUGMENTS OUR STRENGTH
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COURAGE
TO MAKE A

DIFFERENCE
BUILDING DISTINCT DIFFERENTIATION

It is a widely accepted tenet of success that organisations must 
sustain competitive advantage through differentiation.  Building 
distinct differentiation across all deliverables is more than exceeding 
a customer’s expectation.  It is equally critical to assess the degree 
to which an enterprise is perceived as different from the competition.
 
In its relentless pursuit of excellence, Venture endeavours to truly 
make a difference.  Every employee is empowered to deliver distinct 
differentiation from product, process, technological, to execution, 
service, relationship, experiential and more.  Venture dynamic human 
capital is its leading edge – the force that perpetuate Venture’s 
hallmark of excellence!
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MESSAGE TO
SHAREHOLDERS

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

The Venture Group delivered on its strategic 
commitments to drive operational and 
financial performance and to create value for 
its stakeholders amid challenging and dynamic 
operating conditions during the year.

Various corporate initiatives put in place, 
produced encouraging results.  Venture gained 
or maintained market share among most of 
its key customers.  Most product segments 
registered revenue growth year-on-year.  The 
Test & Measurement/Medical & Life Science/
Others segment recorded the highest revenue 
improvement.  These translated to a 5.8% 
year-on-year improvement in Group’s revenue 
to S$2,465.5 million.  This revenue growth, 
especially against the backdrop of short-term
volatility and uncertainty as a results of 
consolidation activities among some of the 
Group’s customers, is indeed commendable.   

In 2014, the Group continued to drive 
operational excellence, bringing benefits 
to its customers and positively impacting 
its profitability.  For the financial year ended 
31 December 2014, the Group recorded 
profit before tax of S$156.5 million, an 11.8% 
improvement year-on-year.  Profit attributable 
to owners of the Company increased by a 
lower rate of 6.6% to S$139.8 million in FY 
2014.  This was largely due to an increase in 
income tax expense from S$9.0 million in 
FY 2013 to S$16.6 million in FY 2014, as a result 
of various changes in tax incentives granted to 
the Company’s subsidiaries.

“The Venture Group delivered on its strategic commitments to drive 
operational and financial performance and to create value for its 
stakeholders amid challenging and dynamic operating conditions 
during the year.” 
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The Group is committed to improving 
all aspects of its operations including its 
hardware, top-level lines and operational tools 
to better support its customers’ business.  
During the year, the Group also made strategic 
augmentation to its facilities to position itself 
for future opportunities with investments in 
property, plant and equipment totalling S$56.7 
million.

Today, we remain committed to the same 
ideals and objectives that have driven the 
Group over the last quarter of a century.  Values 
ingrained into Venture’s corporate culture 
include - relentless pursuit of excellence and 
zero compromise on quality; rendering the 
highest level of total customer satisfaction; 
encouraging every employee to realise their 
full potential; creativity and innovation, as well 
as cohesion and teamwork.

Driven by these core values, the Group has 
consistently met and, in many cases, exceeded 
the expectations of its customers and business 
partners.  The Group does not believe only 
in the fulfilment of its obligations, but in 
outperforming its commitments to operational 
excellence along the TQRDCE (technology, 
quality, responsiveness, delivery, cost and 
environment) metrics.  These are achievable 
because of the Group’s passion to pursue 
knowledge, tenacity to drive innovation and 
courage to make a difference.
 

PASSION TO PURSUE KNOWLEDGE

The Group is cognizant that transformation into 
a knowledge-based enterprise is not merely the 
production of knowledge-intensive goods and 
services; rather, knowledge must be internalised, 
disseminated and used to translate into benefits 
throughout the company.  It is about sharing 
knowledge across business units and sites so 
that the entire company benefits from the shared 
information, experience and knowledge.  It is 
making it possible for people from various parts 
of the organisation to collaborate and undertake 
transformational and innovative endeavours and 
to create new knowledge.

Today, knowledge sharing and creation are 
no longer bound by physical limits or time 
constraints.  In fact, knowledge is often 
produced and shared as a natural by-product 
of daily activities and interactions within the 
company, with customers, alliance partners, 
vendors/suppliers and even competitors.
In Venture, our people seek knowledge wherever 
it exists and pursue meaningful collaboration 
to create and apply the knowledge.  This is an 
ongoing process and has led to a proliferation of 
knowledge in many key areas which are yielding 
benefits on many fronts.
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MESSAGE TO
SHAREHOLDERS

The Venture Group has amassed considerable 
specialised knowledge and highly skilled 
manufacturing experience in all forms 
of precision placement, attachment and 
alignment of optical micro devices and 
elements.  It is a preferred partner of some of 
the world’s leading fiber-optic companies and 
has been delivering products ranging from basic 
component level chip on carriers and optical 
sub-assemblies to sophisticated integrated 
opto-electronics/photonics sub-systems such 
as optical transponders and amplifiers.  Today, 
these customers work with Venture on their 
advanced 40GB and 100GB products for the 
rapidly expanding data-com/data-centre 
market and the core infrastructure telecom 
market.

With decades of experience in designing 
and manufacturing of complex precision
electro-mechanical printing devices, the 
Group has won many customers and partners 
in the printing and imaging sector.  The Group 
is uniquely positioned to create and develop 
various state-of-the-art printing devices 
including a revolutionary print-on-demand 
digital colour label printer in partnership with 
global leaders in high speed inkjet printing.  

“Today, knowledge sharing and 
creation are no longer bound by 
physical limits or time constraints.  
In fact, knowledge is often 
produced and shared as a natural 
by-product of daily activities and 
interactions within the company, 
with customers, alliance partners, 
vendors/suppliers and even 
competitors. In Venture, our 
people seek knowledge wherever 
it exists and pursue meaningful 
collaboration to create and 
apply the knowledge.  This is an 
ongoing process and has led to 
a proliferation of knowledge in 
many key areas which are yielding 
benefits on many fronts.”
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With in-depth knowhow of printing & imaging 
and decades of experience in designing 
and manufacturing complex precision
electro-mechanical printing devices, Venture 
is leap-frogging to the 3D-printing space to 
create higher value added products in this 
market segment.  A world’s leading 3D-printing 
company has chosen to work with Venture.  
From R&D to manufacturing and supply chain 
management, Venture and its partner are 
making strategic investments to create the 
next generation breakthrough 3D-printing 
products.

Venture is a preferred partner of choice for Tier 
1 OEMs (original equipment manufacturers) 
in the retail, hospitality, financial and
self-service market segments.  Over the years, 
these companies have entrusted Venture with 
the design, manufacturing and fulfilment of 
a full range of point of sales (POS), handheld 
terminals, scanners, automated teller machines, 
self-service kiosks, mobile tablets and 
electronic fund transfer devices.  Venture also 
provides ruggedised devices and solutions for 
application in harsh environmental conditions 
and advanced chipsets technology in data 
processing, imaging and power management.
 

Venture’s med-tech and life science-related 
business goes back many years and in recent 
years, have more than doubled in terms of 
customer base and product diversity.  Working 
in close collaboration with many Tier 1 medical 
and life science OEMs, Venture has been 
instrumental in the development of a broad 
range of medical and life science devices 
for application in acute care, treatment, 
imaging and diagnostics.  Venture has also 
been delivering high-value contents and core 
technology components, including complete 
devices and solution developments to key 
partners in life science.  Venture continues to 
expand into new product categories through 
these partnerships.
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MESSAGE TO
SHAREHOLDERS

TENACITY TO DRIVE INNOVATION

Just as knowledge is a cornerstone, 
innovation is a key driver to push boundaries 
and revolutionise how the Group supports 
the creation, adaptation and adoption of 
technologies.  

To help innovation to flourish within, the 
Group spurs the entrepreneurial spirit needed 
for innovative thinking and embraces with 
openness innovative ideas from all sources. 
It has also invested in its domain technologies 
and more selectively in several emerging 
technologies.

The Group has added substantial technical 
skills and engineering capabilities and was able 
to increase the proportion of high value-added 
activities.  During the year, the Group assisted 
several customers in their NPI (new product 
introduction) programmes and witnessed 
the expansion of engineering support for a 
number of customers. 

From the close collaboration with a top player 
in life science culminating in its customer’s 
launch of the first high-throughput desktop 
genome sequencer in late 2013, Venture went 
on to co-develop a high-quality, innovative 
NGS (next-generation sequencing) library 
preparation system with the same customer.  

This fully integrated instrument, launched by its 
customers at the beginning of 2015, performs 
all library preparation steps and radically 
simplifies preparation of NGS libraries with far 
fewer steps, greater reproducibility and much 
less hands-on time. 

With close to two decades of collaboration 
with a leading laboratory analytical instrument 
and software company, Venture has built 
in-depth product knowledge to support 
the manufacturing of a wide range of liquid 
chromatography instrument modules including 
control modules, column heaters, coolers, 
detectors, sample managers and pumps.  One 
of the products built for a key customer, the 
ultra-performance liquid chromatography, won 
the “SelectScience Reviewers’ Choice Award” 
at the 2015 Pittsburgh Conference on Analytical 
Chemistry and Applied Spectroscopy,
a prestigious recognition by the global 
scientific community.  Through continuous 
cross training and resource development, 
the Group expects to further augment its 
processing, development and manufacturing 
capabilities in this area and to better serve the 
business aspirations of its customers.
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During the year, Venture assisted a new 
customer to launch an all-in-one POS system 
designed as a turnkey solution for merchants 
to take advantage of emerging tablet-based 
POS applications.  Unlike other tablet systems, 
the new system incorporates all common 
retail peripherals into a single, elegant and 
ergonomic form, requiring less counter space 
and lowering the total cost of ownership.  
Venture was also able to incorporate the 
customer’s requirement for secured/firewalled 
interface and features to address the current 
industry compliance standard.  

The Group also helped another customer 
design a vehicle-mount terminal which 
combined the latest high performance 
computing technology into a very compact 
form factor that minimizes driver line-of-sight 
obstruction. Optimised for vehicle installations, 
the multi-modal device is capable of handling 
complex voice-, screen- and scan-intensive 
applications.  The terminal presents critical 
workflow information with improved driver’s 
visibility.

“Just as knowledge is a 
cornerstone, innovation is a key 
driver to push boundaries and 
revolutionise how the Group 
supports the creation, adaptation 
and adoption of technologies.  

To help innovation to flourish 
within, the Group spurs the 
entrepreneurial spirit needed for 
innovative thinking and embraces 
with openness innovative ideas 
from all sources. It has also 
invested in its domain technologies 
and more selectively in several 
emerging technologies.”
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MESSAGE TO
SHAREHOLDERS

In supporting a customer with the manufacturing 
of its most advanced On-Board Unit-ERP 
tag (“OBU”), Venture was able to value add 
specifically to the design of a second automated 
line which improved the manufacturability 
of the OBU significantly.  Key processes 
were thoroughly reviewed and re-designed, 
employing totally innovative ideas and 
concepts.  With the introduction of bold and 
meaningful upgrades, the new state-of-the-art 
automated line, complete with remote access 
manufacturing execution control system, is 3.5 
times faster with a cycle time of 2.3 seconds. 

In all the projects undertaken, Venture has 
leveraged the complementary strengths of its 
engineering and R&D team, drawing expertise 
from its pool of engineers with specialised 
competency in electronics and electrical, 
mechanical, process and system, software 
and hardware, firmware, programme and test 
engineering.  The Group also worked closely 
with its customers and collaborated across 
multiple-discipline to ensure project success.

COURAGE TO MAKE A DIFFERENCE

The Group is cognizant that to be a
world-class global provider of technology 
services, products and solutions demands more 
than just the right infrastructure, technological 

prowess and technical competency.  It has to 
be underpinned by a set of strong core values.  
At Venture, we work as a closely-knit team with 
a shared value system.

Quality is never a question, always a mandate.  
Similarly, total customer satisfaction is a 
given.  The Group’s attention to detail is 
also extraordinary, so is its commitment to 
operational excellence.  These values will 
continue to shape and steer the Group forward.

I am very pleased to note that the Group 
has received countless recognitions and 
acknowledgements from its customers and 
business associates in 2014/15.  At Agilent’s 
2014 Supplier Recognition Summit, the Group 
was recognised as the supplier with “Best in 
Class Performance - Delivery”.  The Group 
also received two awards from Keysight 
Technologies, in recognition of its valuable 
contributions in resolving critical customer 
escalation and valuable support for Keysight 
Technologies rebranding activities.
 
During the year, Illumina presented a “Valued 
Partner” award to the Group in recognition 
of Venture’s contribution towards Illumina’s 
completion and launch of the world’s first 
high-throughput desktop genome sequencer.  
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Many other customers including ABB, Avago 
and Fluke have also acknowledged Venture 
as an “Outstanding Supplier” or for its 
“Outstanding Support”.

While winning these accolades is not the 
reason behind Venture’s continuing push to 
make a distinct difference, it will certainly fuel 
and motivate the team to continue to work 
diligently and passionately to bring greater 
value-add to its customers and partners.

APPOINTMENTS

I am very pleased to welcome Mr Jonathan S. 
Huberman to the Venture Board.  Appointed 
as an Independent Non-Executive Director 
with effect from 2 January 2015, Mr Huberman 
brings with him a wealth of technology industry 
knowledge, global operations experience 
and business expertise.  He is currently the 
President and CEO of NewNet Communication 
Technologies, a global provider of innovative 
solutions for next generation mobile 
technologies.  He also serves on the boards 
of Breitling Energy Corporation, Aculon, Inc. 
and the International Association of Chiefs 
of Police Foundation in the United States.  
Mr Huberman held key positions in various 
companies.  He was the President and CEO of 
Tiburon Inc; Managing Director of Operations 

at The Gores Group; Chairman of Elo Touch 
Solutions and President and CEO of Iomega 
Corporation (now known as LenovoEMC).
Mr Huberman is presently based in California 
in the United States.

With effect from 1 February 2015, Mr Ng Chee 
Kwoon was appointed the Chief Financial 
Officer of the Group.  Prior to his current 
appointment, Mr Ng was the Vice President 
for Finance and leads the operations finance 
teams of the various business units.  He has 
amassed considerable depth and breadth of 
experience from operations to finance and the 
Board is confident he will add strength to the 
senior management team, as well as provide 
effective leadership to the Group’s finance 
team.

During the year, the Group also welcomed 
Mr Lim Sita.  Appointed as the Chief Human 
Resource Officer in September 2014, Mr Lim 
will be championing the Group’s human capital 
strategy; leadership development initiatives 
and personnel development programmes.
He will also provide strategic leadership to 
drive Group-wide HR policies, practices, 
systems and processes and build employee 
engagement.    
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MESSAGE TO
SHAREHOLDERS

APPRECIATION

Mr Tan Choon Huat, who will not seek
re-election at the upcoming 2015 Annual 
General Meeting, will retire as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director with effect from 29 
April 2015.  Mr Tan joined the Company in 
1989 and was first appointed to the Board in 
1992.  As a pioneer in the Company, he had 
made significant contributions towards the 
transformation of Venture into a leading global 
provider of electronic services, products and 
solutions.  As a “go-to” leader in Venture, 
he had a profound impact on many and 
leaves behind a strong legacy of exemplary 
work ethics – dedication, commitment, 
passion, resolution, perseverance, loyalty, 
dependability and accountability.  I would 
like to take this opportunity to register my 
personal appreciation for his immeasurable 
contributions to the Group.

I would also like to thank Venture management 
team and all employees for their unstinting 
efforts and dedication.  I am privileged to 
lead a driven and motivated management 
team supported by highly skilled personnel 
with strong engineering skills.  Thank you for 
committing your talent to Venture’s success 
and for perpetuating Venture’s hallmark of 
excellence.

“I am optimistic about Venture’s 
long-term prospects.  I believe the 
Venture Group has the dynamism, 
the resources, the know-how and 
the motivation to not only drive 
growth in the future, but also to 
pioneer product development in a 
few selected domain technology 
areas.”  
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I am grateful to all customers and partners 
for their continued support.  Thank you for 
the recognitions given and for increasingly 
entrusting your business to Venture.  To the 
Group’s business associates and strategic 
suppliers, you have been key in enabling 
Venture.  Thank you for partnering Venture to 
build its customer-centric business.

Last but not least, I would like to thank all 
shareholders and investors for their confidence 
and support.  The Group remains committed 
to its corporate principles of integrity, 
prudence and transparency and the creation 
of stakeholder value over the long-term.

PROPOSED DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors has recommended a 
final dividend of 50 cents per share on a one-tier 
tax-exempt basis for the financial year ended 31 
December 2014.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting to be held on 29 April 
2015, the proposed dividend will be paid on 20 
May 2015.

SEIZING THE FUTURE

I am optimistic about Venture’s long-term 
prospects.  I believe the Venture Group has 
the dynamism, the resources, the know-how 
and the motivation to not only drive growth 
in the future, but also to pioneer product 
development in a few selected domain 
technology areas.  

The Venture team continues to work diligently 
at sustaining operational excellence and 
remains resolved to manage any challenges 
and seize every opportunity that may arise.
I see a Venture team with greater determination 
to succeed and an unrelenting commitment 
to provide exceptional customer service.  
These - together with the passion to pursue 
knowledge, tenacity to drive innovation and 
courage to make a difference – will enable the 
Group to achieve its long-term operational 
and financial priorities and goals.

WONG NGIT LIONG
Chairman & CEO
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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS

Profit Before Tax

$156.5M
+11.8%

2013: $139.9M

Earnings Per Share

2013: 47.7 cents

Profit Attributable 
to Owners of the 
Company

$139.8M
+6.6%

2013: $131.1M

Net Assets

2013: $1,829.2M

Revenue

$2,465.5M
+5.8%

2013: $2,329.6M

2013: $122.9M

Cash Generated
From Operations

50.9 cents
+6.7%

$1,864.8M
+1.9%

$186.2M
+51.5%
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

From left to right:

KOH LEE BOON  Independent Non-Executive Director, Lead Independent Director

TAN CHOON HUAT Independent Non-Executive Director 

WONG NGIT LIONG Chairman & CEO

WONG YEW MENG   Independent Non-Executive Director

CECIL VIVIAN RICHARD WONG  Independent Non-Executive Director

JONATHAN S. HUBERMAN  Independent Non-Executive Director 

GOON KOK LOON  Independent Non-Executive Director
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

WONG NGIT LIONG
Chairman & CEO

Mr Wong Ngit Liong is the Chairman and CEO of the Group. 
He is also a member of the Nominating Committee and 
chairs the Investment Committee. He was last re-appointed 
as Director of the Company on 25 April 2014. 

Mr Wong sits on the board of the various Group 
subsidiaries. He is also the Chairman of the National 
University of Singapore Board of Trustees and a Member of 
the Research, Innovation and Enterprise Council under the 
Prime Minister’s Office. 

In recognition of his contributions to Singapore, Mr Wong 
was awarded the Meritorious Service Medal in 2012 at 
the National Day Awards. This Medal is awarded to a 
person who has performed service of conspicuous merit 
characterised by resource and devotion to duty, including 
long service marked by exceptional ability, merit and 
exemplary conduct. He was also awarded the Ernst & 
Young Entrepreneurship of the Year Award (Singapore) in 
2002, and the Singapore Business Times/DHL Worldwide 
Express Businessman of the Year in 1998. 

Mr Wong’s past directorships include Singapore Exchange 
Limited, Royal Philips Electronics, DBS Bank Ltd, SIA 
Engineering Company Ltd, Economic Development Board 
of Singapore and International Enterprise Singapore.

Mr Wong holds a 1st Class (Honours) degree in Electrical 
Engineering from the University of Malaya, and a Master’s 
degree in Electronics Engineering from the University 
of California, Berkeley in the United States where he was 
a Fulbright Scholar. He also holds a Master of Business 
Administration (“MBA”) degree with distinction from McGill 
University under the Canadian Commonwealth Fellowship. 

Date of first appointment as a Director: 20 January 1989 

CECIL VIVIAN RICHARD WONG 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong, who was last re-appointed as 
Director of the Company on 25 April 2014, is the Chairman 
of the Nominating Committee and a member of the Audit 
Committee and Remuneration Committee. 

Mr Wong serves on the Boards of Pan-United Corporation 
Ltd, Chartered Asset Management Pte Ltd and John K 
Young Pte Ltd. 

Mr Wong had retired as partner of Ernst & Young 
International after spending more than 30 years there 
and in its predecessor companies. He continues to be 
actively involved in social work, serving several non-
profit organisations. In recognition of his contributions to 
Singapore, he was awarded the Public Service Medal and 
the Public Service Star by the President of Singapore in 
1992 and 2000 respectively. 

Mr Wong holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Cambridge 
University’s Fitzwilliam College. He is a member of the 
Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants. 

Date of first appointment as a Director: 6 May 1992 

Past Principal Directorships in the Last Three Years:

–  British & Malayan Trustees Ltd 
–  CK Tang Ltd 

KOH LEE BOON 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
Lead Independent Director

Mr Koh Lee Boon serves as Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee. He is also a member of the Audit Committee 
and the Nominating Committee. He was last re-elected 
as Director of the Company and appointed as the Lead 
Independent Director on 25 April 2014. 

Mr Koh has more than 13 years of managerial experience 
in two companies within the electronics manufacturing 
industry, where he served as Executive Director. Until 
1996, Mr Koh was Senior Vice President and Partner of 
SEAVI International Fund Management Pte Ltd and up to 
9 July 2012, he was a Director of SEAVI International Fund 
Management Pte Ltd and SEAVI Venture Management Pte 
Ltd. 

Mr Koh holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Honours) degree 
in Electrical Engineering from the University of Malaya. 

Date of first appointment as a Director: 1 August 1996 

GOON KOK LOON 
Independent Non-Executive Director 

Mr Goon Kok Loon serves as Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and is a member of the Investment Committee 
and the Remuneration Committee. He was last re-appointed 
as Director of the Company on 25 April 2014. 

Currently, Mr Goon is the Executive Chairman of Global 
Maritime & Port Services Pte Ltd.  Mr Goon also sits on the 
Board of various companies including Regal International 
Group Ltd, Yongnam Holdings Ltd and IPLaboratories 
Pte Ltd. Mr Goon has accumulated more than 30 years 
of experience in senior management with the Port of 
Singapore Authority and PSA Corporation Limited. For 
his contributions to the maritime sector, he was awarded 
the Silver and Gold Public Administration Medals by the 
Singapore Government in 1976 and 1989 respectively. 

Mr Goon holds a 1st Class (Honours) degree in Electrical 
Engineering from the University of Liverpool, United 
Kingdom and attended Postgraduate Study Programme at 
the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, United States. 
He is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Logistics & 
Transport. 

Date of first appointment as a Director: 27 February 2004 

Past Principal Directorships in the Last Three Years:

–  Jaya Holdings Ltd 
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WONG YEW MENG  
Independent Non-Executive Director 

Mr Wong Yew Meng is a member of the Audit Committee 
and the Investment Committee. He was last re-elected as 
Director of the Company on 19 April 2013. 

Mr Wong currently serves in various public organisations 
such as the Land Transport Authority of Singapore, 
Public Utilities Board, People’s Association, Competition 
Commission of Singapore, Nanyang Technological 
University, Singapore Deposit Insurance Corporation 
Limited and Kidney Dialysis Foundation Ltd. 

Mr Wong joined Price Waterhouse in 1974 and was admitted 
as an Audit-Partner in 1985.  He played a key role in building 
up the financial services practice of the accounting firm 
and had extensive experience auditing companies in a 
variety of industries such as electronics, manufacturing, 
trading, petrochemical and service industries. His vast 
audit experience included acting as reporting accountant 
for Initial Public Offerings and the provision of accounting 
advice for merger exercises. In addition, he was an 
investigative accountant in several large-scale Singapore 
corporate investigations. 

Mr Wong is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales and a member of 
the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants. He 
was a former practising Certified Public Accountant 
of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of 
Singapore, as well as the Public Accountants Board of
Singapore/Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority. 

Date of first appointment as a Director: 1 September 2009 

Past Principal Directorships in the Last Three Years:

–  Singapore Eye Research Institute 

TAN CHOON HUAT 
Independent Non-Executive Director 

Mr Tan Choon Huat was an Executive Director of the 
Company from 6 May 1992 to his retirement as an executive 
of the Company on 31 December 2011 whereupon he  
was redesignated as a Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director with effect from 1 January 2012.   As of 1 January 
2015, Mr Tan is deemed an Independent Non-Executive 
Director, in accordance with the Code of Corporate 
Governance. 

Mr Tan has more than 30 years of international experience 
in the electronics industry. He started his career with 
the Hewlett-Packard Company and assumed many 
management positions in its offices in the United States, 
Singapore and Malaysia during his 17 years’ tenure. 

Mr Tan joined the Company in 1989 and as one of the 
pioneers in the Group, he had made significant contributions 
towards the transformation of the home-grown Company to 
a leading global provider of technology services, products 
and solutions. Mr Tan had various responsibilities during his 
tenure as an executive of the Company. He had also been 
involved in planning the strategic direction of the Group 
and provided mentorship to senior executives. 

Mr Tan holds a Bachelor of Electrical Engineering degree 
from the University of Liverpool, United Kingdom and an 
MBA from the University of Santa Clara in California, United 
States. 

Date of first appointment as a Director: 6 May 1992 

JONATHAN S. HUBERMAN
Independent Non-Executive Director 

Mr Jonathan S. Huberman has been appointed as an 
Independent Non-Executive Director with effect from 2 
January 2015 and appointed as a member of the Investment 
Committee on 27 February 2015.
 
Mr Huberman is currently the President and CEO of 
NewNet Communication Technologies, a global provider 
of innovative solutions for next generation mobile 
technologies.  He also serves on the boards of Breitling 
Energy Corporation, Aculon, Inc. and the International 
Association of Chiefs of Police Foundation in the United 
States.  He has extensive technology industry knowledge 
and global operations expertise. He was the President and 
CEO of Tiburon Inc, Managing Director of Operations at 
The Gores Group and the Chairman of Elo Touch Solutions, 
Inc.  Prior to that, he was the President and CEO of Iomega 
Corporation (now known as LenovoEMC) and played a key 
role in driving the organisation towards profitability. 
 
Mr Huberman holds a Bachelor of Arts in Computer Science 
from Princeton University in New Jersey and an MBA 
majoring in Entrepreneurial Management and Strategic 
Planning from The Wharton School at the University of 
Pennsylvania in Philadelphia.
 
Date of first appointment as a Director: 2 January 2015
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KEY
EXECUTIVES

WONG NGIT LIONG* 
Chairman & CEO 

TAN KIAN SENG 
President 

Mr Tan Kian Seng joined the Group in April 2001 and was 
appointed to his present role as President in 2011. He leads 
and provides stewardship to the business units, as well as 
oversees the performance of the business unit operations. 
In addition, he has responsibilities on matters related to 
the Group’s Legal and Corporate Secretariat functions 
and Investor Relations. He also has oversight of corporate 
& administrative support services including Finance and 
Accounting, Human Resources and Information Technology. 
He is also a member of the Investment Committee. 

Mr Tan was the Group’s Chief Financial Officer from 
February 2006 to February 2012. Before his appointment as 
the Chief Financial Officer, Mr Tan was the Vice-President 
for Operations, overseeing Venture Group’s overall 
management and operations in Malaysia. 

Mr Tan has extensive experience in the electronics sector 
and held several senior management positions including 
Vice President for Finance with Iomega Asia Manufacturing 
and Financial Controller for Quantum Storage (M) Sdn Bhd 
in prior years. 

Mr Tan is an associate member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales. 

*Please refer to page 20

NG CHEE KWOON
Chief Financial Officer 

Prior to his current appointment as Chief Financial Officer 
in February 2015, Mr Ng was the Vice President for Finance 
and leads the operations finance teams of Technology 
Products & Solutions and Advanced Manufacturing & 
Design Solutions.  As CFO, Mr Ng is responsible for 
the Group’s finance and accounting functions including 
treasury, financial planning, credit management, tax 
and risk management and other general corporate and 
administrative functions.
 
Mr Ng brings with him more than 20 years of experience in 
finance (corporate and operations), treasury and corporate 
governance from multinational corporations to SGX-listed 
companies.  Prior to joining Venture, Mr Ng was the Group 
Director of Finance with WBL Corporation Limited and 
had held senior finance positions in various organisations 
including Popular Holdings Limited, Delphi Automotive 
Systems, BHP Limited and the Singapore Civil Service.
 
Mr Ng graduated with a Bachelor of Accountancy from 
the Nanyang Technological University, Singapore, and is 
a Chartered Accountant with the Institute of Singapore 
Chartered Accountants.
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LEE GHAI KEEN 
Executive Vice President
Technology Products & Solutions 

Mr Lee Ghai Keen joined the Group in March 1998 and was 
appointed to his current position in 2012. He provides key 
leadership to Group-wide R&D efforts and programmes 
and leads a large group of R&D engineers across the 
Group’s design centres in Singapore, Malaysia, China and 
the United States. He is also responsible for the Group’s 
Retail Store Solutions & Industrial Products business and 
operations in Singapore, Malaysia and China. 

Mr Lee has amassed considerable experience in research, 
engineering and design development in the electronics 
sector. He holds seven US design patents.  Prior to 1998, Mr 
Lee was employed by the Hewlett-Packard Company. He 
held various R&D positions within the company. 

Mr Lee holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical 
Engineering from the University of Glasgow, United 
Kingdom and a Master of Business in IT degree from the 
Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology, Australia. 

DHARMA NADARAJAH 
Executive Vice President
Advanced Manufacturing & Design Solutions 

Mr Dharma Nadarajah joined the Group in February 2001. 
He is responsible for the Group’s Electronics Services 
Provider businesses across the globe covering a full 
spectrum of high value-added services including product 
design and engineering, supply chain and supplier 
management, advanced manufacturing and test process 
development, order management and optimisation, 
product development and manufacturing and new product 
introduction management. 

Prior to joining Venture, he gained extensive experience 
in the disc drive industry as an Engineering Manager 
and a Senior Process Engineer at Quantum and Seagate 
respectively, specialising in Magnetic Heads manufacturing 
technology and processes. He had cross-border working 
exposure in Singapore, Malaysia, the United States, and 
Indonesia in those companies. Mr Nadarajah was also 
trained in the United Kingdom as a Field Engineer for 
Schlumberger Wireline, and deployed on various offshore 
oil platforms around the world. 

Mr Nadarajah holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Honours) 
degree in Computer Systems Engineering from the 
University of Bristol, United Kingdom, which he attended 
as a Public Service Division scholar. He also holds an MBA 
from the Nanyang Business School, Nanyang Technological 
University, Singapore, where he was the Institute of 
Engineers’ Gold Medalist winner. 

LIM SITA
Chief Human Resource Officer
 
Mr Lim Sita joined the Group in September 2014.  He is 
responsible for the Group’s human resource (HR) function 
and provides strategic leadership to drive Group-wide 
HR policies, practices, systems and processes and build 
employee engagement.  
 
Mr Lim has more than 20 years of extensive experience 
in human resource management and industrial relations 
having worked with multinational corporations in the marine 
and offshore, advanced semiconductor manufacturing and 
the pharmaceutical and medical device sectors.  Mr Lim has 
also amassed considerable cross-border experience given 
his previous regional roles covering Singapore, Malaysia, 
Indonesia, as well as Australia and the South Asian region.
 
Mr Lim holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the National 
University of Singapore.
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LIST OF
PROPERTIES

LOCATION SITE AREA 
(SQ.M.)

TENURE USAGE

HS(D) 237904-237908

PTD 67770-67774, Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

29,029 Freehold Industrial

HS(D) 218290

PTD 64850, Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

18,763 Freehold Industrial

HS(D) 468918

PTD 152116, Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

4,730 Freehold Industrial

HS(D) 6220 

LOT 4020 Mukim Tebrau 
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

3,476 Freehold Industrial

HS(D) 6221

LOT 4021 Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

3,195 Freehold Industrial

HS(D) 6222 

LOT 4022 Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

3,111 Freehold Industrial

HS(D) 6223 

LOT 4023 Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

3,093 Freehold Industrial

69 Huang Yang Road

Tower 2, 6/F, Unit D, Xin He Gardens
Jin Qiao, Pudong Shanghai 201206 
People’s Republic of China

156 Leasehold 
(Expiring 2063)

Residential

HS(D) 8712

PTD 3217, Bayan Lepas
Penang, Malaysia

39,522 Leasehold 
(Expiring 2055)

Industrial
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LOCATION SITE AREA 
(SQ.M.)

TENURE USAGE

Geran 459975 Lot 44895

(formerly known as HS(D) 270912 
PTD 68794) Mukim Tebrau
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

15,443 Leasehold
(Expiring 2054)

Office and
Industrial

HS(D) 333450

PTD 97125, Mukim Tebrau 
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

44,470 Leasehold
(Expiring 2052)

Industrial

MK 18, Lot No. 17946

Singapore

8,219 Leasehold
(Expiring 2052)

Office and
Industrial

HS(D) 45801 PTD 8824 

Mukim Senai
Kulaijaya, Johor, Malaysia

4,978 Leasehold
(Expiring 2052)

Industrial

Lot 12368

Mukim 12, Daerah Barat Daya
Penang, Malaysia

8,981 Leasehold
(Expiring 2051)

Office and
Industrial

668 Li Shi Zhen Road

Zhangjiang Hi-Tech Park
Pudong Shanghai 201203 
People’s Republic of China

20,000 Leasehold
(Expiring 2050)

Office and
Industrial

HS(D) 445334

PTD 100821, Mukim Senai-Kulai 
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

24,581 Leasehold
(Expiring 2049)

Office and
Industrial

HS(D) 270914

PTD 68796, Mukim Tebrau 
Johor Bahru, Johor, Malaysia

16,187 Leasehold
(Expiring 2025)

Office and
Industrial

MK 13, Lot No. 2361

Singapore

10,550 Leasehold
(Expiring 2021)

Office and
Industrial
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GROUP OF
COMPANIES

AMERICA

AMERICA

Univac Precision, Inc
6701 Mowry Avenue
Newark CA 94560
United States of America
T : +1 (510) 744 3720
F : +1 (510) 744 3730

Venture Design Services, Inc.
6701 Mowry Avenue
Newark CA 94560
United States of America
T : +1 (510) 744 3720
F : +1 (510) 744 3730

Venture Electronics 
International, Inc.
6701 Mowry Avenue
Newark CA 94560
United States of America
T : +1 (510) 744 3720
F : +1 (510) 744 3730

VIPColor Technologies USA, 
Inc.
6701 Mowry Avenue
Newark CA 94560
United States of America
T : +1 (510) 744 3770
F : +1 (510) 744 3738

VM Services, Inc.
6701 Mowry Avenue
Newark CA 94560
United States of America
T : +1 (510) 744 3720
F : +1 (510) 744 3730

EUROPE

Venture Electronics (Europe) B.V.
SGG Netherlands N.V.
Weena 327
3013 AL Rotterdam
The Netherlands
T : +31 (10) 206 4600
F : +31 (10) 206 4601 

Venture Electronics Spain S.L.
C. Pagesia, 22-24
01891 Rubi, Barcelona
Spain
T : +34 (93) 588 3018
F : +34 (93) 697 1131

Venture Hungary Electronics
Manufacturing Limited Liability
Company
1134 Budapest, Váci út 33
Hungary
T : +36 (1) 451 7100
F : +36 (1) 451 7196

CHINA

Shanghai GES Information Technology 
Co., Ltd
668 Li Shi Zhen Road
Zhangjiang Hi-Tech Park
Pudong Shanghai 201203
People’s Republic of China
T : +86 (21) 3898 4898
F : +86 (21) 5080 6968

Univac Precision Plastics (SIP) Co., Ltd
30 Min Sheng Road
Sheng Pu Town
Suzhou Industrial Park 
Suzhou 215126
People’s Republic of China
T : +86 (21) 6282 8828
F : +86 (21) 6282 3318

Venture Electronics (Shanghai) Co., Ltd
1201 Gui Qiao Road
T52/11 Jin Qiao Export Processing Zone
Pudong New Area 
Shanghai 201206
People’s Republic of China
T : +86 (21) 5899 8086
F : +86 (21) 5899 7682

Venture Electronics (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
3832 Chang Ping Business Building
Shihua Road, Free Trade Zone
Futian Shenzhen 518038
People’s Republic of China
T : +86 (755) 2395 0126
F : +86 (755) 2395 0115
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EUROPE

CHINA

MALAYSIA

SINGAPORE

GES (Singapore) Pte Ltd
28 Marsiling Lane
Singapore 739152
T : +65 6732 9898
F : +65 6368 6225

Innovative Trek Technology Pte Ltd
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

Univac Design & Engineering Pte Ltd
211 Woodlands Avenue 9
#01-86
Singapore 738960
T : +65 6854 3333
F : +65 6516 0835

Univac Precision Engineering Pte Ltd
211 Woodlands Avenue 9
#01-86
Singapore 738960
T : +65 6854 3333
F : +65 6516 0835

Multitech Systems Pte Ltd
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

Venture Electronics Solutions Pte Ltd
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

VIPColor Technologies Pte Ltd
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

Venture Electronics Services
(M) Sdn Bhd
Plot 44, Bayan Lepas
Industrial Park IV, 11900
Penang, Malaysia
T : +60 (04) 642 8000
F : +60 (04) 642 9000

SINGAPORE

Venture Corporation Limited
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

Advanced Products 
Corporation Pte Ltd
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5
#05-01/12 TECHplace II
Singapore 569873
T : +65 6482 1755
F : +65 6482 0122

GES International Limited
28 Marsiling Lane
Singapore 739152
T : +65 6732 9898
F : +65 6368 6225

GES Investment Pte Ltd
28 Marsiling Lane
Singapore 739152
T : +65 6732 9898
F : +65 6368 6225

MALAYSIA

GES Manufacturing Services
(M) Sdn Bhd
PLO 34, Fasa 2
Kawasan Perindustrian Senai
81400 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia
T : +60 (07) 599 2511
F : +60 (07) 599 2521

Munivac Sdn Bhd
51 & 53 Jalan Riang 
21 Taman Gembira
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia
T : +60 (07) 335 6333
F : +60 (07) 335 0088

Pintarmas Sdn Bhd
6 Jalan Kempas 5/2 
Tampoi
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia
T : +60 (07) 237 7201
F : +60 (07) 236 4146

Technocom Systems Sdn Bhd
2 & 4 Jalan Kempas 5/2 
Tampoi
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia
T : +60 (07) 237 7201
F : +60 (07) 236 4146

V-Design Services (M) Sdn Bhd
2 & 4 Jalan Kempas 5/2 
Tampoi
81200 Johor Bahru
Johor, Malaysia
T : +60 (07) 237 7201
F : +60 (07) 236 4146
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
CALENDAR

27 February 2015    Announcement of Full Year 2014 Results

2 March 2015   Non-Deal Road Show in Singapore Post Full Year 2014 Results
 
1 April 2015   Maybank Kim Eng Invest Asean Conference (Singapore)

1 April 2015    Dispatch of 2014 Annual Report to Shareholders

29 April 2015   Annual General Meeting

30 April 2015    Announcement of First Quarter 2015 Results

4 May 2015   Non-Deal Road Show in Singapore Post First Quarter 2015 Results

5:00 p.m. 7 May 2015   Book Closure Date in Relation to Full Year 2014 Final Dividend

20 May 2015   Dividend Payment Date

4-5 June 2015    Citi Asean Conference (Singapore)

6-7 July 2015   DBS Vickers Pulse of Asia Conference (Singapore)

6 August 2015    Announcement of Second Quarter 2015 Results

11 August 2015   Non-Deal Road Show in Singapore Post Second Quarter 2015 Results

2-4 September 2015    UBS ASEAN Conference (Singapore)

6 November 2015   Announcement of Third Quarter 2015 Results

9 November 2015   Non-Deal Road Show in Singapore Post Third Quarter 2015 Results

31 December 2015   Financial Year-End

Note: Future dates and events are indicative and subject to change. 
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Venture Corporation Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, “the Group”) firmly believe that 

its growth and success must be anchored fi rmly on a framework of sound corporate governance principles, 

practices and processes. It believes that its drive towards effective corporate governance and ethical corporate 

conduct will translate to sound business decision, underpinning its operational and fi nancial performance and 

delivering value to all stakeholders. 

 

Towards this end, the Group upholds a high standard of corporate conduct in conformity to the principles of 

the Code of Corporate Governance. In addition, the Group’s Social Code of Conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) 

is modelled on and applies the language of the Electronic Industry Citizenship Coalition Code of Conduct. This 

Code of Conduct builds on the Group’s commitment to good employment practices and workplace related 

human rights, among other desirable corporate practices. It sets out a common approach for corporate wide 

development of policies and practices. The Code of Conduct applies to every Venture employee around the 

world without exception. 

 

The Group believes that corporate governance is not simply a matter of compliance with the Code of 

Conduct, policies and regulatory standards, however it is embedding the right corporate mindset in its people. 

Acknowledging that its people are the key upholders of such standards, the Group has conscientiously 

nurtured a strong corporate governance culture amongst its Board of Directors, Management and its 

employees. In addition, the Group engages its supply chain partners and business associates actively in the 

development and implementation of codes similar to its corporate standards and practices. 

 

In addition, the Company has adopted corporate governance principles and practices in line with the 

recommendations of the revised Code of Corporate Governance 2012 (“Code”) issued on 2 May 2012. It is 

cognizant that corporate governance is not merely about compliance to baseline regulations. It embraces 

the spirit of the Code, anchored on key principles of corporate integrity, transparency, responsibility and 

accountability. This is demonstrated through the adoption of internal guidelines, standards and policies 

which go beyond recommended best practices and regulations.  From a wider perspective, good corporate 

governance is embodied in the integrity of management who adhere to sound governance practices and 

processes that serve to promote and safeguard the Group’s interests and assets and the interests of all 

stakeholders, collectively.

In recognition of its commitment to sound corporate governance practices, the Company has been 

consistently nominated for the “Most Transparent Company Award” by the Securities Investors Association 

(Singapore) (“SIAS”). The Company has won the award on many occasions. Since 2011, the Company has 

taken the Corporate Governance Pledge, an initiative of SIAS, as a commitment to pursue high standards of 

corporate governance.

This Corporate Governance Report (“report”) describes the Company’s corporate governance practices with 

specifi c reference to the Code. Unless otherwise stated in the report below, the Company has complied 

with the principles and guidelines of the Code. There are other sections in the Group’s Annual Report that 

are relevant to the discussion of corporate governance, hence this report should be read together with those 

sections.

PRINCIPLE 1
BOARD’S CONDUCT OF ITS AFFAIRS

The Board’s corporate objective is to achieve sustained value creation for all stakeholders. It strives to 

accomplish this through overseeing the proper conduct of the Group’s business and affairs, ensuring that 

the Group maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls, as well as approving the 

Group’s strategic operational initiatives, major investments and capital structure. In addition to its statutory 

responsibilities, the Board reviews the Group’s fi nancial performance regularly.
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The Board has adopted internal guidelines setting out approval limits for capital expenditure, bank facilities and 

transactions, and matters requiring its approval, such as investment proposals and major transactions. The 

matters requiring the Board’s review and approval include, inter alia,:

a. release of any fi nancial results and disclosures of material information;

b. recommendation of any amendment to the Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles“) for 

shareholders’ approval;

c. appointment of Corporate Representative to subsidiaries for representing the Company in various 

matters;

d. opening or closing of bank accounts, change of bank authorised signatories, mode of operations 

and dealing mandates with the Company’s banks and acceptance of offers of banking facilities, any 

borrowings, or fi nancial commitment related to grant of guarantees, securities and collateral guarantees 

by the Company;

e. acquisition or disposition of any material interest in any land or real property or assets other than in the 

ordinary course of business;

f. establishment, acquisition or incorporation of any subsidiary or winding up, dissolution or placement of 

any subsidiary under receivership or judicial management; and

g. creation of any mortgage, pledge, bond, charge, lien or any other encumbrance on the Company’s 

assets, in whole or in part.

The Board is supported by Board Committees which include the Audit Committee, Nominating Committee, 

Remuneration Committee and Investment Committee each of which has clearly written Terms of Reference 

(“ToR”) that set out their duties and responsibilities in line with the Code. In view of the revision of the Code, the 

ToR of the Board Committees had been revised to ensure that they are aligned with the revised Code.

The Company held four formal Board meetings in 2014 and the attendance of the Directors at meetings of the

Board and Board Committees, as well as the frequency of such meetings, are as follows:

Board Committees

Meetings held for FY2014(1) Board
Audit

Committee
Nominating
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Investment
Committee

Wong Ngit Liong 4 of 4 – 3 of 3 – 2 of 2

Cecil Vivian Richard Wong 4 of 4 4 of 4 3 of 3 2 of 2 –

Koh Lee Boon 4 of 4 4 of 4 3 of 3 2 of 2 –

Goon Kok Loon 4 of 4 4 of 4 – 2 of 2 2 of 2

Koh Kheng Siong(2) 1 of 4 1 of 4 – 1 of 2 –

Wong Yew Meng 3 of 4 4 of 4 – – 2 of 2

Tan Choon Huat 3 of 4 – – – –

Notes:

(1) Mr Jonathan S. Huberman joined as a Director of the Company on 2 January 2015.

(2) Mr Koh Kheng Siong retired as a Director of the Company on 25 April 2014.
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The Directors have also held several informal discussions when needed by specifi c circumstances, and as 
deemed appropriate by the Board members.

The Company organises programmes for Directors as appropriate to ensure they are kept abreast of 
developments within the Group and the industry, as well as new corporate laws and regulations. Orientation 
programmes are also organised for new Directors to ensure that they are familiar with the Group’s business 
and governance policies. In order for the Directors to keep abreast of recent changes in the Financial 
Reporting Standards, external consultants may be invited to brief the Board on any such changes. Site visits 
are organised as appropriate for Directors to have an intimate understanding of the Group’s key business 
operations and to familiarise and interact with the executives of the Group.

PRINCIPLES 2, 3 & 4
BOARD COMPOSITION, BALANCE AND MEMBERSHIP

Board Composition

The Board comprises seven members of whom six are Independent Non-Executive Directors. They are Mr 
Cecil Vivian Richard Wong, Mr Koh Lee Boon, Mr Goon Kok Loon, Mr Wong Yew Meng, Mr Tan Choon Huat 
and Mr Jonathan S. Huberman. These Independent Non-Executive Directors have no relationship with the 
Company, its related corporations, its shareholders holding not less than 10% of its shares or its officers that 
could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors and their immediate family members:

a. are not employee(s) of the Company or any of its related corporations for the current or any of the past 

three fi nancial years;

b. are not substantial shareholder(s) of the Company;

c. are not substantial shareholder(s) of or partner(s) in (with 10% or more shareholding); not executive 

offi cer(s) of; not Director(s) of, any organisation to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries made, 

or from which the Company or any of its subsidiaries received, signifi cant payments or material services 

(aggregated over any fi nancial year in excess of S$200,000) in the current or immediate past fi nancial 

year;

d.  have not accepted any signifi cant compensation from the Company or any of its related corporations for 

the provision of services, for the current or immediate past fi nancial year, other than for Board services; 

and

e. are not accustomed to, or under an obligation, formal or informal, to act in accordance with directions, 

instructions or wishes of substantial shareholder in relation to the corporate affairs of the Company, in 

the current or immediate past fi nancial year.



CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT

32  Venture Corporation Limited

Mr Wong Ngit Liong is the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Company and Chairman of the Board. 

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the CEO and Chairman. As CEO, Mr Wong is responsible 

for leading the Management of the Company and presides over the implementation of strategic objectives 

of the Company. In his role as Chairman, he is responsible for board proceedings and inter alia, managing 

the communication and information dissemination process and exchanges between the Company and 

its stakeholders. By combining these roles, Mr Wong has been able to consistently ensure that strategic 

objectives are implemented seamlessly in the Company’s interest. Independent Non-Executive Directors form 

the majority on the Board and that also promotes an appropriate balance of power and authority in keeping 

with the spirit of good corporate governance. The Audit Committee, Nominating Committee and Remuneration 

Committee are also chaired by Independent Non-Executive Directors. This ensures adequate accountability, 

safeguards and internal controls are in place to facilitate independent decision-making.

Mr Koh Lee Boon, the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nominating Committee 

and the Audit Committee, was appointed as the Lead Independent Director of the Company on 25 April 2014.  

As Lead Independent Director, he may be contacted if shareholders have concerns, when contact through 

the normal channels of the Chairman and CEO or CFO has failed to resolve or is inappropriate. The Lead 

Independent Director may also lead meetings with Independent Non-Executive Directors without the presence 

of the Chairman and other Directors and provide feedback to the Chairman after such meetings.

Key information regarding the Directors is given on pages 19 and 21 of this Annual Report.

The Board endeavours to ensure that the Board and its Board Committees comprise experienced members 

who as a group provide an appropriate balance and diversity of skills, experience, and knowledge of the 

Company. They possess core competencies such as accounting, finance, business and management 

experience, industry knowledge, strategic planning experience, customer-based experience or knowledge and 

are able to make positive contributions to the Company.

The Nominating Committee has a formal and transparent selection process for new Directors. The Nominating 

Committee assesses the appropriate mix of expertise and experience needed for an effective Board and 

recommends the qualities and profi le of candidates most suited, taking into consideration factors such as 

experience, expertise and current board composition. It considers prospective candidates from an extensive 

network of contacts, evaluates and shortlists candidates with the relevant experience and expertise in some or 

all of the following areas of general management; finance, accounting and governance aspects; and knowledge 

of the Group’s industry, business and markets. Suitable candidates are then recommended to the Board for 

consideration.

On appointment, a new Director is advised of his duties and obligations. Lines of communication, including 

direct access to the Chairman, Company Secretary and Management are immediately established. This 

provides a new Director with the opportunity to establish exchanges and to exercise his statutory duties.

Pursuant to the Code, the Board is required to determine the maximum number of listed company board 

representations which a Director may hold. The Board has concurred with the Nominating Committee’s 

recommendation that the maximum number of listed company board representations which a Director may 

have should not exceed six, taking into consideration, inter alia, market capitalisation of the other listed 

companies, financial year end, schedule of meetings, time commitment required, intensity of participation, 

whether the Director has executive responsibilities in other organisations or other principal commitments, as 

well as the individual Director’s ability.
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Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee, which is chaired by Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong, comprises two Independent 

Non-Executive Directors and one Executive Director. The other members are Mr Koh Lee Boon and Mr Wong 

Ngit Liong. The Nominating Committee met thrice in 2014 and had informal discussions on several occasions.

The Nominating Committee’s main responsibilities are, inter alia, as follows:

a. to ensure that the Board comprises members with the appropriate balance of skills and expertise in 

order to meet the Company’s operational and business requirements;

b. to establish a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new Directors;

c. to nominate Directors retiring by rotation for re-election or re-appointment at every Annual General 

Meeting (“AGM”) pursuant to Articles 74, 92 and 93 of the Articles, and Section 153(6) of the Singapore 

Companies Act, Chapter 50 (“Companies Act”);

d. to assess the Directors’ independence and provide its views to the Board for the Board’s consideration;

e. where a Director has multiple board representations, to determine if the Director is able to carry out 

and/or has adequately carried out his duties as a Director of the Company, taking into consideration the 

Director’s number of listed company board representations and other principal commitments and provide 

its views to the Board for the Board’s consideration;

f. to assess the independence of a Director who has served on the Board beyond nine years from the date 

of his first appointment annually and provide its views to the Board for the Board’s consideration; and

g. to evaluate the Board’s and Board Committees’ performance and effectiveness, and propose 

recommendations for improvement, if any.

All Directors subject themselves for re-nomination and re-election at least once every three years, pursuant to 

the Articles. Directors appointed by the Board during the fi nancial year shall only hold office until the next AGM, 

and thereafter, be eligible for re-election at the AGM.  Mr Jonathan S. Huberman, being a new director who 

was appointed to the Board on 2 January 2015, is required to submit himself for re-election at the forthcoming 

AGM pursuant to Article 74 of the Articles. 

Mr Tan Choon Huat, who has been a Director since May 1992, will retire by rotation and will not seek re-

election at the forthcoming AGM.  The Board and Management wish to record their appreciation for his 

unstinting dedication and signifi cant contributions towards the transformation of the Group to a leading global 

provider of technology services, products and solutions.

The Nominating Committee has recommended the nomination of the Director retiring pursuant to Article 74 of 

the Articles for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. The Nominating Committee has also recommended the 

nomination of Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong, Mr Goon Kok Loon, Mr Koh Lee Boon and Mr Wong Ngit Liong 

retiring pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act for re-appointment. In considering the nomination, the 

Nominating Committee took into account the contribution of the Directors with reference to their attendance 

and participation at meetings of the Board and Board Committees, as well as the profi ciency with which they 

have discharged their responsibilities.

The Board has accepted the Nominating Committee’s recommendations to seek approval from shareholders 

at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Directors retiring under Section 153(6) of the Companies Act and to re-

elect the Director under Article 74 of the Articles.
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Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong, Mr Goon Kok Loon, Mr Koh Lee Boon, Mr Jonathan S. Huberman and Mr Wong 
Ngit Liong, had each abstained from the discussion and taking a decision in respect of their own nomination.

Under the revised Companies Act which was gazetted in December 2014 but yet to come into effect, a 
director who is over the age of 70 years will no longer be required to be re-appointed by shareholders annually, 
and instead will retire by rotation.

INDEPENDENCE OF DIRECTORS

The Nominating Committee performs an annual review of Directors’ interests in which all potential or perceived 
conflicts, including time commitments, length of service and other issues relevant to their independence, 
are considered. Where a Director has served on the Board for more than nine years, the Board has further 
reviewed whether such a Director should be considered independent.

The following were some of the factors considered in reviewing the independence of Directors who have 
served beyond nine years:-

a. whether the Director is free from any dealings, relationships or circumstances that could affect or appear 
to affect their independent judgement, particularly with regards to whether the Director has indicated 
or demonstrated an alignment or habitual support for any specifi c group of stakeholders e.g. specifi c 
shareholders, instead of representing the interests of all stakeholders;

b.  whether the length of service has had any adverse impact on the Director’s objectivity and judgement 
and whether during the tenure there has been any impairment to his ability to discharge his duties 
and responsibilities in the overall interest of the Group, taking into consideration the interests of all 
stakeholders; and

c. whether the Director continues to exhibit a firm commitment to his role and continues to actively 
contribute with the knowledge and experience of the Group’s business built up over the years.

Based on these considerations, the Board concurred with the Nominating Committee’s views that the three 
Directors who have served beyond nine years on the Board, namely, Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong, Mr Koh 
Lee Boon and Mr Goon Kok Loon are considered independent.

Mr Tan Choon Huat was an Executive Director of the Company from 6 May 1992 to his retirement as an 
executive of the Company on 31 December 2011 whereupon he  was redesignated as a Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Director with effect from 1 January 2012. As of 1 January 2015, Mr Tan is deemed an 
Independent Non-Executive Director, in accordance with the Code of Corporate Governance, having left the 
employ of the Company for more than three fi nancial years and there being no material relationships (including 
immediate family relationships) between Mr Tan and the other Directors or the Company.

Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong, Mr Koh Lee Boon, Mr Goon Kok Loon and Mr Tan Choon Huat had each 
abstained from the discussion and taking a decision in respect of their own independence.

PRINCIPLE 5
BOARD PERFORMANCE

A Board performance evaluation exercise is carried out annually to evaluate the performance of the Board 
and its Board Committees. The evaluation process includes distributing evaluation questionnaires to the 
Directors, collating the feedback of the individual Directors for the Nominating Committee to review and 
thereafter present to the Board, and the Board to discuss the findings collectively. The objective of the annual 
Board and Board Committees performance evaluation exercise is to assess, inter alia, the Board processes, 
Director development programmes, the contribution and effectiveness of the Board and Board Committees as 
a whole and the quality of interaction between the Management and the Board. In the review of effectiveness 
of the Board and Board Committees, the contributions by each Director in their respective roles are taken into 
account and considered.
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The evaluation conducted for FY 2014 concluded that:

a. the quality of information disseminated to members of the Board and Board Committees was good;

b. the Board and Management enjoyed a cordial relationship that encouraged communication and 

participation;

c. the Board demonstrated responsibility and pro-activeness;

d. there was a high standard of conduct amongst members of the Board;

e. the Board meetings were well-conducted and the decision-making processes of the Board were 

satisfactory;

f. the Board comprised competent Directors with varied and relevant experience and expertise; and

g. the Board and Board Committees had allocated suffi cient time to consider all matters.

PRINCIPLE 6
ACCESS TO INFORMATION

The Directors have direct and independent access to the Management and Company Secretary.

The agenda for the meetings of the Board and Board Committees, together with the appropriate supporting 

documents, are circulated to the Board and Board Committees prior to the meetings.

In addition, to ensure that the Board is able to fulfil its responsibilities and to make informed decisions in a 

timely manner, the Management provides an annual fi nancial plan, monthly management accounts and reports, 

including other relevant information or documents regularly to the Board. The Management is also invited 

to attend Board meetings to provide updates on the Group’s operations and business, to furnish additional 

information on various corporate matters and/or to discuss issues which the Directors may raise.

Analysts’ reports on the Company have been forwarded to the Directors on an on-going basis for information.

The Company Secretary who is present at all Board and Board Committees meetings, ensures that Board 

procedures and applicable rules and regulations are followed and complied with, advises and provides 

guidance on corporate governance, legal and regulatory compliance matters.  Under the direction of the 

Chairman, the Company Secretary’s responsibilities include ensuring good information fl ow within the Board 

and Board Committees and between Management and Non-Executive Directors. The Company Secretary 

also facilitates orientation and training of new Directors as well as updates Directors on new developments 

in corporate governance, legal and regulatory matters. In accordance with the Articles, the appointment and 

removal of the Company Secretary is subject to the approval of the Board.

The Directors, individually or collectively, may in furtherance of their duties, seek and obtain independent 

professional advice as and when the need arises, at the expense of the Company.
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PRINCIPLES 7, 8 & 9
REMUNERATION MATTERS

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, Mr Koh Lee Boon, Mr 

Cecil Vivian Richard Wong and Mr Goon Kok Loon. The Remuneration Committee which is chaired by Mr Koh 

Lee Boon met twice in 2014.

The Remuneration Committee’s principal functions are:

a. to review and recommend to the Board the remuneration framework for Directors, key management 

personnel and the CEO;

b. to administer the Company’s employee share schemes, which had been approved by shareholders of 

the Company;

c. to review whether the Executive Director and key management personnel should be eligible for benefits 

under long-term incentive schemes and carefully evaluate the cost and benefits of such schemes; and

d. to review the Company’s obligations arising in the event of termination of the Executive Director’s and 

key management personnel’s contracts of service, to ensure that such contracts of service contain fair 

and reasonable termination clauses, if any.

Directors’ Fees for Non-Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors’ fees take into account a Director’s contribution, additional responsibilities on Board 

Committees, his experience, qualifi cation and time spent and require shareholders’ approval at the Company’s 

AGM. Executive Directors do not receive Directors’ fees.

The Directors’ fee structure of the Board and Board Committees is as follows:

Annual Fees for Board Members S$

Board Chairman Not applicable

Non-Executive Director 40,000

Annual Fees for Board Committee Members Chairman Member

Audit Committee 30,000 20,000

Nominating Committee 20,000 10,000

Remuneration Committee 20,000 10,000

Investment Committee Not applicable 10,000
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The Remuneration Committee has recommended payment of S$403,333 as Directors’ fees for FY 2014, 

subject to approval by shareholders at the Company’s forthcoming AGM. There has been no change to the 

Directors’ fees per annum since the last revision for FY 2010. A breakdown showing the proposed Directors’ 

fee of each Director for FY 2014 is as follows:

Name of Director(1)

Director’s
Fees
S$

Director’s
Fees

%

Fixed
Remuneration

%

Variable Bonus, 
Variable Salary & 
Benefi ts-in-kind

%
Total

%

Cecil Vivian Richard Wong 90,000 100 – – 100

Koh Lee Boon 90,000 100 – – 100

Goon Kok Loon 90,000 100 – – 100

Koh Kheng Siong(2) 23,333 100 – – 100

Wong Yew Meng 70,000 100 – – 100

Tan Choon Huat 40,000 100 – – 100

Notes:

(1) Mr Jonathan S. Huberman joined as a Director of the Company on 2 January 2015.

(2) Mr Koh Kheng Siong retired as a Director of the Company on 25 April 2014.

CEO’s Remuneration 

As Chairman of the Board and Executive Director, CEO Mr Wong Ngit Liong does not receive Director’s fees. 

As a member of Management, his remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and it comprises 

both cash-based and share-based components. Information on the CEO’s remuneration including options 

granted pursuant to Venture Corporation Executives’ Share Option Scheme 2004 (“2004 Scheme”) and 

Venture Corporation Executives’ Share Option Scheme 2015 (“2015 Scheme”) is set out below:

CEO and Chairman

Remuneration

Cash-based Share-based(1)

Total
(S$)

Total
Fixed

%

Variable Bonus, 
Variable Salary
& Benefi ts-in-

kind
%

Total
%

2004 Scheme & 
2015 Scheme 

Number of options 
granted

during the 
fi nancial year(2)

Wong Ngit Liong 3,745,238 27 73 100 70,000

Notes:

(1) The fair value of share options granted under the 2004 Scheme can be found in Note 23 to the fi nancial statements.

(2) There are no options granted under the 2015 Scheme.



CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT

38  Venture Corporation Limited

Key Management Personnel’s Remuneration

In FY 2014, the key management personnel (who are not directors or CEO) are Mr Tan Kian Seng, Mr Lee Ghai 
Keen, Mr Dharma Nadarajah, Mr Ng Chee Kwoon and Mr Lim Sita. The aggregate cash-based remuneration 
of these key management personnel in FY 2014 is S$3,019,711. The percentage breakdown of the fixed and 
variable components, as well as options granted pursuant to the 2004 Scheme, 2015 Scheme and awards 
granted pursuant to the Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”) adopted by the Company in 2011, for each individual 
is as set out below.  In making available the aggregate remuneration of the key management personnel and in 
bands, the Company provides a macro perspective without compromising the Group’s business interests and 
minimises competitive pressures which would arise from more detailed disclosures.

Remuneration Bands /
Key Management Personnel

Remuneration
Cash-based Share-based(1)

Total
Fixed

%

Variable
Bonus, Variable 

Salary & 
Benefi ts-in- 

kind
%

Total
%

2004 Scheme 
& 2015 Scheme 

Number of 
options granted

during the
fi nancial year(2)

RSP Number 
of awards 
granted 

during the 
fi nancial year

Between S$750,000 - S$999,999
Tan Kian Seng 56 44 100 60,000 20,000

Lee Ghai Keen 53 47 100 60,000 20,000

Dharma Nadarajah 53 47 100 60,000 20,000

Between S$250,000 - S$499,999 
Ng Chee Kwoon(3) 58 42 100 0 0

Below S$250,000
Lim Sita(4) 65 35 100 0 0

Notes:

(1) The fair value of share options granted under the 2004 Scheme and the fair value of awards granted under the RSP can be found in 
Note 23 to the fi nancial statements.

(2) There are no options granted under the 2015 Scheme.

(3) Mr Ng Chee Kwoon joined as the Vice President, Finance of the Company on 14 May 2014 and was appointed as the Chief Financial 
Offi cer on 1 February 2015.

(4) Mr Lim Sita joined as the Chief Human Resources Offi cer of the Company on 1 September 2014.

There are no termination, retirement and post-employment benefi ts (other than CPF contributions) granted to 
Directors, the CEO or the key management personnel.

Venture believes in attracting, motivating and retaining talents to achieve its business goals and to create long-
term sustainable value for its stakeholders. Total remuneration comprises fi xed and variable elements and 
some of the factors determining the total remuneration include contribution to achievement of organisation and 
business objectives. Employees are encouraged to be innovative, entrepreneurial and impactful to transform 
and differentiate the Group to further its competitiveness, with appropriate rewards and recognition policies.

Venture has these existing employee share schemes, namely the 2015 Scheme which was approved and 
adopted by the Company in an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) held on 25 April 2014 and the RSP 
adopted by the Company in 2011 which complemented each other in the Company’s continuing efforts to 
reward, retain and motivate employees to achieve outstanding performance. Details of the 2004 Scheme, 2015 
Scheme and RSP are set out on pages 59 to 63 of the Report of the Directors and Note 23 to the fi nancial 
statements. The 2004 Scheme had expired on 30 April 2014. Notwithstanding the expiry of the 2004 Scheme, 
any outstanding and unexercised options held by option holders prior to such expiry will continue to remain 
valid.  

There are no immediate family members of a Director or the CEO in a managerial role in the Company.
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PRINCIPLES 10, 11, 12 & 13
ACCOUNTABILITY, RISK MANAGEMENT & INTERNAL CONTROLS, AUDIT COMMITTEE & 
INTERNAL AUDIT

Accountability

The Board presents a balanced and easily understood assessment of the Group’s performance, position and 

prospects to the public via the release of its quarterly and full year financial results. The Board reviews and 

approves the fi nancial results before its dissemination as well as any media release of its financial results. 

Since the SGX-ST’s introduction of the requirement for Directors to issue a Negative Assurance Statement 

to accompany its quarterly financial results announcement, a process has been introduced to support 

Management’s representations to the Board on the integrity of the Group’s financial statements before the 

Negative Assurance Statement is given by the Board.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four Independent Non-Executive Directors. They are Mr Goon Kok Loon, Mr 

Cecil Vivian Richard Wong, Mr Koh Lee Boon and Mr Wong Yew Meng. Mr Goon Kok Loon is the Chairman of 

the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee met four times in 2014.

The functions of the Audit Committee are:

a. to recommend to the Board on the proposals to the shareholders on the appointment, re-appointment 

and removal of external auditors;

b. to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditors;

c. to review the scope and result of the audit and its cost effectiveness;

d. to inquire of other Board Committees, the Management, internal auditors and external auditors on 

signifi cant risks and exposures that exist, and assess the measures Management has taken to minimise 

such risks to the Company;

e. to review with the Chief Financial Offi cer (“CFO”) and external auditors:

 i. the Company’s unaudited quarterly, interim and annual fi nancial statements and related footnotes, 

including accounting principles;

 ii. the external auditors’ audit of the annual fi nancial statements and reports thereto;

 iii. the adequacy of the Group’s system of accounting controls;

 iv. the assistance given by Management to the external auditors;

 v. any related signifi cant findings and recommendations of the external auditors and internal auditors 

together with Management’s response thereto; and

 vi. any significant changes required in the external auditors’ plan, serious difficulties or disputes 

with Management encountered during the course of the audit and their resolution, and any other 

matters relating to the conduct of the audit;



CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT

40  Venture Corporation Limited

f. to consider and review with Management and the internal auditors:

 i. signifi cant findings during the year and Management’s response thereto;

 ii. the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls over management, business and 

service systems and practices;

 iii. changes required in the planned scope of the audit plan and diffi culties encountered in the course 

of the internal audit, including any restrictions on the scope of their work or access to required 

information; and

 iv. the Internal Audit department budget and staffing;

g. to review legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, 

relevant compliance policies, and programmes and reports from regulators;

h. to meet with internal auditors, the external auditors and Management in separate executive sessions to 

discuss issues that these groups believe should be discussed privately with the Audit Committee;

i. to report actions and minutes of the Audit Committee to the Board with such recommendations as the 

Audit Committee deems appropriate;

j. to review and report to the Board on the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls; and

k. to review the independence of the external auditors annually.

The Audit Committee has full access to and the co-operation of Management. The external auditors and 

internal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee and meet with the Audit Committee without 

the presence of Management, at least once a year.

The Audit Committee, with the assistance of internal auditors, reviews and reports to the Board on the 

adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s system of controls, including fi nancial, operational, compliance and 

information technology controls, and risk management policies and systems established by Management. In 

assessing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, the Audit Committee ensures primarily that key 

objectives are met, material assets are properly safeguarded, there are adequate measures to detect and 

prevent fraud or errors in the accounting records, accounting records are accurate and complete, and reliable 

fi nancial information is prepared in compliance with applicable internal policies, laws and regulations.

The Audit Committee has reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors during the year and 

is of the opinion that the provision of such services will not affect the independence of the external auditors.

The Audit Committee has further taken measures to keep abreast of the changes to accounting standards and 

issues which have a direct impact on fi nancial statements, with briefings provided by professionals or external 

consultants.

Risk Management & Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk and ensures that Management maintains a sound system 

of risk management and internal controls. The Group has in place an Enterprise Risk Management Integrated 

Framework (“ERM Framework”). This ERM Framework sets out the formal, systematic and comprehensive 

guidelines and rules to identify and manage signifi cant risks that might affect the Group‘s achievement of 

its business objectives. The risk management process has been integrated throughout the Group and is an 
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essential part of its business planning and monitoring process. Policy and methodology have been introduced 

detailing procedures, methodologies and evaluation criteria to ensure clarity and consistency in the application 

of the risk management process across the Group. Key risks, control measures and management actions are 

continually identifi ed and monitored by the operational units and reviewed by Management. Leveraging on the 

results of the ERM, the CEO and the CFO would in turn provide an annual attestation to the Audit Committee 

relating to adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The Board has together with the Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s risk assessment programmes and 

internal control processes. The Board has received assurance from the CEO and the CFO as well, that for 

FY 2014, the Group’s internal controls including fi nancial, operational, compliance and information technology 

were adequate and effective; the Group’s risk management and internal control systems to address fi nancial, 

operational and compliance risks were adequate; the fi nancial records have been properly maintained and the 

fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s operations and fi nances. Based on the internal 

controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the internal and external auditors, 

reviews performed by Management and various Board Committees, and the assurance from the CEO and the 

CFO, the Board in concurrence with the Audit Committee, is of the opinion that the Group’s internal controls:

 including fi nancial, operational, compliance and information technology were adequate and effective as 

at 31 December 2014; and 

 were adequate to address fi nancial, operational and compliance risks, which the Group had considered 

relevant and material to its operations as at 31 December 2014.

The Board, however, notes that the system of internal controls provides reasonable, but not absolute, 

assurance that the Group will not be affected by any event that could be reasonably foreseen as it strives 

to achieve its business objectives. In this regard, the Board also notes that no system can provide absolute 

assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement in decision-making, human error, fraud or 

other irregularities.

In addition, the Company has adopted a Whistle-Blowing Policy for the Group to provide a channel for 

employees of the Group and third parties to report and to raise, in good faith and in confidence, any concerns 

about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The objective of the Whistle- 

Blowing Policy is to facilitate independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action(s).

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit department is an independent function that reports directly to the Chairman of the Audit 

Committee on audit matters and administratively to the CEO.

The Internal Audit Charter empowers the internal auditors to provide independent and objective assessments 

and consulting services which are designed to evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s system 

of internal controls. A risk-based approach is used to develop the annual audit plan to ensure that all high risk 

areas are monitored for proper coverage and audit frequency.

The Audit Committee reviews and approves the audit plans and resources to ensure that the internal auditors 

have the necessary resources to adequately and effectively perform their duties. The Internal Audit team 

employs suitably qualified and experienced personnel to provide audit and consulting services. They either 

possess a recognised degree in accountancy or an equivalent professional qualification. A training and 

development programme is in place to ensure that the internal auditors are equipped with technical knowledge 

and skill sets that are appropriate and relevant. The internal auditors will ensure that the standards set by 

locally or internationally recognised professional bodies are met.
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Investment Committee

The Investment Committee comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, one Executive Director, 

the President and CFO of the Company. They are Mr Goon Kok Loon, Mr Wong Yew Meng, Mr Jonathan 

S. Huberman, Mr Wong Ngit Liong, Mr Tan Kian Seng, and Mr Ng Chee Kwoon. The role of the Investment 

Committee is to set broad overall investment guidelines for the Company and to assess and review 

investments, opportunities and performance. The Investment Committee is chaired by Mr Wong Ngit Liong.

PRINCIPLES 14, 15 & 16
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Prompt and Fair Disclosure

The Company is committed to promoting effective communication with all shareholders. It has put in place 

established policies and procedures, ensuring all shareholders are provided with equal and timely access to 

material information concerning the Company.  Prompt and relevant information with regard to the Company’s 

corporate developments and financial performance is disseminated in compliance with its continuous 

disclosure obligations in line with the Code and the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

The Company’s communication framework and practices provide open and fair, as well as meaningful and 

timely shareholders’ communication and interaction.

In recent years, the Company was twice presented with the Certifi cate of Excellence in Investor Relations at the 

IR Magazine South East Asia Awards. This is a testament to the Company’s continuing efforts to provide the 

investment community with prompt, effective and meaningful communication.

Every quarter, the Company holds a briefi ng session after the release of its quarterly fi nancial results. The CEO, 

President and the CFO preside over the briefing session and offer a comprehensive review of the Company’s 

performance. Financial analysts, shareholders and the media have access to the briefing session. An 

information package comprising the fi nancial statements, press announcement and a set of presentation slides 

are shared with all participants. The same information package is disseminated through the SGX-ST SGXNet 

System at the time of the briefing and simultaneously made available on the Company’s corporate website for 

ease of access and download.

Immediately following its results announcement each quarter, the Company establishes shareholder 

communication via a series of local non-deal road shows, global video conferences, conference calls and one-

on-one meetings. The various channels of shareholder communication enable Management and the Corporate 

Communications team to share the same information across a wider group of investors.

Management takes an active role in participating in investor relations activities, meeting regularly with local 

and foreign shareholders and the investment community. During the year, the Company conducted more 

than 200 investor communication engagements covering non-deal road shows, corporate access forums and 

conferences, one-on-one and group meetings and conference calls.

The Corporate Communications team handles queries by analysts, investors and shareholders in the form 

of letters, electronic mail, web portal mails and telephone calls. The Company endeavours to respond to all 

queries expeditiously. In addition, explanations and clarifi cations are provided to all interested parties on an 

equal-opportunity basis. This practice by the Company is in-line with its commitment towards fair disclosure 

and SGX-ST rules.
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The Company continues to receive support from over 20 equity sales and research institutions that regularly 

provide reports and updates on the Company to the investment community. To ensure accuracy of the 

coverage, the Company initiates direct and regular communications with the fi nancial analysts and equity sales 

teams of these institutions.

The Company’s Report to Shareholders is filed on an annual basis. The Report, together with the Notice of 

AGM, Letter to Shareholders and Circular, if applicable, are delivered by post to all shareholders, including 

overseas shareholders, within the mandatory period, providing shareholders with adequate time to review the 

documents thoroughly.

The Company also publishes the Notice of AGM and Notice of EGM, if applicable, in a major local news 

publication and on its corporate website. Full copies of the Notices are also lodged with the SGX-ST.

Shareholders’ Interactions

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s AGM and EGM. However if they are not able to, 

the Articles allow each shareholder to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote at general meetings on 

his/her behalf. The Articles do not provide for shareholders to vote at the Company’s AGMs and EGMs in 

absentia such as via mail, electronic mail or facsimile transmission. It will consider implementing the relevant 

amendment to its Articles if the Board is of the view that there is demand for the same, and after the Company 

has evaluated and put in place the necessary security measures to facilitate absentia voting and safeguards to 

protect against errors, fraud and other irregularities.

The Company’s AGM and EGM, if applicable, are attended by all the Directors, external auditors, the Company 

Secretary and Management. Prior to the commencement of the AGM, the Company makes a presentation, 

highlighting key business developments and its full year financial performance. Shareholders are given the 

opportunity to share their views and put their questions to the meeting(s). The Company encourages active 

discussion and interaction with its shareholders during the meeting(s).

The Company will continue to engage its investors and shareholders through various channels of 

communication on the premise of providing accurate, consistent and timely information at all times.

Dividend

The Board of Directors has recommended a fi nal dividend of 50 cents per share on a one-tier tax-exempt basis 

for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2014. When considering dividend payments, the Board reviews a 

wide range of factors including the Company’s profitability, cash flow, future earnings, working capital, capital 

expenditure requirements, investment plans, as well as other corporate considerations. Dividends have been 

declared on an annual basis.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the AGM to be held on 29 April 2015, the proposed dividend will be 

paid on 20 May 2015. The Share Transfer Books and Register of Members of Venture Corporation Limited will 

be closed from 5.00 pm on 7 May 2015 to 8 May 2015 (both dates inclusive) for the preparation of dividend 

warrants.

ENGAGEMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The Company has considered the adequacy of the resources and experience of the audit firm, the audit 

engagement partner assigned to the audit, the firm’s other audit engagements, the size and complexity of 

the Group, and the number and experience of supervisory and professional staff assigned to the audit and is 

satisfied that the re-appointment of the external auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP would be in compliance with 

Rule 712 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.
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The Board and the Audit Committee have also reviewed and are accordingly satisfied that the appointment 

of different audit firms for a small number of the Company’s subsidiaries and associates (as set out on pages 

102 to 107 of this Annual Report) would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit of the 

Company and the Group.  None of the Company’s subsidiaries are listed on a stock exchange. Two of the 

Company’s associates, Fischer Tech Ltd and DMX Technologies Group Limited are listed on the SGX-ST. The 

subsidiaries which have significant contributions in terms of revenue and net assets are all audited by member 

firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (“DTTL”). The subsidiaries and associates which are audited by non-

DTTL member firms are insignifi cant and do not have material revenue contribution or net assets. In this regard, 

the Company has complied with Rule 716 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

The aggregate amount of fees paid to the external auditors for audit and non-audit services are set out in Note 

28 to the fi nancial statements.

INTERNAL CODE ON DEALINGS WITH SECURITIES

An internal code, which complies with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, with respect to 

dealings in securities of the Company, has been issued to Directors and officers. The Company, its Directors 

and officers are not allowed to deal in the Company’s shares within two weeks before the announcement of its 

results for the first three quarters of the year. The Company, its Directors and officers are not allowed to deal in 

the Company’s shares one month before the announcement of its full year results.

The Company, its Directors and officers are not expected to deal in the Company’s securities on considerations 

of a short-term nature.

The Company, its Directors and officers are required to observe insider trading provisions under the Securities 

and Futures Act (Cap 289) at all times even when dealing in the Company’s securities within the permitted 

periods. Directors of the Company are required to report all dealings to the Company Secretary.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported 

in a timely manner to the Audit Committee and that the transactions are carried out on normal commercial 

terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its shareholders.

There were no transactions conducted with interested persons in 2014.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests of 

the CEO, Directors, controlling shareholders or key executives, which were either subsisting at the end of the 

fi nancial year or, if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous fi nancial year.
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General (a) Has the Company complied with 

all the principles and guidelines 

of the Code?  If not, please state 

the specific deviations and the 

alternative corporate governance 

practices adopted by the Company 

in lieu of the recommendations in 

the Code. 

(b) In what respect do these alternative 

corporate governance practices 

achieve the objectives of the 

principles and conform to the 

guidelines in the Code?

Directors objectively discharge their duties and 

responsibilities as fi duciaries  in the interests of 

the Company. They exercise an oversight role, 

acting in the interests of all stakeholders, and that 

includes shareholders.   The Directors are well 

placed to serve the interests of the Company and 

its stakeholders even without the implementation 

of a share scheme for Directors.

Board Responsibility 

Guideline 

1.5

What are the types of material transactions 

which require approval from the Board?

The Board has adopted internal guidelines setting 

out approval limits for capital expenditure, bank 

facilities and transactions, and matters requiring 

its approval, such as investment proposals and 

major transactions. The matters requiring the 

Board’s review and approval include, inter alia,:

a. release of any financial results and 

disclosures of material information;

b. recommendation of any amendment to 

the Company’s Articles of Association 

(“Articles”) for shareholders’ approval;

c. appointment of Corporate Representative 

to subsidiaries for representing the 

Company in various matters;

d. opening or closing of bank accounts, 

change of bank authorised signatories, 

mode of operations and dealing 

mandates with the Company’s banks and 

acceptance of offers of banking facilities, 

any borrowings, or fi nancial commitment 

related to grant of guarantees, securities 

and collateral guarantees by the Company;

e. acquisition or disposition of any material 

interest in any land or real property or 

assets other than in the ordinary course of 

business;
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f. establishment, acquisition or incorporation 

of any subsidiary or winding up, dissolution 

or placement of any subsidiary under 

receivership or judicial management; and

g. creation of any mortgage, pledge, bond, 

charge, lien or any other encumbrance on 

the Company’s assets, in whole or in part.

Members of the Board

Guideline 

2.6

(a) What is the Board’s policy with 

regard to diversity in identifying 

director nominees?

(b) Please state whether the current 

composition of the Board provides 

diversity on each of the following 

– skills, experience, gender and 

knowledge of the Company, and 

elaborate with numerical data where 

appropriate.

(c) What steps has the Board taken 

to achieve the balance and 

diversity necessary to maximize its 

effectiveness?

(a) The Board believes that diversity in board 

composition is essential for a Board to 

perform effectively. The Board’s practice 

is to identify potential board members 

from a wide pool of talents with diverse 

skills, competencies, experience and 

knowledge who are able to offer a variety 

of insights and ideas to Board discussions 

and therefore enabling the Board to view 

matters with a wider perspective.  

(b) Other than gender, the Board has a 

diversity of skills and experience. The 

profile of the Board of Directors can 

be found on Pages 19 to 21 of the 

Company’s Annual Report 2014.

(c) It considers prospective candidates 

from an extensive network of contacts, 

evaluates and shortlists candidates with 

the relevant experience and expertise 

in some or all of the following areas of 

general management; fi nance, accounting 

and governance aspects; and knowledge 

of the Group’s industry, business and 

markets. Suitable candidates are 

then recommended to the Board for 

consideration.

Guideline 

4.6

Please describe the board nomination 

process for the Company in the last 

financial year for (i) selecting and 

appointing new directors and (ii) re-electing 

incumbent directors.

The Nominating Committee has a formal and 

transparent selection process for new Directors.  

It assesses the appropriate mix of expertise 

and experience needed for an effective Board 

and recommends the qualities and profile of 

candidates most suited, taking into consideration 

factors such as experience, expertise and current 

board composition.  
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All Directors subject themselves for re-nomination 

and re-election at least once every three years, 

pursuant to the Articles. Directors appointed 

by the Board during the fi nancial year shall only 

hold offi ce until the next AGM, and thereafter, be 

eligible for re-election at the AGM. 

In considering the nomination, the Nominating 

Committee took into account the contribution of 

the Directors with reference to their attendance 

and participation at meetings of the Board and 

Board Committees, as well as the profi ciency 

with which they have discharged their 

responsibilities.

The Board has accepted the Nominating 

Committee’s recommendations to seek approval 

from shareholders at the forthcoming AGM to 

re-appoint Directors retiring under Section 153(6) 

of the Companies Act and to re-elect the Director 

under Article 74 of the Articles.

The Directors who are being considered for re-

election or re-appointment each abstained from 

the discussion and taking a decision in respect of 

their own nomination.

Guideline 

1.6

(a) Are new directors given formal 

training?  If not, please explain why. 

(b) What are the types of information 

and training provided to (i) new 

directors and (ii) existing directors to 

keep them up-to-date?

On appointment, a new Director is advised of his 

duties and obligations. Lines of communication, 

including direct access to the Chairman, 

Company Secretary and Management are 

immediately established. This provides a new 

Director with the opportunity to establish 

exchanges and to exercise his statutory duties.

The Company Secretary also facilitates 

orientation and training of new Directors as well 

as updates Directors on new developments 

in corporate governance, legal and regulatory 

matters.
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Guideline 

4.4

(a) What is the maximum number 

of  l is ted company board 

representations that the Company 

has prescribed for its directors? 

What are the reasons for this 

number?

 

(b) If a maximum number has not been 

determined, what are the reasons?

(c) What are the specifi c considerations 

in deciding on the capacity of 

directors?

Six, taking into consideration, inter alia, market 

capitalisation of the other listed companies the 

Director may be on the board of, fi nancial year 

end, schedule of meetings, time commitment 

required, intensity of participation, whether the 

Director has executive responsibilities in other 

organisations or other principal commitments, as 

well as the individual Director’s ability.

Board Evaluation

Guideline 

5.1

(a) What was the process upon which 

the Board reached the conclusion 

on its performance for the fi nancial 

year?  

(b) Has the Board met its performance 

objectives?  

(a) A Board performance evaluation exercise 

is carried out annually to evaluate the 

performance of the Board and Board 

Committees in discharging their roles. The 

evaluation process includes distributing 

evaluation questionnaires to the Directors, 

collating the feedback of the individual 

Directors for the Nominating Committee 

to review and thereafter present to the 

Board. The Board then meets to discuss 

the fi ndings collectively. The objective of 

the annual evaluation exercise is to assess, 

inter alia, the Board processes, Director 

development programmes, the contribution 

and effectiveness of the Board and Board 

Committees as a whole and the quality of 

interaction between the Management and 

the Board. 

(b) The Board had met its objectives by: 

 a. providing oversight and guidance 

to the leadership team, reviewing 

strategic objectives, and confi rming 

that the Company has the fi nancial 

and human resources to meet its 

objectives;

 b. reviewing management performance;
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 c. setting the Company’s values 

and standards (including ethical 

standards), and ensuring that 

obligations to shareholders and 

other stakeholders are understood 

and met;

 d. considering sustainability issues, 

e.g. environmental and social 

factors, as part of its strategic 

formulation;

 e. establishing a framework of prudent 

and effective controls which 

enables risks to be assessed and 

managed, including safeguarding 

of stakeholders’ interests and the 

Company’s assets which includes:

  (i) determining the Company’s 

level of r isk tolerance 

and risk policies, and 

overseeing Management in 

the design, implementation 

and monitoring of risk 

management and internal 

control systems and

  (ii) at least once annually, 

reviewing the adequacy 

and effectiveness of the 

Company’s risk management 

and  in te r na l  con t ro l 

systems, including financial, 

operational, compliance, 

and information technology 

controls; and

 f. ensuring that there is regular 

dialogue by the Company with 

shareholders, to gather views, and 

address shareholders’ concerns.

Independence of Directors

Guideline 

2.1

Does the Company comply with the 

guideline on the proportion of independent 

directors on the Board?  If not, please 

state the reasons for the deviation and the 

remedial action taken by the Company.

Six out of seven of the Board members are 

independent directors.
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Guideline 

2.3

(a) Is there any director who is deemed 

to be independent by the Board, 

notwithstanding the existence of a 

relationship as stated in the Code 

that would otherwise deem him not 

to be independent? If so, please 

identify the director and specify the 

nature of such relationship.

(b) What are the Board’s reasons for 

considering him independent? 

Please provide a detai led 

explanation.

Nil

Not applicable

Guideline 

2.4

Has any independent director served on 

the Board for more than nine years from 

the date of his fi rst appointment?  If so, 

please identify the director and set out 

the Board’s reasons for considering him 

independent.

The following were some of the factors 

considered in reviewing the independence of 

Directors who have served beyond nine years:-

a. whether the Director is free from any 

dealings, relationships or circumstances 

that could affect or appear to affect their 

independent judgement, particularly 

with regards to whether the Director has 

indicated or demonstrated an alignment 

or habitual support for any specifi c group 

of stakeholders e.g. specifi c shareholders, 

instead of representing the interests of all 

stakeholders;

b. whether the length of service has had any 

adverse impact on the Director’s objectivity 

and judgement and whether during the 

tenure there has been any impairment 

to his ability to discharge his duties and 

responsibilities in the overall interest of 

the Group, taking into consideration the 

interests of all stakeholders; and

c. whether the Director continues to exhibit a 

fi rm commitment to his role and continues 

to actively contribute with the knowledge 

and experience of the Group’s business 

built up over the years.

Based on these considerations, the Board 

concurred with the Nominating Committee’s 

views that the three Directors who have served 

beyond nine years on the Board, namely, 

Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong, Mr Koh Lee 

Boon and Mr Goon Kok Loon are considered 

independent.
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Disclosure on Remuneration

Guideline 

9.2

Has the Company disclosed each 

director’s and the CEO’s remuneration as 

well as a breakdown (in percentage or 

dollar terms) into base/fi xed salary, variable 

or performance-related income/bonuses, 

benefi ts in kind, stock options granted, 

share-based incentives and awards, and 

other long-term incentives?  If not, what 

are the reasons for not disclosing so?

The Directors’ fee structure of the Board and 

Board Committees can be found on Page 36 of 

the Company’s Annual Report 2014.

The Remuneration Committee has recommended 

payment of S$403,333 as Directors’ fees for 

FY 2014, subject to approval by shareholders 

at the Company’s forthcoming AGM. There has 

been no change to the Directors’ fees per annum 

since the last revision for FY 2010. A breakdown 

showing the proposed Directors’ fee of each 

Director for FY 2014 can be found on Page 37 of 

the Company’s Annual Report 2014.

As Chairman of the Board and Executive Director, 

CEO Mr Wong Ngit Liong does not receive 

Director’s fees. As a member of Management, his 

remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration 

Committee and it comprises both cash-based 

and share-based components. Information on 

the CEO’s remuneration including options granted 

pursuant to Venture Corporation Executives’ 

Share Option Scheme 2004 (“2004 Scheme”) 

and Venture Corporation Executives’ Share 

Option Scheme 2015 (“2015 Scheme”) is set 

out on Page 37 of the Company’s Annual Report 

2014.

Guideline 

9.3

(a) Has the Company disclosed each 

key management personnel’s 

remunerat ion, in bands of 

S$250,000 or in more detail, as well 

as a breakdown (in percentage or 

dollar terms) into base/fi xed salary, 

variable or performance-related 

income/bonuses, benefi ts in kind, 

stock options granted, share-based 

incentives and awards, and other 

long-term incentives?  If not, what 

are the reasons for not disclosing 

so?

(b) Please disclose the aggregate 

remuneration paid to the top fi ve 

key management personnel (who 

are not directors or the CEO).

In FY 2014, the key management personnel 

(who are not directors or CEO) are Mr Tan 

Kian Seng, Mr Lee Ghai Keen, Mr Dharma 

Nadarajah, Mr Ng Chee Kwoon and Mr Lim 

Sita. The aggregate cash-based remuneration 

of these key management personnel in FY 2014 

is S$3,019,711. The percentage breakdown of 

the fi xed and variable components, as well as 

options granted pursuant to the 2004 Scheme, 

2015 Scheme and awards granted pursuant to 

the Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”) adopted by 

the Company in 2011, for each individual is as 

set out on Page 38 of the Company’s Annual 

Report 2014. In making available the aggregate 

remuneration of the key management personnel 

and in bands, the Company provides a macro 

perspective without compromising the Group’s 

business interests and minimises competitive 

pressures which would arise from more detailed 

disclosures.
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Guideline 

9.4

Is there any employee who is an 

immediate family member of a director 

or the CEO, and whose remuneration 

exceeds S$50,000 during the year?  If so, 

please identify the employee and specify 

the relationship with the relevant director or 

the CEO. 

There are no immediate family members of a 

Director or the CEO in a managerial role in the 

Company.

Guideline 

9.6

(a) P lease descr ibe how the 

remuneration received by executive 

directors and key management 

personnel has been determined by 

the performance criteria. 

(b) What were the performance 

conditions used to determine their 

entitlement under the short-term 

and long-term incentive schemes?

(c) Were all of these performance 

conditions met?  If not, what were 

the reasons? 

Venture believes in attracting, motivating and 

retaining talents to achieve its business goals 

and to create long-term sustainable value for 

its stakeholders. Total remuneration comprises 

fi xed and variable elements and some of the 

factors determining the total remuneration include 

contribution to achievement of organisation and 

business objectives. Employees are encouraged 

to be innovative, entrepreneurial and impactful to 

transform and differentiate the Group to further its 

competitiveness, with appropriate rewards and 

recognition policies.

Overall, the Executive Director and key 

management personnel had worked towards 

achieving the Company’s business objectives 

through their respective contributions and results 

are expected to manifest over time.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Guideline 

6.1

What types of information does the 

Company provide to independent directors 

to enable them to understand its business, 

the business and fi nancial environment as 

well as the risks faced by the Company? 

How frequently is the information 

provided?

The agenda for the meetings of the Board and 

Board Committees, together with the appropriate 

supporting documents, are circulated to the 

Board and Board Committees prior to the 

meetings.

In addition, to ensure that the Board is able to 

fulfi l its responsibilities and to make informed 

decisions in a timely manner, the Management 

provides an annual financial plan, monthly 

management accounts and reports, including 

other relevant information or documents regularly 

to the Board. The Management is also invited to 

attend Board meetings to provide updates on 

the Group’s operations and business, to furnish 

additional information on various corporate 

matters and/or to discuss issues which the 

Directors may raise.
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Analysts’ reports on the Company have been 

forwarded to the Directors on an on-going basis 

for information.

The Company Secretary who is present at all 

Board and Board Committees meetings, ensures 

that Board procedures and applicable rules and 

regulations are followed and complied with, 

advises and provides guidance on corporate 

governance, legal and regulatory compliance 

matters. Under the direction of the Chairman, 

the Company Secretary’s responsibilities include 

ensuring good information flow within the 

Board and Board Committees and between 

Management and Non-Executive Directors. The 

Company Secretary also facilitates orientation 

and training of new Directors as well as updates 

Directors on new developments in corporate 

governance, legal and regulatory matters.

Guideline 

13.1

Does the Company have an internal audit 

function?  If not, please explain why.

Yes, the Internal Audit department is an 

independent function that reports directly to 

the Chairman of the Audit Committee on audit 

matters and administratively to the CEO.

Guideline 

11.3

(a) In relation to the major risks faced 

by the Company, including fi nancial, 

operational, compliance, information 

technology and sustainability, please 

state the bases for the Board’s view 

on the adequacy and effectiveness of 

the Company’s internal controls and 

risk management systems.

(b) In respect of the past 12 months, 

has the Board received assurance 

from the CEO and the CFO as 

well as the internal auditor that: 

(i) the financial records have been 

properly maintained and the fi nancial 

statements give true and fair view 

of the Company’s operations and 

fi nances; and (ii) the Company’s risk 

management and internal control 

systems are effective? If not, how 

does the Board assure itself of points 

(i) and (ii) above?

The Company has an Enterprise Risk 

Management Integrated Framework (“ERM 

Framework”) in place, as well as risk 

management process where key risks, control 

measures and management actions are 

continually identified and monitored by the 

operational units and reviewed by Management. 

Based on the results of the ERM, CEO and 

CFO provide annual attestation to the Audit 

Committee on the adequacy and effectiveness 

of the Company’s internal controls and risk 

management systems.  
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The Audit Committee, with the assistance of 
internal auditors, reviews and reports to the 
Board on the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Group’s system of controls, including 
f inancial, operational, compliance and 
information technology controls, and 
risk management policies and systems 
established by Management. In assessing the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls, 
the Audit Committee ensures primarily that 
key objectives are met, material assets are 
properly safeguarded, there are adequate 
measures to detect and prevent fraud or errors 
in the accounting records, accounting records 
are accurate and complete, and reliable fi nancial 
information is prepared in compliance with 
applicable internal policies, laws and regulations.

The Board has together with the Audit 
Committee reviewed the Group’s risk assessment 
programmes and internal control processes. 
The Board has received assurance from the 
CEO and the CFO as well, that for FY 2014, 
the Group’s internal controls including fi nancial, 
operational, compliance and information 
technology were adequate and effective; the 
Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems to address fi nancial, operational and 
compliance risks were adequate; the fi nancial 
records have been properly maintained and the 
fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of 
the Group’s operations and fi nances. Based on 
the internal controls established and maintained 
by the Group, work performed by the internal 
and external auditors, reviews performed by 
Management and various Board Committees, 
and the assurance from the CEO and the 
CFO, the Board in concurrence with the Audit 
Committee, is of the opinion that the Group’s 
internal controls:

 including fi nancial, operational, compliance 
and information technology were adequate 
and effective as at 31 December 2014; 
and

 were adequate to address financial, 
operational and compliance risks, which 
the Group had considered relevant 
and material to its operations as at 31 

December 2014.
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Guideline 

12.6

(a) Please provide a breakdown of the 

fees paid in total to the external 

auditors for audit and non-audit 

services for the fi nancial year.

(b) If the external auditors have 

supplied a substantial volume of 

non-audit services to the Company, 

please state the bases for the 

Audit Committee’s view on the 

independence of the external 

auditors.

(a) Please refer to Note 28 to the fi nancial  

statements on Page 124 of the Company’s 

Annual Report 2014. 

(b) The Audit Committee has reviewed all non-

audit services provided by the external 

auditors during the year and is of the 

opinion that the provision of such services 

will not affect the independence of the 

external auditors, as the volume is not 

material.

Communication with Shareholders 

Guideline 

15.4

(a) Does the Company regularly 

communicate with shareholders 

and attend to their questions? How 

often does the Company meet with 

institutional and retail investors?

(b) Is this done by a dedicated investor 

relations team (or equivalent)? If not, 

who performs this role?

(c) How does the Company keep 

shareholders informed of corporate 

developments, apart from SGXNET 

announcements and the annual 

report?

(a) Every quarter, the Company holds a 

briefing session after the release of its 

quarterly financial results. The CEO, 

President and the CFO preside over the 

briefi ng session and offer a comprehensive 

review of the Company’s performance. 

Financial analysts, shareholders and the 

media have access to the briefi ng session. 

An information package comprising the 

fi nancial statements, press announcement 

and a set of presentation slides are shared 

with all participants. The same information 

package is disseminated through the 

SGX-ST SGXNet System at the time of the 

briefi ng and simultaneously made available 

on the Company’s corporate website for 

ease of access and download.

 Immediately fol lowing its results 

announcement each quarter, the Company 

establishes shareholder communication 

via a series of local non-deal road shows, 

global video conferences, conference calls 

and one-on-one meetings. The various 

channels of shareholder communication 

enables Management and the Corporate 

Communications team to share the same 

information across a wider group of 

investors.
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(b) The Corporate Communications team 

handles queries by analysts, investors 

and shareholders in the form of letters, 

electronic mail, web portal mails and 

telephone calls.

(c) Management takes an active role 

in participating in investor relations 

activities, meeting regularly with local and 

foreign shareholders and the investment 

community. During the year, the Company 

conducted more than 200 investor 

communication engagements covering 

non-deal road shows, corporate access 

forums and conferences, one-on-one and 

group meetings and conference calls. 

 The Company continues to receive support 

from over 20 equity sales and research 

institutions that regularly provide reports 

and updates on the Company to the 

investment community. To ensure accuracy 

of the coverage, the Company initiates 

direct and regular communications with the 

fi nancial analysts and equity sales teams of 

these institutions.

Guideline 

15.5

If the Company is not paying any dividends 

for the fi nancial year, please explain why.

Not applicable, as the Board of Directors has 

recommended a fi nal dividend of 50 cents per 

share on a one-tier tax-exempt basis for the 

fi nancial year ended 31 December 2014, subject 

to the approval of shareholders at the AGM to be 

held on 29 April 2015.



 58  Report of the Directors

 64  Statement of Directors

 65  Independent Auditors’ Report  

 66  Statements of Financial Position

 68  Consolidated Statement of Profi t or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

 69  Statements of Changes in Equity

 71  Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

 73  Notes to Financial Statements

 132  Analysis of Shareholdings

 134  Share Performance

 135  Notice of Annual General Meeting

 142  Notice of Book Closure

STATUTORY ACCOUNTS & 
INFORMATION FOR
SHAREHOLDERS

57Annual Report 2014



REPORT OF 
THE DIRECTORS

58  Venture Corporation Limited

 The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and 

statement of fi nancial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the fi nancial year ended 

31 December 2014.

1 DIRECTORS

 The Directors of the Company in offi ce at the date of this report are:

 

 Wong Ngit Liong 

 Cecil Vivian Richard Wong 

 Koh Lee Boon 

 Goon Kok Loon 

 Wong Yew Meng 

 Tan Choon Huat 

 Jonathan S. Huberman (Appointed on 2 January 2015)

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS
 BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 Neither at the end of the fi nancial year nor at any time during the fi nancial year did there subsist any 

arrangement whose object is to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefi ts by means of 

the acquisition of shares or debentures in the Company or any other body corporate, except for the 

options and awards mentioned in paragraphs 3, 5 and 6 of the Report of the Directors.

3 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

 The Directors of the Company holding offi ce at the end of the fi nancial year had no interests in the share 

capital and debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of Directors’ 

shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as 

follows:

 

Names of Directors and Company
in which interests are held

Shareholdings registered 
in the names of Directors

At 1 January 2014 At 31 December 2014
Ordinary shares of the Company

The Company

Wong Ngit Liong 19,166,619 19,166,619

Koh Lee Boon 3,000 3,000

Tan Choon Huat 4,118,145 4,118,145

Share options to 
subscribe for shares of the Company

Wong Ngit Liong 310,000 380,000

Tan Choon Huat 50,000 50,000
 

 The Directors’ interests as at 21 January 2015 are the same as those as at 31 December 2014.
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4 DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

 Since the beginning of the fi nancial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive a benefi t 

which is required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a 

contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a fi rm of which he is a 

member, or with a company in which he has a substantial fi nancial interest except for salaries, bonuses 

and other benefi ts as disclosed in the fi nancial statements. 

5 SHARE OPTIONS

 (a) The Venture Corporation Executives’ Share Option Scheme (“the 2004 Scheme”)

  (i) The 2004 Scheme in respect of unissued ordinary shares in the Company was approved 

by the shareholders of the Company in an Extraordinary General Meeting on 30 April 

2004 and had expired on 30 April 2014. Notwithstanding the expiry of the 2004 Scheme, 

any outstanding and unexercised options held by option holders prior to such expiry will 

continue to remain valid.

  (ii) Under the 2004 Scheme, an option entitles the option holder to subscribe for a specifi ed 

number of new ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company, at the subscription 

price determined with reference to the market price of the shares at the time of the grant of 

the option and adjusted for certain premium depending on when the options are exercised, 

and may be exercised during the exercise period applicable to those options and in 

accordance with a vesting schedule to be determined by the Remuneration Committee on 

the date of the grant.  No options have been granted at a discount.
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  (iii) Details of the unissued shares under options granted pursuant to the 2004 Scheme, 

options granted, exercised and cancelled/lapsed during the fi nancial year, and options 

outstanding as at 31 December 2014 were as follows:

  

Number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company

Date of grant

Outstanding
at 1 January

2014 Granted Exercised
Cancelled/

Lapsed

Outstanding 
at 31 

December
2014

Subscription
price

per share
Exercisable 

period

16 March 2010  2,182,000  –  –  (152,000)  2,030,000 $10.590 (a) 16 March 2011 

to

15 March 2015
$9.320 (b)

$8.890 (c)

$8.470 (d)

15 September 2010  2,262,000  –  –  (169,000)  2,093,000 $11.010 (e) 15 September 

2011 to

14 September 

2015

$9.689 (f)

$9.248 (g)

$8.808 (h)

16 September 2011  2,527,000  –  (28,000)  (196,000)  2,303,000 $8.880 (i) 16 September 

2012 to

15 September 

2016

$7.814 (j)

$7.459 (k)

$7.104 (l)

14 September 2012  2,795,000  –  –  (202,000)  2,593,000 $9.895 (m) 14 September 

2013 to

13 September 

2017

$8.708 (n)

$8.312 (o)

$7.916 (p)

16 September 2013  3,284,000  –  –  (240,000)  3,044,000 $9.500 (q) 16 September 

2014 to

15 September 

2018

$8.360 (r)

$7.980 (s)

$7.600 (t)

3 April 2014  –  2,979,000  –  (150,000)  2,829,000 $9.315 (u) 3 April 2015

to 

2 April 2019
$8.570 (v)

$7.452 (w)

 13,050,000  2,979,000  (28,000)  (1,109,000)  14,892,000

  
   (a) If exercised between 16 March 2011 and 15 March 2012

   (b) If exercised between 16 March 2012 and 15 March 2013

   (c) If exercised between 16 March 2013 and 15 March 2014

   (d) If exercised between 16 March 2014 and 15 March 2015

   (e) If exercised between 15 September 2011 and 14 September 2012

   (f) If exercised between 15 September 2012 and 14 September 2013

   (g) If exercised between 15 September 2013 and 14 September 2014

   (h) If exercised between 15 September 2014 and 14 September 2015

   (i) If exercised between 16 September 2012 and 15 September 2013

   (j) If exercised between 16 September 2013 and 15 September 2014

   (k) If exercised between 16 September 2014 and 15 September 2015

   (l) If exercised between 16 September 2015 and 15 September 2016

   (m) If exercised between 14 September 2013 and 13 September 2014

   (n) If exercised between 14 September 2014 and 13 September 2015

   (o) If exercised between 14 September 2015 and 13 September 2016

   (p) If exercised between 14 September 2016 and 13 September 2017

   (q) If exercised between 16 September 2014 and 15 September 2015

   (r) If exercised between 16 September 2015 and 15 September 2016

   (s) If exercised between 16 September 2016 and 15 September 2017

   (t) If exercised between 16 September 2017 and 15 September 2018

   (u) If exercised between 3 April 2015 and 2 April 2016

   (v) If exercised between 3 April 2016 and 2 April 2017

   (w) If exercised between 3 April 2017 and 2 April 2019
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  (iv) The following are details of options granted to the Directors and employees of the Group 

under the 2004 Scheme: 

Number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company

Name of participant

Options 
granted

during the 
fi nancial year

Aggregate 
options

granted since
commencement

of Scheme
to end of the
fi nancial year

Aggregate 
options

exercised since
commencement

of Scheme
to end of the
fi nancial year

Aggregate 
options

cancelled/
lapsed since

commencement
of Scheme

to end of the
fi nancial year

Aggregate
options

outstanding as 
at end of the
fi nancial year

i) Directors of the Company:

Wong Ngit Liong  70,000  576,000  –  (196,000)  380,000

Tan Choon Huat  –  264,000  –  (214,000)  50,000

ii) Other Employees  2,909,000  28,840,000  (869,000)  (13,509,000)  14,462,000

 2,979,000  29,680,000  (869,000)  (13,919,000)  14,892,000

 (b) The Venture Corporation Executives’ Share Option Scheme (“the 2015 Scheme”)

  (i) The 2015 Scheme in respect of unissued ordinary shares in the Company was approved by 

the shareholders of the Company in an Extraordinary General Meeting on 25 April 2014 and 

commenced on 1 January 2015.

  (ii) Under the 2015 Scheme, an option entitles the option holder to subscribe for a specifi ed 

number of new ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company, at the subscription 

price determined with reference to the market price of the shares at the time of the grant of 

the option and adjusted for certain premium depending on when the options are exercised, 

and may be exercised during the exercise period applicable to those options and in 

accordance with a vesting schedule to be determined by the Remuneration Committee on 

the date of the grant.  No options had been granted at a discount.

  (iii) There are no options granted under the 2015 Scheme.

 The 2004 Scheme and 2015 Scheme are administered by the Remuneration Committee whose 

members are:

 

 Koh Lee Boon (Chairman)

 Cecil Vivian Richard Wong 

 Goon Kok Loon 

 No employee of the Company or employee of related corporations has received 5% or more of the total 

options available under these schemes.

 There are no options granted to any of the Company’s controlling shareholders or their associates as 

defi ned in the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

 There are no other unissued shares of the Company or its subsidiaries under option at the end of the 

fi nancial year except as disclosed above.
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6 RESTRICTED SHARES

 The Venture Corporation Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”) was approved at the Extraordinary General 

Meeting held on 28 April 2011. 

 The RSP is to encourage sustained commitment from key leaders to grow shareholder value over a long 

period of time through a sense of ownership in the Company. The RSP will also align the interests of key 

leaders as stakeholders of the Company.  

 The RSP is administered by the Remuneration Committee (“Committee”) whose members are all 

Independent Non-Executive Directors.

 Managers in senior positions in the Group or leadership positions in management, technology or 

possess other domain expertise and competencies and who are in a position to contribute or have 

signifi cantly contributed to the performance, growth and profi tability of the Group, as may be designated 

by the Committee, shall be eligible to participate in the RSP.  Such managers must have been employed 

in the Company and/or its subsidiaries for a minimum period as determined by the Committee.

 The mode of settlement of the awards under the RSP may be by way of:

 (i) allotment and issue of new shares; and/or

 (ii) the delivery of existing shares; and/or

 (iii) payment of the equivalent value in cash (after deduction of any applicable taxes and Central 

Provident Fund and/or other statutory contributions); and/or

 (iv) a combination of above (i), (ii) and (iii).

 Size of RSP

 If new shares are issued to participants, the number of new shares issued:

 (i) when added to the number of new shares issued and issuable and existing shares delivered 

and deliverable in respect of all awards granted under the RSP, shall not exceed 3% of the total 

number of issued shares (excluding shares held in treasury) from time to time;

 (ii) when added to the number of new shares issued and issuable and existing shares delivered and 

deliverable in respect of (a) all awards granted under the RSP; and (b) all options granted and 

outstanding under the 2004 Scheme, shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares 

(excluding shares held in treasury) on the day preceding the relevant date of grant, where the 

relevant date of grant falls on or prior to 30 April 2014; and

 (iii) when added to the number of new shares issued and issuable and existing shares delivered and 

deliverable in respect of (a) all awards granted under the RSP; and (b) all options granted and 

outstanding under the 2015 Scheme, shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares 

(excluding shares held in treasury) on the day preceding the relevant date of grant, where the 

relevant date of grant falls after 30 April 2014.
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 Movements in the awards by the Company during the respective fi nancial years were as follows:
 

2014 2013

At 1 January  270,000  150,000

Granted  120,000  120,000

At 31 December  390,000  270,000

7 AUDIT COMMITTEE

 The Audit Committee comprises four members, all of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors.  

The members of the Committee are:

 

 Goon Kok Loon (Chairman)

 Cecil Vivian Richard Wong 

 Koh Lee Boon 

 Wong Yew Meng 

 The Audit Committee held four meetings since the date of the last Directors’ report.

 The functions of the Audit Committee are disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report.

 The Audit Committee has recommended to the Directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for 

re-appointment as external auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company.

8 AUDITORS

 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Wong Ngit Liong

Chairman of the Board

Goon Kok Loon

Director

25 March 2015
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In the opinion of the Directors, the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of 

fi nancial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 66 to 131 are 

drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 

31 December 2014, and of the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group and changes in equity 

of the Company for the fi nancial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable 

grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Wong Ngit Liong

Chairman of the Board

Goon Kok Loon

Director

25 March 2015
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TO THE MEMBERS OF VENTURE CORPORATION LIMITED

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of Venture Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated statement of fi nancial position of the Group and 
the statement of fi nancial position of the Company as at 31 December 2014, and the consolidated statement 
of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash fl ows 
of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary 
of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 66 to 131.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls suffi cient to provide 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and 
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true 
and fair profi t and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the fi nancial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
of fi nancial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the fi nancial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the statement of fi nancial position and 
statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 
Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2014 and of the results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of 
the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

25 March 2015
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The Group The Company
Note 2014 2013 2014 2013

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6  393,256  390,889  159,728  207,762

Trade receivables 7  556,991  520,282  87,994  78,069

Other receivables and prepayments 8  36,242  42,190  1,919  6,416

Inventories 9  552,747  527,923  50,205  49,489

Trade receivables due from subsidiaries 10  –  –  22,589  28,012

Other receivables due from subsidiaries  –  –  7,035  6,926

Income tax recoverable  16  62  –  –

Total current assets  1,539,252  1,481,346  329,470  376,674

Non-current assets
Other receivables 8  20,035  –  –  –

Investments in subsidiaries 10  –  –  1,227,849  1,227,849

Investments in associates 11  81,343  75,160  51,300  51,300

Investment in a joint venture 12  –  –  –  –

Available-for-sale investments 13  11,389  25,733  2,116  16,309

Property, plant and equipment 14  187,691  152,644  40,192  2,017

Intangible assets 15  41,392  60,889  5,116  8,235

Goodwill 16  639,708  639,708  –  –

Deferred tax assets 17  7,401  6,885  –  –

Total non-current assets  988,959  961,019  1,326,573  1,305,710

Total assets  2,528,211  2,442,365  1,656,043  1,682,384
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The Group The Company
Note 2014 2013 2014 2013

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities
Bank loans 18  169,000  161,795  78,696  68,337

Trade payables 19  385,683  335,124  43,103  45,002

Other payables and accrued expenses 20  92,915  100,121  28,043  24,833

Trade payables due to subsidiaries  –  –  3,429  4,150

Other payables due to subsidiaries   –  –  21,334  21,356

Income tax payable  9,571  6,098  2,355  1,030

Total current liabilities  657,169  603,138  176,960  164,708

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities 17  6,237  9,981  –  –

Capital and reserves
Share capital 21  678,579  678,370  678,579  678,370

Treasury shares 21  (2,081)  (2,081)  (2,081)  (2,081)

Share-based awards reserve 21  42,336  41,719  41,669  41,052

Investments revaluation reserve 21  (40,411)  (40,546)  (38,214)  (38,349)

Translation reserve 22  (214,973)  (246,180)  –  –

Reserve fund 21  1,916  1,592  –  –

Capital reserve  17  17  –  –

Accumulated profi ts  1,396,956  1,393,938  799,130  838,684

Equity attributable to owners of the Company  1,862,339  1,826,829  1,479,083  1,517,676

Non-controlling interests  2,466  2,417  –  –

Total equity  1,864,805  1,829,246  1,479,083  1,517,676

Total liabilities and equity  2,528,211  2,442,365  1,656,043  1,682,384

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

The Group
Note 2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Revenue 24  2,465,455  2,329,551

Changes in inventories of fi nished goods and work in progress  6,198  (29,953)

Raw materials and consumables used  (1,899,859)  (1,763,037)

Employee benefi ts expense  (256,375)  (247,233)

Depreciation and amortisation expense  (41,250)  (41,932)

Research and development expense  (30,990)  (28,169)

Foreign currency exchange adjustment gain  646  4,268

Other operating expenses  (94,618)  (89,185)

Other income 25  1,123  981

Investment revenue 26  2,517  1,459

Finance cost (interest expense on bank loans)  (1,015)  (1,170)

Share of profi t of associates 11  4,624  4,353

Profi t before tax  156,456  139,933

Income tax expense 27  (16,640)  (8,992)

Profi t for the year 28  139,816  130,941

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassifi ed subsequently to profi t or loss:

Fair value gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments 21  135  (645)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 22  31,229  31,656

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  31,364  31,011

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  171,180  161,952

Profi t attributable to:
Owners of the Company  139,789  131,134

Non-controlling interest  27  (193)

 139,816  130,941

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company  171,131  161,985

Non-controlling interest  49  (33)

 171,180  161,952

Cents Cents
Basic earnings per share 29  50.9  47.7

Fully diluted earnings per share 29  50.9  47.7

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.
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Note
Share 

capital
Treasury 

shares

Share–
based 

awards 
reserve

Investments 
revaluation 

reserve
Translation 

reserve
Reserve 

fund
Capital 
reserve

Accumulated 
profi ts

Equity 
attributable 

to owners of 
the Company

Non–
controlling 

interests Total

Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 January 2013 673,223 (569) 41,190 (39,901) (277,676) 1,592 42 1,399,451 1,797,352 2,450 1,799,802

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year

Profi t for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  131,134  131,134  (193)  130,941

Other comprehensive income  –  –  –  (645)  31,496  –  –  –  30,851  160  31,011

Total  –  –  –  (645)  31,496  –  –  131,134  161,985  (33)  161,952

Transactions with owners, 
 recognised directly in equity

Issue of shares 21  5,147  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  5,147  –  5,147

Repurchase of shares 21  –  (1,512)  –  –  –  –  –  (1,512)  –  (1,512)

Share options lapsed  –  –  (807)  –  –  –  –  807  –  –  –

Recognition of share-based 

 payments 23  –  –  1,336  –  –  –  –  –  1,336  –  1,336

First and fi nal tax-exempt dividend 

 paid in respect of the previous 

 fi nancial year 34  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (137,456)  (137,456)  –  (137,456)

Share of associate’s reserves  –  –  –  –  –  –  (25)  –  (25)  –  (25)

Refund of unclaimed dividend  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  2  2  –  2

Total  5,147  (1,512)  529  –  –  –  (25)  (136,647)  (132,508)  –  (132,508)

Balance as at 31 December 2013 678,370 (2,081) 41,719 (40,546) (246,180) 1,592 17 1,393,938 1,826,829 2,417 1,829,246

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year

Profi t for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  139,789  139,789  27  139,816

Other comprehensive income  –  –  –  135  31,207  –  –  –  31,342  22  31,364

Total  –  –  –  135  31,207  –  –  139,789  171,131  49  171,180

Transactions with owners, 
 recognised directly in equity

Issue of shares 21  209  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  209  –  209

Share options lapsed  –  –  (916)  –  –  –  –  916  –  –  –

Recognition of share-based 

 payments 23  –  –  1,533  –  –  –  –  –  1,533  –  1,533

First and fi nal tax-exempt dividend

 paid in respect of the previous 

 fi nancial year 34  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  (137,368)  (137,368)  –  (137,368)

Appropriation to reserve fund  –  –  –  –  –  324  –  (324)  –  –  –

Refund of unclaimed dividend  –  –  –  –  –  –  –  5  5  –  5

Total  209  –  617  –  –  324  –  (136,771)  (135,621)  –  (135,621)

Balance as at 31 December 2014 678,579 (2,081) 42,336 (40,411) (214,973) 1,916 17 1,396,956 1,862,339 2,466 1,864,805
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Note
Share 

capital
Treasury 

shares

Share–based 
awards 
reserve

Investments 
revaluation 

reserve
Accumulated 

profi ts Total

Company $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 January 2013  673,223  (569)  40,523  (37,704)  679,471  1,354,944

Total comprehensive 
 income for the year

Profi t for the year  –  –  –  –  295,860  295,860

Other comprehensive loss 

 for the year  –  –  –  (645)  –  (645)

Total  –  –  –  (645)  295,860  295,215

Transactions with owners, 
 recognised directly in equity

Issue of shares 21  5,147  –  –  –  –  5,147

Repurchase of shares 21  –  (1,512) –  –  –  (1,512)

Share options lapsed  –  –  (807)  –  807  –

Recognition of share-based 

 payments 23  –  –  1,336  –  –  1,336

First and fi nal tax-exempt 

 dividend paid in respect of 

 the previous fi nancial year 34  –  –  –  –  (137,456)  (137,456)

Refund of unclaimed dividend  –  –  –  –  2  2

Total  5,147  (1,512)  529  –  (136,647)  (132,483)

Balance as at 31 December 2013  678,370  (2,081)  41,052  (38,349)  838,684  1,517,676

Total comprehensive 
 income for the year

Profi t for the year  –  –  –  –  96,893  96,893

Other comprehensive income 

 for the year  –  –  –  135  –  135

Total  –  –  –  135  96,893  97,028

Transactions with owners, 
 recognised directly in equity

Issue of shares 21  209  –  –  –  –  209

Share options lapsed  –  –  (916)  –  916  –

Recognition of share-based 

 payments 23  –  –  1,533  –  –  1,533

First and fi nal tax-exempt 

 dividend paid in respect of 

 the previous fi nancial year 34  –  –  –  –  (137,368)  (137,368)

Refund of unclaimed dividend  –  –  –  –  5  5

Total  209  –  617  –  (136,447)  (135,621)

Balance as at 31 December 2014  678,579  (2,081)  41,669  (38,214)  799,130  1,479,083

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.
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The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Operating activities
Profi t before tax  156,456  139,933

Adjustments for:

Share of profi t of associates  (4,624)  (4,353)

Allowance for inventories  288  1,169

Inventories written off  195  692

Depreciation expense  23,958  24,634

Bad debts written off  3  –

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables  76  149

Amortisation of intangible assets  20,440  20,909

Interest income  (2,517)  (1,459)

Dividend income  (365)  (776)

Interest expense  1,015  1,170

Share-based payments expense  1,533  1,336

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment, net  56  434

Write off of investment in associate  91  456

Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments  99  –

Operating profi t before working capital changes  196,704  184,294

 

Trade receivables  (15,899)  (72,462)

Other receivables and prepayments  (14,682)  (11,770)

Inventories  (6,859)  (15,521)

Trade payables  32,842  36,532

Other payables and accrued expenses  (5,930)  1,813

Amount due from (to) associates, net  8  (2)

Cash generated from operations  186,184  122,884

 

Interest paid  (1,047)  (1,089)

Income tax paid  (17,245)  (15,296)

Net cash from operating activities  167,892  106,499
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CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Investing activities
Interest income received  2,417  1,459

Dividends received from associates  802  1,050

Dividends received from other equity investments  365  776

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (56,664)  (34,891)

Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment  2,368  996

Addition of intangible assets  (807)  (3,032)

Proceeds on disposal of available-for-sale investments  15,038  193

Purchase of available-for-sale investments  (673)  (744)

Net cash used in investing activities  (37,154)  (34,193)
 
Financing activities

Dividends paid  (137,368)  (137,456)

Refund of unclaimed dividends (net of charges)  5  2

Proceeds from new bank loans  37,262  131,667

Repayment of bank loans  (35,585)  (142,854)

Proceeds from issuance of shares  209  5,147

Repurchase of shares  –  (1,512)

Net cash used in fi nancing activities  (135,477)  (145,006)
 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (4,739)  (72,700)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  390,889  453,424

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on the balance of 

 cash held in foreign currencies  7,106  10,165

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 6)  393,256  390,889

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.
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1 GENERAL

 The Company (Registration No. 198402886H) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with its 

principal place of business and registered offi ce at 5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5, #05-01/12 TECHplace 

II, Singapore 569873. The Company is listed on the mainboard of the Singapore Exchange Securities 

Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”).  The fi nancial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.

 The Company is a leading global provider of technology services, products and solutions. The principal 

activities of the Company are to provide manufacturing, product design and development, engineering 

and supply-chain management services.

 The principal activities of the subsidiaries, associates and joint venture are detailed in Notes 10, 11 and 

12 to the fi nancial statements respectively.

 The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and statement of fi nancial position and statement of 

changes in equity of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2014 were authorised for issue by 

the Board of Directors on 25 March 2015.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 a) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

the historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn 

up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial 

Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

  Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for 

goods and services.

  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether 

that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the 

fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or 

liability which market participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability at the 

measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 

fi nancial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions 

that are within the scope of FRS 102 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within 

the scope of FRS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but 

are not fair value, such as net realisable value in FRS 2 Inventories or value in use in FRS 36 

Impairment of Assets.

  In addition, for fi nancial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 

2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable 

and the signifi cance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described 

as follows:

   Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

   Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

   Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 b) ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - On 1 January 2014, the Group and the 

Company adopted all the new and revised FRS and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are 

effective from that date and are relevant to its operations.  The adoption of these new/revised FRS 

and INT FRS does not result in changes to the Group’s and Company’s accounting policies and 

has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years. 

  At the date of authorisation of these fi nancial statements, the following new/revised FRS and 

amendments/improvements to FRSs that are relevant to the Group and the Company were issued 

but not effective:

   FRS 109 Financial Instruments

   FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

   Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure Initiative

   Improvements to Financial Reporting Standards 

   (January 2014, February 2014 and November 2014)

  Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised 

standards. 

  FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

  FRS 115 was issued and established as a single comprehensive model for entities to use in 

accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. FRS 115 will supersede the current 

revenue recognition guidance including FRS 18 Revenue, FRS 11 Construction Contracts and the 

related Interpretations when it becomes effective. 

  The core principle of FRS 115 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer 

of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that refl ects the consideration to 

which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifi cally, the 

Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

  Step 1: Identify the contracts with a customer.

  Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.

  Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

  Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.

  Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfi es a performance obligation.

  Under FRS 115, an entity recognises revenue when a performance obligation is satisfi ed, 

i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is 

transferred to the customer. In addition, extensive disclosures are required by FRS 115. 

  FRS 115 will take effect from financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with 

retrospective application required. Management is currently evaluating the potential impact of the 

application of FRS 115 on the fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company in the period of 

initial adoption.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 b) ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS (cont’d)

  Other than FRS 115, management has considered and is of the view that the adoption of the 

above new/revised FRSs and amendments/improvements to FRSs that are issued at the date 

of authorisation of these fi nancial statements but effective only in future periods will not have a 

material impact on the fi nancial statements of the Group and of the Company in the period of their 

initial adoption.

 c) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the fi nancial 

statements of the Company and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Company 

and its subsidiaries.  Control is achieved where the Company:

   Has power over the investee;

   Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

   Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

  The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances 

indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

  When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over 

the investee when the voting rights are suffi cient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant 

activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances 

in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are suffi cient to give it 

power, including: 

 

   The size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of 

holdings of the other vote holders; 

   Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 

   Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

   Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not 

have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be 

made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders' meetings.

  Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and 

ceases when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifi cally, income and expenses of a 

subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 

profi t or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the 

date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. 

  Profi t or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of 

the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is 

attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in 

the non-controlling interests having a defi cit balance. 

  When necessary, adjustments are made to the fi nancial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 

accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 c) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (cont’d)

  Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries 

  Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing 

control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts 

of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to refl ect the changes in 

their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the 

non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 

recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

  When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profi t or loss and 

is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration 

received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the 

assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All 

amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary 

are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of 

the subsidiary (i.e. reclassifi ed to profi t or loss or transferred to another category of equity as 

specifi ed/permitted by applicable FRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former 

subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 

subsequent accounting under FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 

when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

  In the Company’s fi nancial statements, investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture 

are carried at cost less any impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profi t 

or loss.

 d) BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using 

the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate 

of the acquisition-date fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former 

owners of the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the 

acquiree.  Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profi t or loss as incurred.

  Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from 

a contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent 

changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as 

measurement period adjustments (see below). The subsequent accounting for changes in the 

fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments 

depends on how the contingent consideration is classifi ed. Contingent consideration that 

is classifi ed as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 

settlement is accounted for within equity.   Contingent consideration that is classifi ed as an asset 

or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with FRS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, or FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profi t 

or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 d) BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (cont’d)

  Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the 

acquired entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains 

control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profi t or loss.  Amounts arising from 

interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in 

other comprehensive income are reclassifi ed to profi t or loss, where such treatment would be 

appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

  The acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for 

recognition under the FRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

   deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefi t 

arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes and 

FRS 19 Employee Benefi ts respectively;

   liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree 

or the replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-

based payment awards transactions of the acquirer in accordance with the method in 

FRS 102 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

   assets (or disposal groups) that are classifi ed as held for sale in accordance with FRS 

105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in 

accordance with that standard.

  Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 

proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured 

either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised 

amounts of the acquiree’s identifi able net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on 

a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair 

value or, when applicable, on the basis specifi ed in another FRS.

  If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period 

in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which 

the accounting is incomplete.   Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement 

period (see below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to refl ect new information 

obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, 

would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

  The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains 

complete information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is 

subject to a maximum of one year from acquisition date.

  The policy described above is applied to all business combinations that take place on or after 1 

January 2010.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 e) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are recognised on the 

Group’s statement of fi nancial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument.

  Effective interest method

  The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a fi nancial 

instrument and allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective 

interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments 

(including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 

rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the fi nancial 

instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense is recognised on an 

effective interest basis for debt instruments.

  Financial assets

  All fi nancial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or 

sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within 

the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus 

transaction costs, except for those fi nancial assets classifi ed as at fair value through profi t or loss 

which are initially measured at fair value.

  Financial assets are classifi ed into the following specifi ed categories: fi nancial assets “at fair value 

through profi t or loss”, “held-to-maturity investments”, “available-for-sale” fi nancial assets and 

“loans and receivables”.  The classifi cation depends on the nature and purpose of fi nancial assets 

and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

  Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

  Certain shares and debt securities held by the Group are classifi ed as being available-for-sale 

and are stated at fair value.  Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.  Gains 

and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income with 

the  exception of impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method and 

foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly in profi t 

or loss.    Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative 

gain or  loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 

investments revaluation reserve is reclassifi ed to profi t or loss.    Dividends on available-for-sale 

equity instruments are recognised in profi t or loss when the Group’s right to receive payments 

is established.    The fair value of available-for-sale monetary assets denominated in a foreign 

currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the end of the 

reporting period.  The change in fair value attributable to translation differences that result from a 

change in amortised cost of the available-for-sale monetary asset is recognised in profi t or loss, 

and other changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.

  Unquoted equity shares are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses as the fair 

value cannot be measured reliably.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 e) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

  Financial assets (cont’d)

  Loans and receivables

  Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fi xed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market are classifi ed as “loans and receivables”.  Loans and receivables 

are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is 

recognised by applying the effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the 

effect of discounting is immaterial.

  Impairment of fi nancial assets

  Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profi t or loss, are assessed for indicators 

of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired 

when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 

initial recognition of the fi nancial asset, the estimated future cash fl ows of the investment have 

been impacted. 

  For available-for-sale equity instruments, a signifi cant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 

investment below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

  For all other fi nancial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include (i) signifi cant 

fi nancial diffi culty of the issuer or counterparty; or (ii) default or delinquency in interest or principal 

payments; or (iii) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or fi nancial re-

organisation.

  For fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash fl ows, 

discounted at the original effective interest rate.  

  For fi nancial assets that are carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash 

fl ows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar fi nancial asset. Such impairment 

loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

  The carrying amount of the fi nancial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all 

fi nancial assets with the exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced 

through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written 

off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 

credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account 

are recognised in profi t or loss.

  For fi nancial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 

impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 

after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 

through profi t or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the fi nancial asset at the date 

the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 

impairment not been recognised.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 e) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

  Financial assets (cont’d)

  Impairment of fi nancial assets (cont’d)

  When an available-for-sale fi nancial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassifi ed to profi t or loss. 

  In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, impairment losses previously recognised 

in profi t or loss are not reversed through profi t or loss. Any subsequent increase in fair value 

after an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under 

the heading of investments revaluation reserve. In respect of available-for-sale debt securities, 

impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profi t or loss if an increase in the fair value 

of the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the 

impairment loss.

  Derecognition of fi nancial assets

  The Group derecognises a fi nancial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash fl ows from 

the asset expire, or it transfers the fi nancial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership of the asset to another entity.    If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially 

all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group 

recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have 

to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 

fi nancial asset, the Group continues to recognise the fi nancial asset and also recognises a 

collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

  Financial liabilities and equity instruments

  Classifi cation as debt or equity

  Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classifi ed according to the 

substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the defi nitions of a fi nancial liability 

and an equity instrument.

  Equity instruments

  An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group 

after deducting all of its liabilities.  Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net 

of direct issue costs.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 e) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

  Financial liabilities and equity instruments (cont’d)

  Financial liabilities

  Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest 

expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

  Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially measured at fair value, and are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Any difference 

between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings 

is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy 

for borrowing costs (see below).

  Derecognition of fi nancial liabilities

  The Group derecognises fi nancial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 

discharged, cancelled or they expire.

  Offsetting arrangements 

  Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of 

fi nancial position when the Group and the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the 

recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle 

the liability simultaneously. A right to set-off must be available today rather than being contingent 

on a future event and must be exercisable by any of the counterparties, both in the normal course 

of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.

 f) LEASES - Leases are classifi ed as fi nance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classifi ed as 

operating leases.

  The Group as lessee

  Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profi t or loss on a straight-line basis over 

the term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time 

pattern in which economic benefi ts from the leased asset are consumed.    Contingent rentals 

arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 

incurred. 

  In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives 

are  recognised as a liability.    The aggregate benefi t of incentives is recognised as a reduction 

of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more 

representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are 

consumed.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 g) INVENTORIES - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.    Cost 

comprises direct materials, and where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that 

have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.    Cost is 

calculated using the weighted average method.    Net realisable value represents the estimated 

selling price less all estimated costs to completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling 

and distribution.

 h) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less 

any subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

  Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than freehold land, 

over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

  Factory buildings - 25 to 60 years

  Freehold buildings - 30 years

  Leasehold land and buildings - 25 to 60 years (term of lease)

  Machinery and equipment - 2 to 10 years

  Leasehold improvements and renovations - 2 to 10 years

  Offi ce equipment, furniture and fi ttings - 2 to 10 years

  Computer hardware - 3 years

  Motor vehicles - 2 to 10 years

  Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the fi nancial statements.

  The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of 

each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective 

basis.

  The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is 

determined as the difference between the sales proceed and the carrying amount of the asset 

and is recognised in profi t or loss.

 i) GOODWILL - Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date 

that control is acquired (the acquisition date).    Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum 

of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and 

the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the 

acquisition-date amounts of the identifi able assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

  If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able net assets 

exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in 

the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if 

any), the excess is recognised immediately in profi t or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

 i) GOODWILL (cont’d)

  Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of 

impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected 

to benefi t from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has 

been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication 

that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than 

its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying amount of any 

goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of 

the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not 

reversed in a subsequent period.

  On disposal of a subsidiary or the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of 

goodwill is included in the determination of the profi t or loss on disposal.

 j) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

  Intangible assets acquired separately

  Intangible assets acquired separately, such as computer software and intellectual property, are 

recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation (where they have fi nite useful lives). Intangible 

assets with fi nite useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 

lives of 3 to 5 years. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of 

each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a 

prospective basis.

  Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure

  Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. 

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase 

of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

   the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use 

or sale;

   the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

   the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

   how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefi ts;

   the availability of adequate technical, fi nancial and other resources to complete the 

development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

   the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development.

  The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the 

expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible asset fi rst meets the recognition criteria 

listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development 

expenditure is charged to profi t or loss in the period in which it is incurred. The Group has 

capitalised development costs as intangible assets and these are amortised using the straight-line 

method over its useful life, which normally does not exceed three years.
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 j) INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d)

  Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure (cont’d)

  Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

  Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 

  Customer relationships acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised 

separately from goodwill. The cost of such intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition 

date. Subsequent to initial recognition, customer relationships acquired in a business combination 

are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Customer relationships are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives of 10 years.   

 k) IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL - At the end 

of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 

assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 

loss.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order 

to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).   Where it is not possible to estimate the 

recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of 

allocation can be identifi ed, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units 

(CGU), or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and 

consistent allocation basis can be identifi ed.

  Intangible assets with indefi nite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are 

tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 

impaired.

  Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 

value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specifi c to the asset for which the estimates of future cash fl ows have not been adjusted.

  If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 

carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 

recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profi t or loss.

  Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash- 

generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that 

the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior 

years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profi t or loss.
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 l) ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE - An associate is an entity over which the Group has 

signifi cant infl uence. Signifi cant infl uence is the power to participate in the fi nancial and operating 

policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

  A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the 

arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the 

contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about 

the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

  The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint venture are incorporated in these 

consolidated fi nancial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the 

investment, or a portion thereof, is classifi ed as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for 

in accordance with FRS 105 Non-current Asset Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised 

in the consolidated statement of fi nancial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise 

the Group’s share of the profi t or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or 

joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the 

Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in 

substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group 

discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the 

extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf 

of the associate or joint venture.

  An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from 

the date on which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the 

investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over 

the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifi able assets and liabilities of the investee is 

recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any 

excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifi able assets and liabilities over the 

cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profi t or loss in the period 

in which the investment is acquired. 

  The requirements of FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are applied to 

determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s 

investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the 

investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with FRS 36 Impairment 

of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair 

value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part 

of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised 

in accordance with FRS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment 

subsequently increases. 
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 l) ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE (cont’d)

  The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases 

to be an associate or a joint venture, or when the investment is classifi ed as held for sale. When 

the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest 

is a fi nancial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the 

fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with FRS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The difference between the carrying amount of the 

associate or joint venture at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value 

of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate or 

joint venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate 

or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other 

comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be 

required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 

Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate 

or joint venture would be reclassifi ed to profi t or loss on the disposal of the related assets or 

liabilities, the Group reclassifi es the gain or loss from equity to profi t or loss (as a reclassifi cation 

adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued. 

  The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes 

an investment in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an 

associate. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests. 

  When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group 

continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassifi es to profi t or loss the proportion of the 

gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that 

reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassifi ed to profi t or loss on the 

disposal of the related assets or liabilities. 

  

  When a Group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profi ts and losses 

resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s 

consolidated fi nancial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture 

that are not related to the Group.

 m) PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or 

constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that the Group will be required to settle 

that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

  The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 

settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and 

uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash fl ows 

estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash 

fl ows.

  When some or all of the economic benefi ts required to settle a provision are expected to be 

recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 

reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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 n) SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - The Group issues equity-settled and restricted share-based 

payments to qualifying employees. Equity-settled and restricted share-based payments are 

measured at fair value of the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair values determined 

at the grant date of the equity-settled and restricted share-based payments are expensed on a 

straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the number of equity 

instruments that will eventually vest. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its 

estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the 

original estimates, if any, is recognised in profi t or loss such that the cumulative expense refl ects 

the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share-based awards reserve.

  Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled and restricted share-based 

payments are disclosed in Note 23.

 o) GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable 

assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and the grants will 

be received. The benefi t of a government loan at a below-market rate of interest is treated as a 

government grant, measured as the difference between proceeds received and the fair value of 

the loan based on prevailing market interest rates. Government grants whose primary condition 

is that the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are 

recognised as deferred income in the statement of fi nancial position and transferred to profi t or 

loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

  Other government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them 

with the costs for which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government 

grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the 

purpose of giving immediate fi nancial support to the Group with no future related costs are 

recognised in profi t or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

 p) REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received 

or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar 

allowances.

  Revenue from manufacturing services is recognised when the service is completed and when all 

the following conditions are satisfi ed:

   the Group has transferred to the buyer the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership of the 

manufactured goods;

   the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually 

associated with ownership nor effective control over the manufactured goods;

   the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

   it is probable that the economic benefi ts associated with the transaction will fl ow to the 

entity; and

   the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

  Revenue from the rendering of services of a short duration is recognised when the services are 

completed.
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 p) REVENUE RECOGNITION (cont’d)

  Dividend income

  Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment 

have been established.

  Interest income

  Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 

effective interest rate applicable.

 q) BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition, construction or 

production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time 

to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time 

as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.  Investment income earned on 

the temporary investment of specifi c borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is 

deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

  All other borrowing costs are recognised in profi t or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

No interest expense has been capitalised during the year.

 r) RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defi ned contribution retirement benefi t plans 

are charged as an expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to the 

contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefi t schemes, such as the 

Singapore Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), are dealt with as payments to defi ned contribution 

plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defi ned 

contribution retirement benefi t plan.

 s) EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when 

they accrue to employees.  A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a 

result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

 t) INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred 

tax.

  The tax currently payable is based on taxable profi t for the year.  Taxable profi t differs from 

profi t as reported in the statement of profi t or loss and other comprehensive income because 

it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it 

further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax 

is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted in 

countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate by the end of the reporting period.

  Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

in the fi nancial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 

profi t.  Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and 

deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi ts will be 

available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities 

are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition 

(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 

neither the taxable profi t nor the accounting profi t.
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 t) INCOME TAX (cont’d)

  Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 

subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to 

control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference 

will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 

differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that 

it is probable that there will be suffi cient taxable profi ts against which to utilise the benefi ts of the 

temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

  The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable profi ts will be available to 

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

  Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the 

liability is settled or the asset is realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of 

deferred tax liabilities and assets refl ects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner 

in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 

amount of its assets and liabilities.

  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the 

same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a 

net basis.

  Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in the profi t or loss, except 

when they relate to items credited or debited outside profi t or loss (either in other comprehensive 

income or directly in equity), in which case the tax is also recognised outside profi t or loss (either 

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively), or where they arise from the 

initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect 

is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in 

the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

 u) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual fi nancial statements 

of each group entity are measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).  The consolidated fi nancial 

statements of the Group and the statement of fi nancial position and statement of changes in 

equity of the Company are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the 

Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated fi nancial statements.

  In preparing the fi nancial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other 

than the entity’s functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date 

of the transaction. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 

currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.    Non-

monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 

the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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 u) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION (cont’d)

  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of 

monetary items are included in profi t or loss for the period.  Exchange differences arising on the 

retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profi t or loss for the period 

except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains 

or losses are recognised in other comprehensive income.    For such non-monetary items, any 

exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

  For the purpose of presenting consolidated fi nancial statements, the assets and liabilities of 

the Group’s foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars 

using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.    Income and expense items 

(including comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless 

exchange rates fl uctuated signifi cantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the 

dates of the transactions are used.  Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of 

translation reserve.

  On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign 

operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign 

operation, loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, 

or loss of signifi cant infl uence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the 

accumulated exchange differences in respect of that operation attributable to the Group are 

reclassifi ed to profi t or loss.    Any exchange differences that have previously been attributed to 

non-controlling interests are derecognised, but they are not reclassifi ed to profi t or loss.

  In the case of a partial disposal (i.e. no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign 

operation, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-

controlling interests and are not recognised in profi t or loss.  For all other partial disposals (i.e. of 

associates or jointly controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing signifi cant infl uence or 

joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassifi ed to 

profi t or loss.

  On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in 

foreign entities (including monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in 

foreign entities), and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of 

such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate 

component of equity under the header of translation reserve.

  Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 

1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the 

closing rate.

 v) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Cash and cash 

equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits that are readily convertible to a known 

amount of cash and are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value.
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 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is 

required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions 

are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results 

may differ from these estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 

period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 

periods.

 (a) Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

  The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimates (see below), that 

management has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that which 

have a signifi cant effect on the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements.

  (i) Income tax

   Management has assessed the achievability of the qualifying terms and conditions of some 

of the Company’s subsidiaries under the respective pioneer status awarded in the previous 

fi nancial years and intends to engage in negotiations with the relevant authorities on 

amending certain qualifying terms and conditions which management is of the view that the 

subsidiaries will be able to satisfy. Based on past experience with the relevant authorities, 

management is of the view that the terms and conditions can be amended and that the tax 

provisions for the Group are adequate as at 31 December 2014.

  (ii) Investment in an associate

   Management has assessed and is of the view that the Group continues to exercise 

signifi cant infl uence over the associates, as disclosed in Note 11 to the fi nancial statements 

notwithstanding that the Group holds less than 20% voting power in these companies. The 

Group is deemed to exercise signifi cant infl uence by virtue of its board representation and 

through participation in decision making process.

   With respect to the subsequent event for DMX Technologies Group Limited (“DMX”) as 

disclosed in Note 35, management has considered the implications, if any, on the carrying 

amount of the investment in DMX as at the year end as well as the cashfl ow forecast 

on which the recoverable amount was assessed. The market value of the Company’s 

equity interest in DMX is $15,675,000 based on share price of $0.11 per share as at 24 

March 2015. The carrying amount of the investment in DMX as at 31 December 2014 is 

$63,791,000 (2013: $59,258,000) for the Group and $51,300,000 (2013: $51,300,000) 

for the Company. Based on information as at the date of the fi nancial statements, 

management is not aware of any indications that would require material adjustments and/or 

disclosures to its investment in DMX and that the investment will be recovered through use 

instead of sale.
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 (b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

  The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 

the end of the reporting period, that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year, are discussed below.

  (i) Impairment of investments in associates

   Management follows the guidance in FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement to assess whether there are any indications that the investments in 

associates are impaired.  Under FRS 28 Investment in Associates, management is required 

to test the carrying amounts of the investments in associates for impairment in accordance 

with FRS 36 Impairment of Assets by comparing its carrying amount with the recoverable 

amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell) whenever application of the 

requirements in FRS 39 indicates that the investment may be impaired. 

   Management has considered, among other factors, the duration and extent to which the 

market value of the associates had fallen short of its carrying amounts as an indication of 

impairment.    Management has considered the fi nancial position and long-term business 

outlook of the associates, including factors such as changes in technology, overall 

industry and sector performance and related market risks as well as prospective fi nancial 

information.

   This assessment is highly subjective in nature.    Accordingly, actual outcome may be 

different from that forecasted since anticipated events frequently do not occur as expected 

and the variation may be material.

   

   Management is of the view that the carrying amount of the investments in associates as 

disclosed in Note 11, do not exceed their respective recoverable amounts.

  (ii) Impairment of goodwill and investments in subsidiaries

   Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the 

cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated.   The value in use calculation 

requires management to estimate the future cash fl ows expected to arise from the 

cash-generating units and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. 

As the exercise is based on both prospective fi nancial and non-fi nancial information, it is 

highly subjective in nature. Accordingly, actual outcome is likely to be different from that 

forecasted since anticipated events frequently do not occur as expected and the variation 

may be material. 

   The carrying amounts of goodwill of the Group and investments in subsidiaries of the 

Company are disclosed in Notes 16 and 10 respectively.
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 (b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

  (iii) Recoverability of intangible assets

   Management has considered the recoverability of the Group’s intangible assets, including 

customer relationships which arose from a business combination in 2006.    The valuation 

of the customer relationships takes into consideration projected future revenue stream 

from customers with contracts as at the date of acquisition, with expected renewals, and 

applying suitable churn rates and discount rates in order to calculate the present value of 

cash fl ows. The customer relationships are amortised over the estimated useful life of 10 

years which refl ect the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefi ts are expected 

to be consumed.    Based on management’s assessment of the recoverable amount of 

intangible assets, no indication of impairment was noted.

   The carrying amount of intangible assets is disclosed in Note 15.

  (iv) Allowances for inventories

   In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories, an estimation of the 

recoverable amount of inventories on hand is performed based on the most reliable 

evidence available at the time the estimates are made.  This represents the value of the 

inventories which are expected to realise as estimated by management. These estimates 

take into consideration the fl uctuations of selling prices or cost, or any inventories on hand 

that may not be realised, directly relating to events occurring after the end of the period to 

the extent that such events confi rm conditions existing at the end of the period.

   The carrying amount of inventories is disclosed in Note 9.

  (v) Allowances for doubtful debts

   The policy for allowance for doubtful debts of the Group is based on management’s 

evaluation of collectibility and aging analysis of accounts.    A considerable amount of 

estimate is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the 

current credit-worthiness and the past collection history of each customer. If the fi nancial 

conditions of customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their 

ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.

   The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are disclosed in Notes 7 and 8 

respectively.
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 (a) Categories of fi nancial instruments

  The following table sets out the fi nancial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  393,256  390,889  159,728  207,762

Trade receivables  556,991  520,282  87,994  78,069

Trade receivables due from subsidiaries  – –  22,589  28,012

Other receivables  42,538  27,181  352  583

Other receivables due from subsidiaries  –  –  7,035  6,926

Other receivables due from associates  –  4  –  –

Loans and receivables at amortised cost  992,785  938,356  277,698  321,352

Available-for-sale investments  11,389  25,733  2,116  16,309

Total  1,004,174  964,089  279,814  337,661

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost:

Bank loans  169,000  161,795  78,696  68,337

Trade payables  385,683  335,124  43,103  45,002

Trade payables due to subsidiaries  –  –  3,429  4,150

Other payables  90,709  98,332  26,804  23,707

Other payables due to subsidiaries  –  –  21,334  21,356

Other payables due to associates  4  –  –  –

Total  645,396  595,251  173,366  162,552

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives

  The Group has fi nancial risk management programmes which set out the Group’s overall business 

strategies and its risk management philosophy.  The Group’s overall fi nancial risk management 

programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of fi nancial performance of the Group. 

These programmes cover specifi c areas, such as market risk (including foreign exchange risk and 

interest risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk and are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to 

ensure that they remain pertinent to the Group’s operations.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
 (cont’d)

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

  There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these fi nancial risks or the manner in which 

it manages and measures the risk. 

  (i) Foreign exchange risk management

   The Group operates internationally, giving rise to market risk from changes in foreign 

exchange rates.    The Group manages its foreign exchange exposure mainly by matching 

revenue and costs in the relevant currencies to create a natural hedge.

   The Company has a number of investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets 

are exposed to currency translation risk.    As at end of the reporting period, the carrying 

amounts of signifi cant monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than 

the respective Group entities’ functional currencies are as follows:

The Group* The Company

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Singapore dollar  26,487  22,696  34,999  27,852  –  –  –  –

United States dollar  186,706  163,356  154,616  145,122  151,506  128,674  133,564  116,998

Euro  11,154  12,163  11,232  8,913  855  859  1,593  1,484

Japanese yen  441  53  1,263  1,796  –  –  19  112

Chinese renminbi  15,575  19,654  21,291  30,776  –  –  –  –

Malaysian ringgit  24,424  30,125  47,657  46,578  –  –  1  –

   
   * Figures include intercompany monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the respective 

 Group entities’ functional currencies.

   Foreign currency sensitivity

   The following table details the sensitivity to a 5% change in the following foreign currencies 

against the functional currencies of each group entity.  5% is the sensitivity rate used when 

reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents 

management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

   The sensitivity analysis includes only signifi cant outstanding foreign currency denominated 

monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 5% change in foreign 

currency rates.   The sensitivity analysis includes external loans within the Group where the 

denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the functional currency of the borrower.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
 (cont’d)

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

  (i) Foreign exchange risk management (cont’d)

   Foreign currency sensitivity (cont’d)

   If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 5% against the functional currency of 

each group entity as at the year end, profi t for the year would increase (decrease) by the 

following amounts, mainly due to year-end exposures on signifi cant net monetary balances 

denominated in the respective foreign currencies.

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Singapore dollar impact  (426)  (258)  –  –

United States dollar impact  1,605  912  897  584

Euro impact  (4)  163  (37)  (31)

Japanese yen impact  (41)  (87)  (1)  (6)

Chinese renminbi impact  (286)  (556)  –  –

Malaysian ringgit impact  (1,162)  (823)  –  –

   If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 5% against the functional currency of each 

group entity as at the year end, impact on profi t for the year would be vice versa.

  (ii) Interest rate risk management

   Summary quantitative data of the Group’s interest-bearing fi nancial instruments can be 

found in section (iv) of this Note. The Group’s policy is to maintain cash equivalents with 

reputable international fi nancial institutions.

   Interest rate sensitivity analysis has not been presented as management does not expect 

any reasonable changes in interest rates to have a material impact on the Group’s and 

Company’s profi t or loss. 
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
 (cont’d)

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

  (iii) Credit risk management

   Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations 

resulting in fi nancial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing 

with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining suffi cient collateral where appropriate, as a 

means of mitigating the risk of fi nancial loss from defaults. The Group’s exposure and the 

creditworthiness of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value 

of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure 

is controlled by the counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by management 

annually.

   Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries 

and geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the fi nancial condition of 

accounts receivable.

   The Group has concentration of credit risk with its largest customers as disclosed in Note 

33.

   The carrying amount of fi nancial assets as recorded in the fi nancial statements, grossed up 

for any allowances for impairment losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to 

credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

   Further details of credit risks on trade receivables are disclosed in Note 7.

  (iv) Liquidity risk management

   The Group maintains suffi cient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash 

fl ows to fi nance its activities.

   Liquidity risk is managed by matching the payment and receipt cycle. The Group has 

suffi cient cash from operations and credit lines from fi nancial institutions (Note 18) to fund 

its capital investments and working capital requirements.

   Liquidity and interest risk analyses

   Non-derivative fi nancial assets

   The following table details the expected maturity for non-derivative fi nancial assets.  The 

tables below have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of 

the fi nancial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except where the 

Group and the Company anticipate that the cash fl ow will occur in a different period. The 

adjustment column represents the possible future cash fl ows attributable to the instrument 

included in the maturity analysis which are not included in the carrying amount of the 

fi nancial asset on the statement of fi nancial position.
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 (cont’d)

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

  (iv) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

   Liquidity and interest risk analyses (cont’d)

   Non-derivative fi nancial assets (cont’d)

Weighted
 average
 effective
 interest 

rate

On 
demand 
or within 

1 year

Within 
2 to 5 
years

After 5
 years Adjustment Total

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

2014

Non-interest-bearing  – 869,261 13,674  9,268  –  892,203

Fixed interest rate 

instruments  1.92  106,095 7,321  –  (1,445)  111,971

 975,356 20,995  9,268   (1,445)  1,004,174

2013

Non-interest-bearing  –  873,066  50  9,374  –  882,490

Fixed interest rate 

instruments  2.64  67,620  2,820  16,410  (5,251)  81,599

 940,686  2,870  25,784  (5,251)  964,089

Company

2014

Non-interest-bearing  –  176,820  –  –  –  176,820

Fixed interest rate 

instruments 1.00  103,251  –  –  (257)  102,994

 280,071  –  –  (257)  279,814

2013

Non-interest-bearing  –  257,306  –  –  –  257,306

Fixed interest rate 

instruments  1.90  66,221  2,820  16,410  (5,096)  80,355

 323,527  2,820  16,410  (5,096)  337,661
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
 (cont’d)

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)

  (iv) Liquidity risk management (cont’d)

   Liquidity and interest risk analyses (cont’d)

   Non-derivative fi nancial liabilities

   The Group and Company’s non-derivative fi nancial liabilities are repayable within one year 

from the end of the reporting period and are non-interest bearing except as disclosed in 

Note 18.

  (v) Fair values of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities

   Other than the fair values of long-term other receivables and available-for-sale investments 

which are disclosed in Notes 8 and 13 respectively, the carrying amounts of cash and cash 

equivalents, trade and other receivables and payables approximate their respective fair 

values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these fi nancial instruments.

 (c) Capital risk management policies and objectives

  The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a 

going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt 

and equity balance.

  The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in 

Note 18, and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued capital, reserves 

and accumulated profi ts as presented in the statements of changes in equity.

  The Board of Directors reviews the capital structure regularly to achieve an appropriate capital 

structure.  As part of this review, the Board considers the cost of capital and the risks associated 

with each class of capital and makes adjustments to the capital structure, where appropriate, in 

light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.

  The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2013.
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5 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on 

the basis determined between the parties is refl ected in these fi nancial statements.  The balances are 

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

 During the year, Group entities entered into the following trading transactions with related parties:

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Purchase of goods from associates  14  16

Sale of goods to associates  10  45

 Compensation of Directors and key management personnel

 The remuneration of 7 (2013 : 7) directors and 5 (2013 : 4) other key management personnel during the 

year were as follows: 

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Short-term benefi ts 6,701  6,168

CPF contributions 64  45

Share-based payments 285  209

7,050  6,422

Directors’ fees 403  450

7,453  6,872

 The remuneration of Directors and other key management personnel is determined by the Remuneration 

Committee having regard to various factors including the individual’s contribution to the achievement of 

the organisation and business objectives.

6 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash  287,651  324,335  56,734  142,452

Fixed deposits  105,605  66,554  102,994  65,310

 393,256 390,889  159,728  207,762

 The fi xed deposits interest rates for the Group and the Company range from 0.50% to 3.21% 

(2013 : 1.19% to 3.15%) per annum with an original maturity of three months or less.
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7 TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Outside parties  556,991  520,282  87,994  78,069

 The average trade credit period on sales of goods is 80 days (2013 : 75 days). No interest is charged on 
the trade receivables.

 Before accepting any new customers, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and 
defi nes credit limits by customer.  Majority of the Group’s trade receivables that are neither past due nor 
impaired are counterparties with good track record of credit history.

 Management is of the view that majority of the Group’s and Company’s trade receivables are within their 
expected cash collection cycle. There are certain trade receivables which are less than 4% (2013 : 5%) 
of the total trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period that are outstanding for periods longer 
than the contracted credit terms as agreed with the customers.  The average age of these receivables is 
93 days (2013 : 73 days).  No allowance has been made on these receivables by management as there 
has not been a signifi cant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable.

 Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of the year  114  3,438  –  2,947

Allowance for the year  76  149  –  –

Amount written off during the year  –  (3,177)  –  (2,662)

Exchange differences  6  (296)  –  (285)

Balance at end of the year  196  114  –  –

 The above allowance for doubtful debts has been determined by reference to past default experience.  

The Group and the Company do not hold any collateral over these balances.

8 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other receivables  33,147  18,247  1,594  1,216

Deposits  10,633  9,571  –  –

Prepayments  12,497  14,372  325  5,200

 56,277  42,190  1,919  6,416

Less: Amounts receivable

   within 12 months  (36,242)  (42,190)  (1,919)  (6,416)

Amounts receivable after 12 months  20,035  –  –  –
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9 INVENTORIES

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Raw materials  288,484  257,462  23,691  20,179

Work in progress  88,726  81,225  15,974  15,984

Finished goods  175,537  189,236  10,540  13,326

 552,747  527,923  50,205  49,489

 In 2014, the Group’s cost of inventories recognised as an expense included $288,000 

(2013 : $1,169,000) in respect of write-down of inventory to net realisable value. Inventories amounting 

to $195,000 (2013 : $692,000) has been written off.

10 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost  1,148,474  1,148,474

Less: Impairment loss (2)  (3,203)  (3,203)

Net carrying amount  1,145,271  1,145,271

Advances to subsidiaries (1)  112,840  112,840

Less: Impairment in advances to subsidiaries (2)  (30,262)  (30,262)

 1,227,849  1,227,849

 

 Trade receivables from subsidiaries of $22,589,000 (2013 : $28,012,000) are stated at net of allowance 

for doubtful trade receivables of $5,000,000 (2013 : $5,000,000).  Amounts due to and from subsidiaries 

are unsecured, interest-free and payable within 12 months other than advances to subsidiaries as 

mentioned below.

 (1) Advances to subsidiaries are an extension of the Company’s investment and hence are capital in nature.

 (2) During the current fi nancial year, an impairment loss of $Nil (2013 : $862,000) was charged to the Company’s profi t or 

loss.
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10 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

 Details of the Company’s signifi cant subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries
Country of
incorporation

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

and voting
power held Principal activities

2014 2013
% %

Advanced Products Corporation 

Pte Ltd

Singapore 100 100 Trading and manufacturing

of electronics products and

provision of electronics

services

Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 Investment holding

Venture Electronics (Europe) B.V.

(wholly-owned subsidiary of

Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd) (6)

Netherlands 100 100 Investment holding

Venture Hungary Electronics

Manufacturing Limited Liability

Company (95% owned by 

Venture Electronics (Europe) 

B.V. and 5% owned by Cebelian

Holdings Pte Ltd) (3)

Hungary 100 100 Design, manufacture,

assemble and distribute

electronic products

Venture Electronics Spain S.L.

(wholly-owned subsidiary of

Venture Electronics (Europe) 

B.V.) (6)

Spain 100 100 Manufacture, design,

engineering, customisation

and logistic services

Venture Electronics (Shanghai) 

Co., Ltd (wholly-owned subsidiary 

of Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd) (1)

People’s 

Republic of

China

100 100 Trading and manufacturing

of electronic and computer-

related products

Venture Electronics (Shenzhen) 

Co., Ltd (wholly-owned subsidiary 

of Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd) (5)

People’s 

Republic of

China

100 100 Manufacture and sale of

terminal units

VM Services, Inc. (wholly-owned

subsidiary of Cebelian Holdings 

Pte Ltd) (6)

United States

of America

100 100 Trading and manufacturing

of electronic and computer-

related products

Venture Electronics International,

Inc. (wholly-owned subsidiary of

VM Services, Inc.) (6)

United States

of America

100 100 Manufacture, design,

engineering, customisation

engineering, and logistic 

services
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10 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Name of subsidiaries
Country of
incorporation

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

and voting
power held Principal activities

2014 2013
% %

Venture Design Services, Inc.

(wholly-owned subsidiary of

VM Services, Inc.) (6)

United States

of America

100 100 Trading and manufacturing

of electronics and 

computer-related products, 

provision of engineering, 

customisation, logistics and 

repair services

VIPColor Technologies Pte Ltd

(a subsidiary of Cebelian 

Holdings Pte Ltd) (7)

Singapore 93.8 93.8 Develop and market colour

imaging products for label

printing

VIPColor Technologies USA, Inc.

(wholly-owned subsidiary of

VIPColor Technologies Pte Ltd) (6) (7)

United States

of America

93.8 93.8 Develop and market colour

imaging products for label

printing

Innovative Trek Technology 

Pte Ltd

Singapore 100 100 Information system

development and support

Multitech Systems Pte Ltd Singapore 100 100 Trading and manufacturing 

of electronic and computer-

related products

Scinetic Engineering Pte Ltd 

(60% owned by the Company

and 40% owned by GES 

Investment Pte Ltd)

Singapore 100

 

100 Design, trading and

manufacturing of electronic

and mechanical products

Technocom Systems Sdn Bhd (1) Malaysia 100 100 Manufacturing and 

assembly of electronic 

and other computer 

products and peripherals

Pintarmas Sdn Bhd (wholly-

owned subsidiary of Technocom

Systems Sdn Bhd) (1)

Malaysia 100 100 Manufacturing and 

assembly of electronic 

and other computer

products and peripherals

V-Design Services (M) Sdn Bhd

(wholly-owned subsidiary of

Technocom Systems Sdn Bhd) (1)

Malaysia 100 100 Design and development of

electronic products and

services
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10 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Name of subsidiaries
Country of
incorporation

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

and voting
power held Principal activities

2014 2013
% %

Venture Electronics Services

(Malaysia) Sdn Bhd (1)

Malaysia 100 100 Manufacturing and 

assembly of electronic 

and other computer 

products and peripherals

Venture Electronics Solutions 

Pte Ltd

Singapore 100 100 Manufacture, design,

engineering and logistics

services to electronics 

equipment manufacturers

Ventech Investments Ltd

(wholly-owned subsidiary of

Cebelian Holdings Pte Ltd) (6)

British Virgin

Islands

100 100 Investment holding

Univac Precision Engineering 

Pte Ltd

Singapore 100 100 Manufacture, design,

fabrication, stamping and

injection, metal punching

and spraying of industrial

metal parts, tools and dies

Munivac Sdn. Bhd. (wholly-

owned subsidiary of Univac

Precision Engineering Pte Ltd) (1)

Malaysia 100 100 Manufacture of

electronic and mechanic

components

Univac Precision, Inc. (wholly-

owned subsidiary of Univac

Precision Engineering Pte Ltd) (6)

United States

of America

100 100 Design, customisation and

marketing of tool-making

and precision engineering

solutions

Univac Design & Engineering 

Pte Ltd (a subsidiary of Univac 

Precision Engineering Pte Ltd) (2) (7)

Singapore 81.6 81.6 Investment holding

Univac Precision Plastics 

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd (wholly-

owned subsidiary of Univac 

Design & Engineering Pte Ltd) (4) (7)

People’s 

Republic of

China

81.6 81.6 Manufacture of plastic

injection moulds and

mouldings with secondary

processes and sub-

assembly

Univac Precision Plastics (SIP) 

Co., Ltd (wholly-owned subsidiary 

of Univac Design & Engineering 

Pte Ltd) (4) (7)

People’s 

Republic of

China

81.6 81.6 Manufacture of plastic

injection moulds and

mouldings with secondary

processes and sub-

assembly
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10 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)

Name of subsidiaries
Country of
incorporation

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

and voting
power held Principal activities

2014 2013
% %

GES International Limited Singapore 100 100 Investment holding and

provision of management

services

GES (Singapore) Pte Ltd

(wholly-owned subsidiary of

GES International Limited)

Singapore 100 100 Provision of manufacturing

services for original design

and manufacture and

electronic manufacturing

services

GES Investment Pte Ltd

(wholly-owned subsidiary of

GES International Limited)

Singapore 100 100 Investment holding and

provision of administrative

and technical services to

a subsidiary

Shanghai GES Information

Technology Co., Ltd (wholly-

owned subsidiary of GES 

(Singapore) Pte Ltd) (1)

People’s 

Republic of

China

100 100 Provision of manufacturing

services for original design

and manufacture and

electronic manufacturing

services

GES Manufacturing Services (M)

Sdn Bhd (wholly-owned subsidiary

of GES Investment Pte Ltd) (1)

Malaysia 100 100 Provision of manufacturing

services to electronics

equipment manufacturers

 All the companies are audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore except for the subsidiaries that are 

indicated as follows:

 (1) Audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited.

 (2) Audited by another fi rm of auditors, BSL Public Accounting Corporation.

 (3) Audited by another fi rm of auditors, Moore Stephens Hezicomp Kft.

 (4) Audited by another fi rm of auditors, Shanghai Huashen Certifi ed Public Accountants Co., Ltd.

 (5) Audited by another fi rm of auditors, BDO China Li Xin Da Hua Certifi ed Public Accountants Co., Ltd.

 (6) Not required by law to be audited in its country of incorporation and not material to the results of the Group.

 (7) The profi t or loss allocated to non-controlling interests and accumulated non-controlling interests of these non-wholly owned 

subsidiaries are individually insignifi cant to the Group.

 The net assets of the subsidiaries referred to in Notes (2), (3), (4), (5) and (6) above are less than 20% of 

the net assets of the Group as at the fi nancial year end.

 The Company has provided fi nancial support to certain subsidiaries for a period of twelve months 

from the end of the reporting period so as to enable the subsidiaries to continue to operate as going 

concerns and meet its contractual obligations when they fall due.
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11 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Quoted equity shares, at cost  62,792  62,792  51,300  51,300

Unquoted equity shares, at cost  60  60  -  -

 62,852  62,852  51,300  51,300

Share of post-acquisition profi ts,

 net of dividend received  17,923  14,101  –  –

Loss on dilution of an investment

 in an associate  (769)  (769)

 –

 –

 –

 –

Share of associate’s reserve  17  17  –  –

Currency realignment on

 translation of foreign associates  1,867  (585)  –  –

Write off of investment in an associate  (547)  (456)  –  –

Net  81,343  75,160  51,300  51,300

Market value of quoted equity shares  32,072  36,990  23,228  29,925

 Details of the Group’s associates as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of associates

Country of
incorporation
and operation

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

and voting
power held Principal activities

2014 2013
% %

Fischer Tech Ltd (1) Singapore 19.2 (3) 19.2 (3) Manufacturing of plastic

precision and engineering 

products

DMX Technologies

Group Limited (2)

Bermuda/

Hong Kong

SAR

12.3 (3) 12.3 (3) Provision of broadband

network infrastructure, digital

video and advanced mobile

solutions

 (1) Auditors are Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore. The fi nancial year end date of Fischer Tech Ltd is 31 March. For the purposes 

of applying the equity method of accounting, the fi nancial statements of Fischer Tech Ltd for the fi nancial period from 

1 October 2013 to 30 September 2014 have been used. No adjustments have been made for the effects between 30 

September 2014 and 31 December 2014 as management does not expect the effects to be signifi cant.

 

 (2) Auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Singapore (2013 : Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore). Estimates for 2014 have 

been used for the purpose of applying the equity method of accounting in view of the subsequent event as disclosed in 

Note 35.

 

 (3) The results of these associates were equity accounted for in the consolidated fi nancial statements notwithstanding that the 

Group holds less than 20% of the voting power in these companies.  The Group is deemed to exercise signifi cant infl uence 

by virtue of its board representation and through participation in decision making process.
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11 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (cont’d)

 Summarised fi nancial information in respect of the Group’s associates is set out below:

2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Total assets  810,008  755,193

Total liabilities  (169,638)  (162,212)

Non-controlling interests  (5,549)  (4,339)

Revenue  590,750  636,125

Profi t for the year 32,818  33,305

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year  539  (2,163)

Total comprehensive income for the year  33,357  31,142

Net assets of the associates  634,821  588,642

Group’s share of associates’ net assets 81,343  75,160

 

12 INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost  –  –

 Details of the Group’s joint venture as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Name of joint venture

Country of
incorporation
and operation

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

and voting
power held Principal activities

2014 2013
% %

SME Investment Pte Ltd (1) Singapore 50 50 Investment holding

 (1) Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore
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13 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Quoted equity shares (a) (Level 1)  2,116  16,309  2,116  16,309

Unquoted equity shares (b)  9,273  9,424  –  –

 11,389  25,733  2,116  16,309

 (a) The fair values of these securities are based on the quoted closing market prices on the last market day of the fi nancial 

year. Investments in quoted equity securities offer the Group and the Company the opportunity for returns through dividend 

income and fair value gains. Quoted equity shares have no fi xed maturity or coupon rate except for preference shares held 

by the Group and the Company amounting to $15,045,000 in 2013 which had a non-cumulative fi xed dividend rate of 4.7% 

per annum. 

 

 (b) The investments in unquoted equity shares includes investments in venture capital funds and other investee companies. 

These have been stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses as the fair value cannot be measured reliably.

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold 
land

Factory 
buildings

Freehold 
buildings

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings

Machinery 
and 

equipment

Leasehold 
improvements 

and 
renovations

Offi ce 
equipment, 

furniture and 
fi ttings

Computer 
hardware

Motor 
vehicles Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Group

Cost:

 At 1 January 2013  6,108  51,329  337  50,149  306,186  34,613  44,139  4,816  2,187  499,864

 Exchange differences  214  1,801  –  1,916  9,790  1,215  1,157  –  58  16,151

 Additions  1,855  9,489  –  6,185  9,632  4,494  3,048  135  53  34,891

 Disposals  –  –  –  –  (14,290)  (4,318)  (2,705)  –  (95)  (21,408)

 At 31 December 2013  8,177  62,619  337  58,250  311,318  36,004  45,639  4,951  2,203  529,498

 Exchange differences  298  2,281  –  2,122  8,469  1,079  1,067  –  46  15,362

 Additions  –  15  –  39,166  13,360  2,100  1,921  –  102  56,664

 Disposals  –  –  –  –  (28,719)  (2,218)  (6,817)  –  (211)  (37,965)

 At 31 December 2014  8,475  64,915  337  99,538  304,428  36,965  41,810  4,951  2,140  563,559

Accumulated depreciation:

 At 1 January 2013  –  20,261  150  18,477  254,062  22,860  39,687  3,773  1,739  361,009

 Exchange differences  –  705  –  671  7,657  824  999  –  46  10,902

 Depreciation  –  1,644  8  1,667  15,543  2,951  2,333  319  169  24,634

 Disposals  –  –  –  –  (13,448)  (4,009)  (2,433)  –  (88)  (19,978)

 At 31 December 2013  –  22,610  158  20,815  263,814  22,626  40,586  4,092  1,866  376,567

 Exchange differences  –  895  –  823  7,176  714  949  –  40  10,597

 Depreciation  –  1,878  8  2,460  13,968  3,177  2,027  330  110  23,958

 Disposals  –  –  –  –  (26,377)  (2,211)  (6,784)  –  (169)  (35,541)

 At 31 December 2014  –  25,383  166  24,098  258,581  24,306  36,778  4,422  1,847  375,581
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

Freehold 
land

Factory 
buildings

Freehold 
buildings

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings

Machinery 
and 

equipment

Leasehold 
improvements 

and 
renovations

Offi ce 
equipment, 

furniture and 
fi ttings

Computer 
hardware

Motor 
vehicles Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Impairment:

 At 1 January 2013,  

  31 December 2013 and

  31 December 2014  –  –  –  –  18  36  190  –  43  287

Carrying amount:

 At 31 December 2014  8,475  39,532  171  75,440  45,829  12,623  4,842  529  250  187,691

 At 31 December 2013  8,177  40,009  179  37,435  47,486  13,342  4,863  859  294  152,644

Leasehold 
land and 
building

Machinery
 and 

equipment

Leasehold 
improvements 

and 
renovations

Offi ce 
equipment, 

furniture 
and fi ttings

Motor 
vehicles Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Company

Cost:

 At 1 January 2013  –  50,838  3,528  8,548  714  63,628

 Additions  –  229  –  346  7  582

 Disposals  –  (3,580)  (378)  (454)  –  (4,412)

 At 31 December 2013  –  47,487  3,150  8,440  721  59,798

 Additions  39,166  64  287  288  52  39,857

 Disposals  –  (1,053)  –  (112)  –  (1,165)

 At 31 December 2014  39,166  46,498  3,437  8,616  773  98,490

Accumulated depreciation:

 At 1 January 2013  –  49,404  2,907  8,142  619  61,072

 Depreciation  –  611  157  273  64  1,105

 Disposals  –  (3,575)  (372)  (449)  –  (4,396)

 At 31 December 2013  –  46,440  2,692  7,966  683  57,781

 Depreciation  773  428  152  276  15  1,644

 Disposals  –  (1,015)  –  (112)  –  (1,127)

 At 31 December 2014  773  45,853  2,844  8,130  698  58,298

Carrying amount:

 At 31 December 2014  38,393  645  593  486  75  40,192

 At 31 December 2013  –  1,047  458  474  38  2,017
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Customer 
relationships

Development 
expenditure

Computer 
software

Intellectual 
property Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The Group

Cost:

 At 1 January 2013  168,483  54,910  25,588  1,663  250,644

 Additions  –  3,032  –  –  3,032

 Exchange differences  –  875  –  59  934

 At 31 December 2013  168,483  58,817  25,588  1,722  254,610

 Additions  –  806  1  –  807

 Exchange differences  –  121  –  63  184

 At 31 December 2014  168,483  59,744  25,589  1,785  255,601

Accumulated amortisation:

 At 1 January 2013  102,494  43,335  25,581  583  171,993

 Amortisation  16,848  3,715  7  339  20,909

 Exchange differences  –  794  –  25  819

 At 31 December 2013  119,342  47,844  25,588  947  193,721

 Amortisation  16,848  3,248  –  344  20,440

 Exchange differences  –  –  –  48  48

 At 31 December 2014  136,190  51,092  25,588  1,339  214,209

Carrying amount:

 At 31 December 2014  32,293  8,652  1  446  41,392

 At 31 December 2013  49,141  10,973  –  775  60,889
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (cont’d)

Development Computer
expenditure software Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

The Company

Cost:

At 1 January 2013  30,743  1,467  32,210

Additions  1,758  –  1,758

At 31 December 2013  32,501  1,467  33,968

Additions  32  –  32

At 31 December 2014  32,533  1,467  34,000

Accumulated amortisation:

At 1 January 2013  20,654  1,467  22,121

Amortisation  3,612  –  3,612

At 31 December 2013  24,266  1,467  25,733

Amortisation  3,151  –  3,151

At 31 December 2014  27,417  1,467  28,884

Carrying amount:

At 31 December 2014  5,116  –  5,116

At 31 December 2013  8,235  –  8,235

 The amortisation period for development expenditure and computer software is three years which 

approximates the useful lives of the intangible assets. Intellectual property relates to licensing rights for 

manufacture of equipment and is amortised over its estimated useful life of fi ve years.

 

 The fair value of the customer relationships which arose from the acquisition of GES (Note 16) on 29 

November 2006 has been amortised over its useful life of ten years and the amortisation charge for the 

year of $16,848,000 (2013 : $16,848,000) has been recorded in profi t or loss.



113Annual Report 2014

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2014

16 GOODWILL

The Group
$’000

Cost:

 At 1 January 2013, 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2014  640,593

Impairment:

 At 1 January 2013, 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2014  885

Carrying amount:

 At 1 January 2013, 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2014  639,708

 Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash-generating units 

(“CGUs”) that are expected to benefi t from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill 

has been allocated as follows:

2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Retail Store Solutions and Industrial

(a) GES International Limited and its subsidiaries (“GES”) (single CGU)  573,568  573,568

Components Technology

(b) Univac Precision Engineering Pte Ltd and its subsidiaries

 (single CGU)

 55,160  55,160

Electronics Services Provider

(c) Venture Electronics Solutions Pte Ltd (single CGU)  10,635  10,635

(d) Others  345  345

Total  639,708  639,708

 The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill 

might be impaired.

 In accordance with the requirements of FRS 36, the value in use calculations applied a discounted cash 

fl ow model using management approved cash fl ow projections.

 The key assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount of the CGUs are those regarding 

discount rates, revenue growth rates, profi tability margins, capital expenditures, working capital cycles 

and non-operating cash balances, as at the assessment date.
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16 GOODWILL (cont’d)

 The discount rates applied to the cash fl ows projections are derived from the weighted average cost 

of capital plus a reasonable risk premium applicable to the CGUs at the date of assessment of the 

recoverable amounts. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash fl ows of the respective CGUs 

beyond the forecast period is 2% (2013 : 2%), which does not exceed the long-term growth rate for the 

relevant markets.  The implied pre-tax rates used to discount the cash fl ow projections of the respective 

CGUs are as follows:

 (a) The rate used to discount the cash fl ows from GES International Limited and its subsidiaries is 

11.0% (2013 : 10.5%).

 (b) The rate used to discount the cash fl ows from Univac Precision Engineering Pte Ltd and its 

subsidiaries is 11.0% (2013 : 10.9%).

 (c) The rate used to discount the cash fl ows from Venture Electronics Solutions Pte Ltd is 13.0% 

(2013 : 9.7%).

 The values assigned to other key assumptions are based on past performances and expected future 

market development.

 As at the end of the respective reporting periods, any reasonably possible change to the key 

assumptions applied is not likely to cause the recoverable amounts to be below the carrying amount of 

the CGUs.

17 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Deferred tax assets:

Balance at beginning of year  6,885  5,315

Credit to profi t or loss for the year (Note 27)  245  1,003

Underprovision in prior years  –  371

Exchange differences  271  196

Balance at end of year  7,401  6,885

 The deferred tax assets mainly comprise the tax effect of temporary differences associated with 

tax credits for certain overseas research and development activities and accelerated accounting 

depreciation.
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17 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) (cont’d)

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Deferred tax liabilities:

Balance at beginning of year  9,981  13,580

Credit to profi t or loss for the year (Note 27)  (3,754)  (3,388)

Reclassifi cation  –  (186)

Exchange differences  10  (25)

Balance at end of year  6,237  9,981

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation

Fair value
of assets 

acquired on 
acquisition of 

subsidiaries Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Components of deferred tax liabilities:

Balance at 1 January 2013  1,304  12,276  13,580

Credit to profi t or loss for the year  (118)  –  (118)

Released upon the amortisation of

 customer relationships (1)  –  (3,270)  (3,270)

Reclassifi cation  (186)  –  (186)

Exchange differences  (25)  –  (25)

Balance at 31 December 2013  975  9,006  9,981

Credit to profi t or loss for the year  (606)  –  (606)

Released upon the amortisation of

 customer relationships (1)  –  (3,148)  (3,148)

Exchange differences  10  –  10

Balance at 31 December 2014  379  5,858  6,237

 (1) The deferred tax liabilities in 2014 and 2013 mainly comprise the tax effect of fair valuation of net assets acquired from GES 

in 2006 and these were released upon the amortisation of customer relationships (Note 15).
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18 BANK LOANS

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Bank loans (unsecured)  169,000  161,795  78,696  68,337

  

 The bank loans comprise:

 1) Bank borrowings of $78,696,000 (2013 : $68,337,000) which are revolving credit facilities drawn 

down by the Company.  The loans bear effective interest rates ranging from 0.37% to 0.67% 

(2013 : 0.368% to 0.67%) per annum.

 2) Bank borrowings of $5,050,000 (2013 : $6,771,000) which are revolving credit facilities drawn 

down by a subsidiary.  The loans bear effective interest rates ranging from 0.60% to 0.72% (2013 

: 0.73%) per annum.

 3) Bank borrowings of $24,920,000 (2013 : $38,598,000) which are revolving credit facilities drawn 

down by subsidiaries. The loans bear effective interest rates ranging from 0.57% to 0.77% (2013 : 

0.57% to 0.77%) per annum.

 4) Bank borrowings of $34,102,000 (2013 : $22,779,000) which are revolving credit facilities drawn 

down by subsidiaries. The loans bear effective interest rate of 0.70% (2013 : 0.73% to 0.77%) per 

annum.

 5) Bank borrowings of $26,232,000 (2013 : $25,310,000) which are revolving credit facilities drawn 

down by a subsidiary. The loans bear effective interest rates ranging from 0.70% to 0.77% (2013 : 

0.73% to 0.77%) per annum.

19 TRADE PAYABLES

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Outside parties  385,683  335,124  43,103  45,002

 The average credit period on purchases of goods is 70 days (2014 : 63 days).  No interest is charged by 

suppliers on trade payables.  The Group has fi nancial risk management policies in place to ensure that 

all payables are within the credit time frame.

 

 Trade payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs.
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20 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Other payables  8,403  12,637  –  –

Salary related accruals  33,990  31,722  14,933  12,312

Accrued expenses  50,522  55,762  13,110  12,521

 92,915  100,121  28,043  24,833

 Salary related accruals for both the Group and the Company include $2,643,000 (2013 : $2,373,000) 

due to Directors. The amount due to Directors is unsecured, interest-free and payable within 12 months.

21 SHARE CAPITAL, TREASURY SHARES AND RESERVES

SHARE CAPITAL
The Group and the Company

2014 2013 2014 2013
Number of 

ordinary shares
’000 ’000 $’000 $’000

Issued and paid up:

 At the beginning of the year  275,011  274,396  678,370  673,223

 Issuance of shares  28  615  209  5,147

 At the end of the year  275,039  275,011  678,579  678,370

 Fully paid ordinary shares which have no par value, carry one vote per share and a right to dividends as 

and when declared by the Company.

TREASURY SHARES
The Group and the Company

2014 2013 2014 2013
Number of

ordinary shares
’000 ’000 $’000 $’000

At the beginning of the year  275  74  2,081  569

Repurchased during the year  –  201  –  1,512

At the end of the year  275  275  2,081  2,081

 In 2013, the Company paid $1,512,000 to acquire 201,000 of its own shares through purchases on the 

Singapore Exchange. These were held as treasury shares which can, in accordance with the Companies 

Act be sold for cash; transferred for the purposes of or pursuant to an employee’s share-based scheme; 

transferred as consideration for the acquisition of shares in or assets of another company or assets of a 

person; or cancelled.
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21 SHARE CAPITAL, TREASURY SHARES AND RESERVES (cont’d)

 SHARE-BASED AWARDS RESERVE

 This arises on the grant of share options to employees under the employee share option schemes and 

restricted share plan. Further information about share-based payments to employees is set out in Note 

23.

 INVESTMENTS REVALUATION RESERVE

 This arose mainly from the revaluation of an investment prior to it being reclassifi ed from an available-for-

sale investment to an investment in associate in 2011. 

 RESERVE FUND

 This represents a part of the profi t after tax of a subsidiary operating in the People’s Republic of China 

(“PRC”) transferred to the reserve fund in accordance with local requirements.  This legal reserve cannot 

be distributed or reduced except where approval is obtained from the relevant PRC authority to apply 

the amount either in setting off accumulated losses or increasing capital.

22 TRANSLATION RESERVE

 Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies of the Group’s subsidiaries 

into Singapore dollars are brought to account by recognising those exchange differences in other 

comprehensive income and accumulating them in a separate component of equity under the header of 

translation reserve.

23  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

 Equity-settled share option schemes

 The Company has a share option scheme for qualifying employees of the Group and the Company 

which was approved on 25 April 2014 and commenced on 1 January 2015 (“2015 Scheme”). There are 

no options granted under the 2015 Scheme yet. There was an earlier share option scheme which was 

approved on 30 April 2004 and expired on 30 April 2014 (“2004 Scheme”). Notwithstanding the expiry 

of the 2004 Scheme, any outstanding and unexercised options held by option holders prior to such 

expiry will continue to remain valid. The schemes are administered by the Remuneration Committee.  

Options are exercisable at a price determined with reference to market price of shares at the time of 

grant of the options.  The vesting period is one year.  If the options remain unexercised after a period of 

fi ve years from the date of grant, the options would expire.  Options are forfeited if the employee leaves 

the Group.
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23  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont’d)

 Equity-settled share option schemes (cont’d)

 Details of the share options outstanding during the year under the 2004 Scheme are as follows:

The Group and the Company
2014 2013

Number 
of share
options

Weighted
average
exercise

price

Number 
of share
options

Weighted
average
exercise

price
$ $

Outstanding at beginning of the year  13,050,000 9.11  12,794,000 9.26

Granted during the year  2,979,000 9.32  3,363,000 9.50

Forfeited during the year  (1,109,000) 8.95  (874,000) 9.12

Exercised during the year  (28,000) 7.46  (615,000) 8.37

Expired during the year  – –  (1,618,000) 8.37

Outstanding at end of the year  14,892,000 8.77  13,050,000 9.11

Exercisable at end of the year  12,063,000 8.65  9,766,000 8.98

 The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year 

was $7.75 (2013 : $8.60).  The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average 

remaining contractual life of 2.4 years (2013 : 3.0 years).

 The Group recognised total expenses of $1,202,000 (2013 : $1,121,000) relating to the equity-settled 

share-based payment transactions during the year.

 Options Granted

 The fair values under the respective grants were calculated using the trinomial model with the following 

inputs:

Options granted on 
3 April 2014

Options granted on 
16 September 2013

Estimated fair value of options granted on 
 above dates $0.22 per option $0.31 per option

Share price at valuation date $7.59 $7.68

Exercise price $9.315(1) $9.500(2)

$8.570(3) $8.360(4)

$7.452(5) $7.980(6)

$7.600(7)

Expected volatility 22%(8) 29%(8)

Exercise multiple (times) 1.03 1.03

Risk free rate 1.44% 1.18%

Expected dividend yield 6.38% 6.92%
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23  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont’d)

 Options Granted (cont’d)

 (1) If exercised between 3 April 2015 and 2 April 2016

 (2) If exercised between 16 September 2014 and 15 September 2015

 (3) If exercised between 3 April 2016 and 2 April 2017

 (4) If exercised between 16 September 2015 and 15 September 2016

 (5) If exercised between 3 April 2017 and 2 April 2019

 (6) If exercised between 16 September 2016 and 15 September 2017

 (7) If exercised between 16 September 2017 and 15 September 2018

 (8) Expected volatility was determined by considering the historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 

5 years. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of 

non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations. 

 Restricted Share Plan (RSP)

 The Venture Corporation Restricted Share Plan (“RSP”) was approved by the Company’s shareholders 

at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company on 28 April 2011. The RSP is administered by the 

Remuneration Committee (“Committee”).

 Managers in senior positions in the Group or leadership positions in management, technology or 

possess other domain expertise and competencies and who are in a position to contribute or have 

signifi cantly contributed to the performance, growth and profi tability of the Group, as may be designated 

by the Committee, shall be eligible to participate in the RSP. Such managers must have been employed 

in the Company and/or its subsidiaries for a minimum period as determined by the Committee.

 

 Movement in the awards by the Company during the fi nancial year was as follows:

The Group and 
the Company

2014 2013

At 1 January  270,000  150,000

Granted  120,000  120,000

At 31 December  390,000  270,000

 The Group recognised total expenses of $331,000 (2013 : $215,000) relating to RSP transactions during 

the year.
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23  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont’d)

 RSP Granted

2014 2013
Vest on 26 May 2019 17 May 2018

Risk-free interest rate 1.40% 0.57%

Share price at valuation date $7.21 $7.28

Expected dividend yield 6.93% 6.87%

Fair value of the contingent award of shares at grant date 

 using the above inputs (per share) $4.81 $4.82

 The awards have a 5-year vesting period and are subject to the rules of the RSP.

 The mode of settlement of the awards under the RSP may be by way of:

 (i) allotment and issue of new shares; and/or

 (ii) the delivery of existing shares; and/or

 (iii) payment of the equivalent value in cash (after deduction of any applicable taxes and Central 

Provident Fund and/or other statutory contributions); and/or

 (iv) a combination of above (i), (ii) and (iii).

24 REVENUE

The Group

2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Electronic manufacturing, engineering, design and fulfi lment 

 services revenue  2,465,090  2,328,775

Dividend income  365  776

 2,465,455  2,329,551

25 OTHER INCOME

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Government grants  –  162

Other income  1,123  819

Total  1,123  981
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26 INVESTMENT REVENUE

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Interest on bank deposits  2,517  1,459

27 INCOME TAX

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Income tax on profi t for the year:

Current year  19,532  13,775

Under(over) provision in prior years  1,107  (21)

Deferred income tax (Note 17):

Current year  (3,999)  (4,391)

Overprovision in prior years  –  (371)

Total  16,640  8,992

 Domestic income tax of the Company is calculated at 17% (2013 : 17%) of the estimated assessable 

income for the year.  Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant 

jurisdictions.

 The total income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profi t as follows:

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Profi t before income tax  156,456  139,933

Income tax expense at statutory tax rate  26,598  23,789

Non-allowable items  993  (314)

Under(over) provision of income tax in prior years, net  1,107  (392)

Deferred tax benefi ts not recognised –  94

Effect of different tax rates of overseas operations  7,306  7,969

Tax-exempt income  (19,030)  (21,042)

Recognition of deferred tax benefi ts  (245)  (1,003)

Utilisation of deferred tax benefi ts previously not recognised  (194)  (183)

Other items  105  74

Total income tax  16,640  8,992

 The income tax for the Group differs from the amount determined by applying the statutory tax rates 

primarily due to pioneer status and other tax incentives granted to the Company and its subsidiaries.
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27 INCOME TAX (cont’d)

 Management has assessed the achievability of the qualifying terms and conditions of some of the 

Company’s subsidiaries under the respective pioneer status awarded in the previous fi nancial years and 

intends to engage in negotiations with the relevant authorities on amending certain qualifying terms and 

conditions which management is of the view that the subsidiaries will be able to satisfy. Based on past 

experience with the relevant authorities, management is of the view that the terms and conditions can be 

amended and that the tax provisions for the Group are adequate as at 31 December 2014.

 Subject to agreement with the relevant tax authorities, the Group has the following available for offsetting 

against future taxable income:

Tax losses
carryforward

Temporary
difference
on capital
allowance Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 2013  8,617  4,035  12,652

Amount in current year  553  –  553

Amount utilised in current year  (1,076)  –  (1,076)

Balance at 31 December 2013  8,094  4,035  12,129

Amount utilised in current year  (1,139)  –  (1,139)

Balance at 31 December 2014  6,955  4,035  10,990

Deferred tax benefi t on above not recorded:

At 31 December 2014  1,182  686  1,868

At 31 December 2013  1,376  686  2,062

 At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of deferred tax liabilities in respect of 

temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries that have not been 

recognised is $14,919,000 (2013 : $13,405,000).  No liability has been recognised in respect of these 

differences because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

differences and it is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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28 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

 Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the fi nancial statements, profi t for the year has been arrived at after 

charging:

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  56  434

Directors’ remuneration:

- Directors of the Company 3,775  3,439

- Directors of the subsidiaries and joint venture 7,456  7,321

- Directors’ fees payable to Directors of the Company 403  450

Total Directors’ remuneration 11,634  11,210

Employee benefi ts expense (including Directors’ remuneration):

- Equity settled share-based payments  1,533  1,336

- Defi ned contribution plans  23,722  23,332

- Salaries  231,120  222,565

Total employee benefi ts expense  256,375  247,233

Impairment loss on fi nancial assets:

- Allowance for doubtful trade receivables  76  149

Cost of inventories recognised as expense  1,893,661  1,792,990

Audit fees:

- Paid to auditors of the Company  406  406

- Paid to other auditors  174  174

Total audit fees  580  580

Non-audit fees:

- Non-audit fees paid to other auditors  91  11

Total non-audit fees  91  11

Aggregate amount of fees paid to auditors  671  591
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29 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Group
2014 2013

Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profi t for the year attributable to owners

 of the Company  139,789  139,789  131,134  131,134

Number of shares Number of shares
’000 ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

 used to compute earnings per share  274,746  274,862  274,695  274,942

Earnings per share (cents)  50.9  50.9  47.7  47.7

30 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases and recognised

 as an expense in the year  14,593  14,468

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company have outstanding commitments under 

non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within one year  13,647  10,439  7,926  3,747

In the second to fi fth year inclusive  32,721  7,530  27,383  62

After the fi fth year  1,797  946  – –

Total  48,165  18,915  35,309  3,809

 Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for factory spaces, offi ce premises 

and residential premises. Leases are negotiated for an average term of three to seven years and rentals 

are fi xed for an average of three to seven years.
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31 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

The Group
2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Estimated amounts committed for future capital expenditure but not 

 provided for in the fi nancial statements  7,204  43,295

 In 2013, Venture Electronics Services (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd, a subsidiary, entered into sale and purchase 

agreements to acquire a plot of land in Penang, Malaysia. The plot of land costs $13,374,000 (2013 : 

$12,793,000) of which $6,989,000 (2013 : $6,396,000) had been paid and included as other receivables 

in Note 8. This acquisition is subject to and conditional upon obtaining approvals from government 

authorities as well as the fulfi lment of other condition precedents. It will be completed only if all the 

relevant approvals have been obtained and condition precedents have been fulfi lled.

32 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (UNSECURED)

The Group The Company
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Letters of guarantee issued by bankers 13,782  12,921  6,718  6,906

33 SEGMENT INFORMATION

 The Group operates predominantly as a provider of manufacturing, engineering, design and fulfi lment 

services to the electronics industry.  Information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker 

for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance is as follows:

 (i) Electronics Services Provider

 

 (ii) Retail Store Solutions and Industrial

 (iii) Component Technology 

 Accordingly, the above are the Group’s reportable segments under FRS 108.



127Annual Report 2014

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 DECEMBER 2014

33 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

 Segment revenue and results

Electronics
services
provider

Retail store
solutions and

industrial
Component
technology Eliminations Group

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014

Revenue:

External sales  1,620,163  741,549  103,743  –  2,465,455

Inter-segment sales  12,739  3,859  13,257  (29,855)  –

Total revenue  1,632,902  745,408  117,000  (29,855)  2,465,455

Results:

Segment profi t  94,945  50,820  4,565 –  150,330

Investment revenue  2,517

Interest expense  (1,015)

Share of profi t of associates  4,624

Profi t before income tax  156,456

Income tax expense  (16,640)

Profi t for the year  139,816

2013

Revenue:

External sales  1,502,196  730,749  96,606  –  2,329,551

Inter-segment sales  2,598  1,976  482  (5,056)  –

Total revenue  1,504,794  732,725  97,088  (5,056)  2,329,551

Results:

Segment profi t  83,998  50,108  1,185  –  135,291

Investment revenue  1,459

Interest expense  (1,170)

Share of profi t of associates  4,353

Profi t before income tax  139,933

Income tax expense  (8,992)

Profi t for the year  130,941

 The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies 

described in Note 2.  Segment profi t represents profi t earned by each segment without allocation of 

investment revenue, fi nance cost, share of profi t of associates and income tax expense.  This is the 

measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and 

assessment of segment performance.
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33 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

 Segment assets

Electronics
services
provider

Retail store
solutions and

industrial
Component
technology Group

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014

Segment assets  1,201,919  1,083,001  143,142  2,428,062

Investments in associates  81,343

Available-for-sale investments  11,389

Income tax recoverable/deferred 

 tax assets  7,417

Consolidated total assets  2,528,211

2013

Segment assets  1,164,614  1,028,674  141,237  2,334,525

Investments in associates  75,160

Available-for-sale investments  25,733

Income tax recoverable/deferred 

 tax assets  6,947

Consolidated total assets  2,442,365

 For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the 

chief operating decision maker monitors the tangible, intangible and fi nancial assets attributable to each 

segment.

 All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than investments in associates (Note 11), available-

for-sale investments (Note 13) and income tax assets. Goodwill has been allocated to reportable 

segments as described in Note 16.
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33 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

 Other segment information

Electronics
services
provider

Retail store
solutions and

industrial
Component
technology Group

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014

Additions to non-current assets  49,576  4,198  3,697  57,471

Depreciation and amortisation  15,457  24,036  4,905  44,398

Inventories written off  148  –  47  195

Allowance (Reversal of allowance) 

 for inventories  –  293  (5)  288

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables  76  –  –  76

Loss (Gain) on disposal of plant 

 and equipment  298  (290)  48  56

Foreign currency exchange 

 adjustment (gain) loss  (1,109)  (173)  636  (646)

2013

Additions to non-current assets  18,995  7,103  11,825  37,923

Depreciation and amortisation  16,174  24,248  5,121  45,543

Inventories written off  494  76  122  692

Allowance for inventories  737  415  17  1,169

Allowance for doubtful trade receivables  149  –  –  149

Loss on disposal of plant 

 and equipment  270  16  148  434

Foreign currency exchange 

 adjustment (gain) loss  (3,448)  (1,047)  227  (4,268)

 Major components of Group’s revenue

2014 2013
$’000 $’000

Printing & Imaging  274,802  271,683

Networking & Communications  416,902  394,453

Retail Store Solutions & Industrial Products  741,549  730,644

Computer Peripherals & Data Storage  240,143  291,144

Test & Measurement/Medical & Life Science/Others  792,059  641,627

Consolidated revenue (excluding investment revenue)  2,465,455  2,329,551
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33 SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)

 Geographical information

 The Group operates in two principal geographical areas - Singapore (country of domicile) and Asia-

Pacifi c (excluding Singapore).

 The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its segment assets (non-current 

assets excluding investments in associates, deferred tax assets and fi nancial assets) by geographical 

locations are detailed below:

Revenue from 
external customers Non-current assets
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Singapore  675,502  728,703  725,331  708,147

Asia-Pacifi c (excluding Singapore)  1,703,775  1,503,602  139,306  141,879

Others  86,178  97,246  4,154  3,215

 2,465,455  2,329,551  868,791  853,241

 Information about major customers

 The total revenue for the Electronics Services Provider segment includes revenue from one customer 

(2013 : one customer) which individually makes up more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue.

34 DIVIDENDS

 In the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013, the Company declared and paid a fi nal one-tier tax-

exempt dividend of $0.50 per ordinary share on the ordinary shares of the Company totalling 

$137,456,000 in respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2012.

 In the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2014, the Company declared and paid a fi nal one-tier tax-

exempt dividend of $0.50 per ordinary share on the ordinary shares of the Company totalling 

$137,368,000 in respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2013.

 In respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2014, the Directors of the Company propose that a 

fi nal one-tier tax-exempt dividend of $0.50 per ordinary share be paid to all shareholders. Subject to the 

approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 29 April 2015, this proposed 

dividend has not been included as a liability in these fi nancial statements.  The total estimated dividend 

to be paid is $137,382,000.
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35 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

 Subsequent to the year end, an associate of the Company, DMX Technologies Group Limited (“DMX”), 

announced that its Chief Executive Offi cer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Offi cer (“CFO”) were investigated 

by the Commercial Crime Bureau of the Hong Kong Police Force on a suspected offence that took 

place in 2008. They have been suspended from all executive duties with effect from 9 February 2015 

for an indefi nite period.  To ensure the continuity of DMX operations during this period, the DMX Board 

has appointed two offi cers to oversee the portfolio and responsibilities of the CEO and CFO offi ce 

respectively.

 

 DMX has obtained an extension up to 1 April 2015 from the SGX-ST to announce their fi nancial 

statements for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2014. On 24 March 2015, DMX announced that it 

has applied to SGX-ST for the suspension of trading of its shares effective 25 March 2015, with further 

extension of time to announce its fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 2014. 

In addition, DMX announced that the Hong Kong legal counsel’s fi ndings of its investigation indicated 

that there were irregular accounting practices at two of DMX’s subsidiaries in 2008 and 2009, which will 

require the scope of its investigations to be continued and expanded.  

 

 Based on the information as at the date of these fi nancial statements, management of the Company is 

not aware of any indications that would require material adjustments and/or disclosures to the carrying 

amount of its investment in DMX (save as disclosed above and in Note 11). As management of the 

Company has the intent and ability to hold its investment in DMX, it will be recovered through use 

instead of sale.
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 10 MARCH 2015

Number of shares : 275,146,577

Number of treasury shares : 275,000

Number of shares (excluding Treasury Shares) : 274,871,577

Class of shares : Ordinary 

Voting rights : One vote per share 

 
DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS  

Size of Shareholdings 
No. of

 Shareholders % No. of Shares % 

1 – 99 24   0.23 300 0.00

100 – 1,000 3,656 35.15 3,599,390 1.31

1,001 – 10,000 5,900 56.73 22,448,325 8.16

10,001 – 1,000,000 810 7.79 32,187,373 11.70

1,000,001 and above 10   0.10 216,911,189 78.83

 10,400 100.00 275,146,577 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 

No. Name
 No. of

Shares held %(1)

1 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD  57,518,465 20.93 

2 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD          54,994,273          20.01 

3 BNP PARIBAS SECURITIES SERVICES 34,970,707          12.72 

4 DBSN SERVICES PTE LTD          22,830,552           8.31 

5 HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 22,472,144           8.18 

6 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 11,059,632           4.02 

7 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD    8,406,700           3.06 

8 DB NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD       1,682,594           0.61 

9 TAN CHOON HUAT                1,618,145           0.59 

10 BANK OF SINGAPORE NOMINEES PTE LTD   1,357,977           0.49 

11 MORGAN STANLEY ASIA (S) SECURITIES PTE LTD    872,862           0.32 

12 YONG YING-I                     860,000           0.31 

13 OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED   809,522           0.29 

14 YONG WEI-WOO NEE CHEANG WEI-WOO     760,000           0.28 

15 CHONG CHEW LIM @ CHONG AH KAU   600,200           0.22 

16 SOO ENG HIONG                   584,518           0.21 

17 WONG NGIT LIONG                  574,619           0.21 

18 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD      526,742           0.19 

19 DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (S) PTE LTD    489,915           0.18 

20 PAY AH LUI                      470,000           0.17 

223,459,567          81.30 

Note:

(1) Based on 274,871,577 Shares in issue at the Latest Practicable Date (being 275,146,577 Shares in issue and disregarding 

275,000 Shares held in treasury).
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Name
Direct 

Interest %(1)

Deemed
 Interest(2) %(1)

Aberdeen Asset Management PLC(3) – – 57,274,030 20.84

Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited – – 52,146,130 18.97

Aberdeen International Fund Managers Limited – – 21,926,430 7.97

Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited – – 16,464,300 5.99

Sprucegrove Investment Management Ltd – – 22,103,702 8.04

Wong Ngit Liong 19,166,619 6.97 – –

Notes: 

(1)  Based on 274,871,577 Shares in issue at the Latest Practicable Date (being 275,146,577 Shares in issue and disregarding 275,000 

Shares held in treasury).  

(2)  Deemed interest refer to interests determined pursuant to Section 7 of the Companies Act.  

(3)  Deemed interest of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC includes the deemed interest of Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited, 

Aberdeen International Fund Managers Limited and Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited. 

SHARES HELD IN THE HANDS OF THE PUBLIC 

Based on information available to the Company as at 10 March 2015, approximately 62.65%(1) of the issued 

ordinary shares of the Company is held by the public and therefore Rule 723 of the Listing Manual is complied 

with. 

Note: 

(1) Percentage is calculated based on the total number of 274,871,577 shares, excluding treasury shares. 
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Share Prices 2014 (S$)
Last Transacted  7.87 

High  8.15 

Low  7.15 

Average  7.63 

Total Volume for 2014  96,289,860 
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Informal Briefing on Venture Corporation Limited FY 2014 Results 

Chief Financial Offi cer Ng Chee Kwoon will take questions on Venture Corporation Limited FY 2014 Results 

and contents of the 2014 Annual Report at 9.30 a.m. immediately preceding the formal commencement of 

the Annual General Meeting.

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of VENTURE CORPORATION LIMITED (“the 

Company”) will be held at The Boardroom, 5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5, #05-01/12 TECHplace II, Singapore 

569873, on 29 April 2015 at 10.00 a.m. for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the Company for the year 

ended 31 December 2014 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To declare a final one-tier tax-exempt dividend of 50 cents per ordinary share for the year ended 

31 December 2014 (2013: final one-tier tax-exempt dividend of 50 cents per ordinary share). 

  (Resolution 2)

3. To re-elect the following Director retiring pursuant to Article 74 of the Company’s Articles of Association 

and who, being eligible, offer himself for re-election:

 Retiring under Article 74

 Mr Jonathan S. Huberman (Resolution 3)

4. To re-appoint the following Directors, pursuant to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of 

Singapore (“Companies Act”) to hold office from the date of the Annual General Meeting until the next 

Annual General Meeting:

 Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong (Resolution 4a)
 Mr Goon Kok Loon (Resolution 4b)
 Mr Koh Lee Boon  (Resolution 4c)
 Mr Wong Ngit Liong (Resolution 4d)

5. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$403,333 for the year ended 31 December 2014

(2013: S$450,000). (Resolution 5)

6. To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors to 

fix their remuneration. (Resolution 6)

7. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass with or without any amendments, the following resolutions as Ordinary 

Resolutions:
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8. Authority to allot and issue shares

 That, pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the 

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby given to the 

Directors of the Company to:

 (A) (i) issue shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or 

otherwise; and/or

  (ii) make or grant offers, awards, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might 

or would require Shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue 

of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into 

Shares,

  at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as 

the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

 (B) notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force, issue 

Shares in pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution 

was in force,

 provided that:

 (a) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Shares to be 

issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 

50% of the total number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares (as calculated in accordance 

with paragraph (b) below), of which the aggregate number of Shares to be issued other than on 

a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company (including Shares to be issued in pursuance 

of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) shall not exceed 10% of the total 

number of issued Shares excluding treasury shares (as calculated in accordance with paragraph 

(b) below);

 (b) subject to such manner of calculation and adjustments as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST, for 

the purpose of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under paragraph 

(a) above, the percentage of issued Shares shall be based on the total number of issued Shares 

excluding treasury shares at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

  (i) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share 

options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time this 

Resolution is passed; and

  (ii) any subsequent bonus issue or consolidation or subdivision of Shares;

 (c) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the 

provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance 

has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for the time being of the 

Company; and

 (d) unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred by this 

Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the 

Company, or the date by which such Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law 

to be held, or the expiration of such other period as may be prescribed by the Companies Act 

and every other legislation for the time being in force concerning companies and affecting the 

Company, whichever is the earliest. (Resolution 7)
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9. Authority to allot and issue shares under the Venture Corporation Executives’ Share Option 
Schemes

 That, pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of 
the Company to:

 (a)  offer and grant options from time to time in accordance with the provisions of the Venture 
Corporation Executives’ Share Option Scheme 2015 which commenced on 1 January 2015 
(“2015 Scheme”) and allot and issue from time to time such number of Shares as may be required 
to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options under the 2015 Scheme;

 (b) allot and issue from time to time such number of Shares as may be required to be issued 
pursuant to the exercise of options granted under the Venture Corporation Executives’ Share 
Option Scheme adopted in 2004 (“2004 Scheme”) and notwithstanding that the authority under 
this Resolution may have ceased to be in force, allot and issue from time to time such number 
of Shares as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of options granted under the 
2015 Scheme while the authority was in force; and

 (c) do all such acts and things as may be necessary or expedient to carry the same into effect,

 provided that the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to the 2004 Scheme and 2015 
Scheme shall be in accordance with the limit(s) as prescribed in the 2004 Scheme, 2015 Scheme and 
by the SGX-ST. (Resolution 8)

10. Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate

 That:

 (a) for the purposes of Sections 76C and 76E of the Companies Act, the exercise by the Directors 
of the Company of all the powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire Shares not 
exceeding in aggregate the Maximum Limit (as hereafter defined), at such price or prices as may 
be determined by the Directors from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter defined), 
whether by way of:

  (i) market purchase(s) on the SGX-ST; and/or

  (ii) off-market purchase(s) (if effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST) in accordance with any 
equal access scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by the Directors as they 
consider fit, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies 
Act,

  and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as 
may for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and 
unconditionally (“Share Purchase Mandate”);

 (b) unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred on the 
Directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may be exercised by the 
Directors at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from the date of the 
passing of this Resolution and expiring on the earlier of:

  (i) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held; and

  (ii) the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to 

be held;
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 (c) in this Resolution:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the last dealt prices of a Share for the five 

(5) consecutive Market Days (as defined in the Letter to Shareholders) on which the Shares 

are transacted on the SGX-ST immediately preceding the date of the market purchase by the 

Company or, as the case may be, the date of the making of the offer pursuant to the off-market 

purchase, and deemed to be adjusted in accordance with the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for 

any corporate action which occurs after the relevant five-day period;

  “date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company makes an offer for the 

purchase or acquisition of Shares from holders of Shares, stating therein the relevant terms of the 

equal access scheme for effecting the off-market purchase;

  “Maximum Limit” means that number of issued Shares representing 10% of the total number of 

issued Shares as at the date of the passing of this Resolution (excluding any Shares which are 

held as treasury shares as at that date); and

  “Maximum Price”, in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase price 

(excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) 

which shall not exceed:

  (i) in the case of a market purchase of a Share, 105% of the Average Closing Price of the 

Shares; and

  (ii) in the case of an off-market purchase of a Share pursuant to an equal access scheme, 

110% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares; and

 (d) the Directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and 

do all such acts and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they 

and/or he may consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated 

and/or authorised by this Resolution. (Resolution 9)

By Order of the Board

Angeline Khoo Cheng Nee

Company Secretary

Singapore

2 April 2015
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Explanatory Notes:

Resolution 3 For Ordinary Resolution 3, Mr Jonathan S. Huberman will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as a 
member of the Investment Committee.  Mr Huberman is considered an Independent Director. 

 The profile and experience of Mr Jonathan S. Huberman can be found on page 21 of the Company’s Annual Report 2014. 

The effect of the Ordinary Resolutions 4a, 4b, 4c and 4d proposed, is to re-appoint directors who are over 70 years of age. Under the 
revised Companies Act which was gazetted in December 2014 but yet to come into effect, a director who is over the age of 70 years will 
no longer be required to be re-appointed by shareholders annually, and instead will retire by rotation.

Resolution 4a For Ordinary Resolution 4a, Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong will, upon re-appointment as a Director of the Company, remain 
as Chairman of the Nominating Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee. Mr 
Wong is considered an Independent Director. 

 Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong was last re-appointed as Director of the Company on 25 April 2014. The profile and 
experience of Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong can be found on page 20 of the Company’s Annual Report 2014.

Resolution 4b For Ordinary Resolution 4b, Mr Goon Kok Loon will, upon re-appointment as a Director of the Company, remain as 
Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and Investment Committee.  Mr Goon is 
considered an Independent Director. 

 Mr Goon Kok Loon was last re-appointed as Director of the Company on 25 April 2014. The profile and experience of Mr 
Goon Kok Loon can be found on page 20 of the Company’s Annual Report 2014.

Resolution 4c  For Ordinary Resolution 4c, Mr Koh Lee Boon will, upon re-appointment as a Director of the Company, remain as 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nominating Committee and Audit Committee.  Mr Koh is 
considered an Independent Director. 

 Mr Koh Lee Boon was last re-appointed as Director of the Company on 25 April 2014. The profile and experience of Mr 
Koh Lee Boon can be found on page 20 of the Company’s Annual Report 2014.

Resolution 4d For Ordinary Resolution 4d, Mr Wong Ngit Liong will, upon re-appointment as a Director of the Company, remain as the 
Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the Investment Committee and a member of the Nominating 
Committee.  

 Mr Wong Ngit Liong was last re-appointed as Director of the Company on 25 April 2014. The profile and experience of Mr 
Wong Ngit Liong can be found on page 20 of the Company’s Annual Report 2014.

Resolution 5 The Ordinary Resolution 5 is to approve the payment of Directors’ fees of S$403,333 (2013: S$450,000) for the year 
ended 31 December 2014, for services rendered by the Non-Executive Directors on the Board as well as the Board 
Committees, which are the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nominating Committee and Investment 
Committee. There has been no change to the Board’s fee structure since the last revision at the Annual General Meeting 
for the year ended 31 December 2010. 

Resolution 7 The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in Item 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the above 
Annual General Meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting or the date by which such Annual General 
Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, or the expiration of such other period as may be prescribed by the 
Companies Act and every other legislation for the time being in force concerning companies and affecting the Company, 
whichever is the earliest (unless varied or revoked by the Company in general meeting), to allot and issue Shares and/or 
make or grant offers, awards, agreements, options or other convertible securities in the Company up to an aggregate of 
not more than 50% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) (“50% Limit”), of which up to 10% 
may be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders.

 The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued shall be based on the total number of issued Shares in the capital 
of the Company (excluding treasury shares) at the time that Ordinary Resolution 7 is passed, after adjusting for (a) new 
Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or the vesting of share awards 
which are outstanding or subsisting at the time Ordinary Resolution 7 is passed, and (b) any subsequent bonus issue or 
consolidation or subdivision of Shares.

 Although the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST enables the Company to seek a mandate to permit its Directors to issue 
Shares up to the 50% limit if made on a pro rata basis to shareholders, and up to 20% if made other than on a 
pro rata basis to shareholders, the Company is nonetheless only seeking the mandate for a sub-limit of 10%. The 
Company believes that the lower limit sought for the issue of Shares made other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders 

is adequate for the time being and will review this limit annually.
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Resolution 8 The Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed in Item 9 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the date of the above 

Annual General Meeting until the date of next Annual General Meeting, or the date by which the next Annual General 

Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, or the expiration of such other period as may be prescribed by the 

Companies Act and every other legislation for the time being in force concerning companies and affecting the Company, 

whichever is the earliest, to grant options under the 2015 Scheme, and allot and issue pursuant to the exercise of options 

granted under the 2004 Scheme and 2015 Scheme, provided that the aggregate number of Shares to be issued under 

the 2004 Scheme and 2015 Scheme be in accordance with the limit(s) as prescribed in the 2004 Scheme, 2015 Scheme 

and by the SGX-ST.

 The 10% limit of 2015 Scheme is lower than the 15% limit set out in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST and also lower than 

the 15% limit under the 2004 Scheme.

 The 2015 Scheme prescribes that in any fi nancial year, the aggregate number of Shares over which options may be 

granted pursuant to the 2015 Scheme on any date when added to the aggregate number of Shares which may be issued 

and existing Shares which may be delivered (whether such existing Shares are acquired, pursuant to a share purchase 

mandate or (to the extent permitted by law) held as treasury shares, or otherwise) pursuant to Awards granted under the 

Venture Restricted Share Plan in that fi nancial year, shall not exceed 3% of the total number of issued Shares (excluding 

treasury shares), from time to time.

Resolution 9 The Company may use internal sources of funds, external borrowings or a combination of internal resources and external 

borrowings to finance the purchases or acquisitions of its Shares. The amount of financing required for the Company to 

purchase or acquire its Shares, and the impact on the Company’s financial position, cannot be ascertained as at the date 

of this Notice of Annual General Meeting as these will depend on, inter alia, the aggregate number of Shares purchased or 

acquired and the price at which such Shares were purchased or acquired and whether the Shares purchased or acquired 

are cancelled or held in treasury.

 Based on the existing issued Shares as at 10 March 2015 (“Latest Practicable Date”) (and disregarding 275,000 treasury 

shares as at the Latest Practicable Date), the purchase by the Company of 10% of its issued Shares (excluding the 

275,000 treasury shares) will result in the purchase or acquisition of 27,487,158 Shares.

 In the case of market purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company purchases or acquires the 27,487,158 

Shares at the Maximum Price of S$8.82 for one Share (being the price equivalent to 105% of the Average Closing Price 

of the Shares), the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase or acquisition of the 27,487,158 Shares is 

S$242,436,733.56.

 In the case of off-market purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company purchases or acquires the 

27,487,158 Shares at the Maximum Price of S$9.24 for one Share (being the price equivalent to 110% of the Average 

Closing Price of the Shares), the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase or acquisition of 27,487,158 Shares 

is S$253,981,339.92.

 The financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of such Shares by the Company pursuant to the proposed Share 

Purchase Mandate are based on the audited financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 

2014 and the assumptions set out in paragraph 2.7 of the Letter to the Shareholders which is appended to this Notice of 

Annual General Meeting.

Notes:

1 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to 

attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2 Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her 

shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

3 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 5006 Ang Mo Kio 

Avenue 5, #05-01/12 TECHplace II, Singapore 569873 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for the Annual 

General Meeting.

4 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. 

Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under 

the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an attorney on 

behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

5 A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit 

to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of 

Singapore.
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6 The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or 

illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the 

instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may 

reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered 

against his name in the Depository Register as at forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting, as 

certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

7. By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the Annual General 

Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the 

member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of the processing, administration 

and analysis by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Annual General 

Meeting (including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other 

documents relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents 

or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) 

warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company 

(or its agents or service providers), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the 

collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or 

representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, 

claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Share Transfer Books and Register of Members of Venture Corporation 

Limited (“the Company”) will be closed from 5.00 p.m. on 7 to 8 May 2015 (both dates inclusive) for the 

preparation of dividend warrants.

Duly completed registrable transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrar, M & C Services Private 

Limited, 112 Robinson Road #05-01 Singapore 068902 up to 5.00 p.m. on 7 May 2015 will be registered to 

determine shareholders’ entitlements to the said dividend.  Shareholders whose Securities Accounts with The 

Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with shares in the capital of the Company on or before 5.00 p.m. 

on 7 May 2015 will be entitled to the proposed dividend.

Payment of the dividend, if approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 29 April 

2015, will be made on 20 May 2015.

By Order of the Board

Angeline Khoo Cheng Nee

Company Secretary

Singapore

2 April 2015



VENTURE CORPORATION LIMITED
(Incorporated In Singapore) 

(Co. Reg. No: 198402886H)

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form)

*I/We,  (name)

of  (address)

being a *member/members of Venture Corporation Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings 

No. of Shares %

Address

*and/or

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings 

No. of Shares %

Address

or failing *him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting or such person as may be designated by the Chairman, as 

*my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for *me/us on *my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) 

of the Company to be held on Wednesday, 29 April 2015 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. 

*I/We direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated 

hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter arising at the Meeting 

and at any adjournment thereof, the *proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at *his/her discretion. The 

authority herein includes the right to demand or to join in demanding a poll and to vote on a poll.

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [] within the box provided.)

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against
1 Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2014

2 Payment of proposed final one-tier tax-exempt dividend

3 Re-election of Mr Jonathan S. Huberman as a Director

4a Re-appointment of Mr Cecil Vivian Richard Wong as a Director

4b Re-appointment of Mr Goon Kok Loon as a Director

4c Re-appointment of Mr Koh Lee Boon as a Director

4d Re-appointment of Mr Wong Ngit Liong as a Director

5 Approval of Directors’ fees amounting to S$403,333

6 Re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors

7 Authority to allot and issue new shares

8 Authority to allot and issue shares under the Venture Corporation Executives’ 

Share Option Schemes

9 Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate

* Delete where inapplicable

Dated this  day of  2015

Signature of Shareholder(s)

or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder


IMPORTANT:

1.  For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Venture Corporation Limited’s 
shares, this Report is forwarded to them at the request of the CPF Approved 
Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2.  This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall be ineffective for all 
intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

3.  CPF investors who wish to attend the meeting as an observer must submit their 
requests through their CPF Approved Nominees within the time frame specified.  If 
they also wish to vote, they must submit their voting instructions to the CPF Approved 
Nominees within the time frame specified to enable them to vote on their behalf.

Personal Data Privacy

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member 
accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of Annual 
General Meeting dated 2 April 2015.

Total number of Shares in: No. of Shares

(a) CDP Register

(b) Register of Members



NOTES:

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as 

defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares. If you have 

Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares.  If you have Shares entered 

against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the 

aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of 

Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by 

you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to 

attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her 

shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 5006 Ang Mo Kio 

Avenue 5, #05-01/12 TECHplace II, Singapore 569873 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for the 

Meeting.

VENTURE CORPORATION LIMITED
5006 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5

#05-01/12 TECHplace II

Singapore 569873

Second fold

Third fold

 Apply glue here 

Please

affi x

postage

stamp

First fold

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. 

Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under 

the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an attorney on 

behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument.

6. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to 

act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

7. The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or 

illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the 

instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may 

reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered 

against his name in the Depository Register as at forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as 

certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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